
Interim Book

Joint Committee

on Government & Finance

Materials Distributed
January 7, 2025





Joint Committee on Government & Finance Interim Book 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
Agency                 Page 
 
 
Office of Broadband ...................................................................     1 
Minutes .......................................................................................    70 
Reports Summary ......................................................................    94 
Lottery ........................................................................................    95 
General Revenue .......................................................................  124  
Unemployment Comp .................................................................  132 
WorkForce WV (Unemployment Comp Trust Fund) ...................  135 
BRIM – PEIA – Real Estate ........................................................  142 
Medicaid Report .........................................................................  154 
CHIP ...........................................................................................  164 
Investment Management Board .................................................  168 
Workers Comp ...........................................................................  174 
Board of Treasury (Investments) ................................................  189 
WV Land Stewardship Corporation 2024 Report .......................  193 
Central Appalachian Highway Economic 
  Development Authority Report .........................................  212 
WV State Tax Department Reports ............................................  218 
 





WEST VIRGINIA OFFICE OF BROADBAND 
West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council

Annual Report

2024

1

1



Table of Contents 
1. Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council ........................................................................................... 3 
1.2 West Virginia Office of Broadband ....................................................................................................................... 5 
1.3 2024 Achievements and Milestones .................................................................................................................... 8 

2. Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................................... 9 
2.1 Key Priorities ................................................................................................................................................................ 9 
2.2 Key Partnerships ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 

3. Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act Programs ............................................................................................. 11 
3.1 Broadband Deployment.......................................................................................................................................... 12 

3.1.1 BEAD Initial Proposal ...................................................................................................................................... 12 
3.1.2 State Challenge Process .................................................................................................................................. 13 
3.1.3 BEAD Application Process and Resources ............................................................................................. 14 

3.2 BEAD Workforce Development ........................................................................................................................... 18 
3.3 Digital Equity ............................................................................................................................................................... 18 

3.3.1 Digital Equity Plan ............................................................................................................................................ 19 
3.3.2 Digital Equity Capacity Grant Program .................................................................................................... 19 
3.3.3 Digital Equity Asset Map ................................................................................................................................ 20 
3.3.4 Digital Equity Competitive Grant ............................................................................................................... 21 
3.3.5 Appalachia Digital Accelerator Project .................................................................................................... 21 

3.4 West Virginia’s Core Planning Team and Partnerships ............................................................................. 23 
3.4.1 2024 Engagement ............................................................................................................................................. 23 

4. West Virginia Broadband Mapping ........................................................................................................................... 25 
4.1 West Virginia Broadband Map ............................................................................................................................. 25 

4.1.1 West Virginia Broadband Availability Map and Data ........................................................................ 25 
4.2 Broadband Growth ................................................................................................................................................... 29 
4.3 Broadband Adoption ................................................................................................................................................ 32 
4.4 Ookla Speed Tests ..................................................................................................................................................... 33 

5. West Virginia Broadband Investment Plan ............................................................................................................ 36 
5.1 Capital Projects Fund ............................................................................................................................................... 41 
5.2 State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund ............................................................................................................... 43 

2

2



5.2.1 Wireless Internet Networks ......................................................................................................................... 45 
5.2.2 Guide to Reporting and Compliance Obligations for West Virginia ARPA Broadband 
Investment Plan Grant Recipients ........................................................................................................................ 45 

5.3 2024 Project Announcements .............................................................................................................................. 45 
6. FCC Rural Digital Opportunity Fund ......................................................................................................................... 47 
7. FCC Affordable Connectivity Program ..................................................................................................................... 50 
8. Key Infrastructure Projects .......................................................................................................................................... 51 

8.1 AEP Logan-Mingo Broadband Project .............................................................................................................. 51 
9. USDA Broadband Programs ......................................................................................................................................... 53 
10. Appalachian Regional Commission ........................................................................................................................ 54 

10.1 ARC POWER .............................................................................................................................................................. 54 
10.2 Central Appalachian Broadband ...................................................................................................................... 55 
10.3 Community Development Block Grant .......................................................................................................... 56 

11. State and Federal Policy Updates ............................................................................................................................ 57 
11.1 West Virginia Economic Development Authority Broadband Loan Insurance Fund ................. 57 
11.2 West Virginia Attorney General Consumer Complaint ........................................................................... 59 
11.3 Dig Once Policy ........................................................................................................................................................ 59 
11.4 DOH Right of Way ................................................................................................................................................... 60 
11.5 Policy Concerning Bridge Attachments ......................................................................................................... 61 
11.6 One-Touch Make-Ready ....................................................................................................................................... 62 
11.7 Trench Sharing/Pole Attachment Rules ....................................................................................................... 63 
11.8 Show Cause Petition .............................................................................................................................................. 64 
11.9 Vertical Real Estate Management and Availability Act ........................................................................... 65 
11.10 Wireless Technology Business Property Valuation Act ....................................................................... 66 
11.11 Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act ................................................................................................. 66 
11.12 Establishment of Broadband Cooperatives ............................................................................................... 66 
11.13 Permitting Microtrenching .............................................................................................................................. 67 
11.14 Nonregulation of VoIP Services ..................................................................................................................... 67 
11.15 Oversight of Cable Franchising ...................................................................................................................... 67 
11.16 Compatible Use ..................................................................................................................................................... 67 

3

3



1. Executive Summary
The West Virginia Department of Economic Development, Office of Broadband, and the West Virginia 
Broadband Enhancement Council jointly submit this 2024 Annual Report to the West Virginia 
Legislature, in compliance with W. Va. Code §31-G-1A-2(8). The agencies work collaboratively with a 
shared mission: to expand and improve broadband connectivity in West Virginia.  

Throughout 2024, West Virginia achieved significant milestones through the continuation of the West 
Virginia Broadband Investment Plan and implementing Internet for All West Virginia.  

Through Internet for All West Virginia, the West Virginia Office of Broadband, West Virginia Broadband 
Enhancement Council, and our partners joined together to launch West Virginia’s Digital Equity Plan and 
Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment (BEAD) Plan. During 2024, the National Telecommunication 
and Information Administration (NTIA) approved West Virginia’s Initial Proposal Volume 1 and 2 
resulting in the successful launch of the West Virginia BEAD Challenge Process, Pre-Application, Full 
Application, and Full Application Extension Round. The Internet for All West Virginia initiative is designed 
to achieve digital equity throughout the Mountain State. Working together, West Virginia can achieve a 
more connected future. 

The WVBIP enters its third-year dedicating funds from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) State and 
Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (SLFRF) and Capital Projects Fund (CPF) with a total combined allocation of 
$172,467,297 to close out the year. With this investment of public funding dedicated to broadband 
expansion, West Virginia will deploy approximately 3,850 miles of fiber to connect over 39,500 unserved 
and underserved locations.  

The WVBIP continues to achieve milestones within its mission based on the following foundation: 

• Leverage Private Investment
• Involve Local Governments
• Encourage Public-Private Partnerships
• Connect the Unconnected

The WVBIP includes four separate programs, each designed to meet West Virginia’s broadband 
development needs through efficient utilization of state and federal funding streams. Briefly, the WVBIP 
programs include: 

a. Line Extension, Advancement and Development (LEAD): Expansions of existing fiber and cable
networks,

b. GigReady: A state incentive for local governments and organizations to pool local ARPA
allocations or other local funding,

c. Major Broadband Project Strategies (MPBS): Significant new networks or major expansions of
existing networks, and
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d. Wireless Internet Networks (WIN): Expansions or upgrades of existing fixed wireless networks.

Project announcements began in 2022, and by the close of 2023, West Virginians started connecting to 
new broadband infrastructure. Throughout 2023 and 2024, WVDED continued to build additional 
connections, awarding 40 projects touching 37 counties. Additionally, in 2024, WVDED closed out the 
application window for the BEAD program which implements several major plan documents for 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) grant funding, setting the stage for project awards and 
even more infrastructure deployment in 2025 to achieve universal broadband coverage.  

West Virginia’s 2024 Accomplishments 
 One of the first states to: Receive NTIA approval of its Initial Proposal 

Receive NTIA approval of its Digital Equity Plan 

Receive approval for its DE Capacity Grant ($9 million) 

 Launched deployment application process for BEAD, CPF, SLFRF and ARC funds 

Approved 11 LEAD awards, deploying over 600 miles of fiber to 4,900 locations 

  Led 140+ engagement meetings with 50+ Federal, state, and local stakeholders 
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1.1 West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council 
The West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council, created in 2017 by the West Virginia Legislature, 
represents diverse users of broadband, including residential and business users located throughout the 
State. The Council continues to provide the West Virginia Office of Broadband administrative and 
technical support services and ensures coordination of broadband efforts in West Virginia.  
The Council has 13 voting members; as well as two Senate Appointees and two House of Delegates 
Appointees, one from each party, to serve as ex officio, nonvoting advisory members. The Council 
conducts a regular meeting on the second Thursday of each month, at 10:00 a.m., in the West Virginia 
Department of Commerce offices in Building 3 at the State Capitol Complex or virtually.  

The Council builds upon input from numerous state agencies and recognizes the value of representation 
from urban and rural communities throughout West Virginia. The Council’s composition, which includes 
a cross-section of state agency directors, legislative advisory members, business community leaders and 
both urban and residential users, ensures that multiple voices are heard, that West Virginia’s needs are 
represented, and that viable solutions are thoughtfully pursued. 

The Council is committed to the development of policies, plans, and procedures to expand and enhance 
broadband access throughout West Virginia. The Council places a primary emphasis on the development 
of broadband infrastructure in unserved and underserved areas of the State as outlined in West Virginia 
Code § 31G-1-1, et seq: http://www.wvlegislature.gov/WVCODE/31G. 

The Council’s annual budget includes the purchase of the licensing necessary to continue speed testing 
and mapping projects, associated data subscriptions, software, marketing and communications, and 
other limited expenses to support broadband expansion. Additionally, the Council approved the 
expenditure of funding for specific legal services and technical consulting services.  

In 2021, House Bill 2002 amended West Virginia Code §31G to outline specific duties and authorities to 
be shared among West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council the Office of Broadband. 

For more information, visit the Council website at:  broadband.wv.gov. 
West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council c/o West Virginia Department of Commerce 
1900 Kanawha Boulevard East | Building 3, Suite 600 
Charleston, West Virginia 25305 
304-558-2234 | WVBroadbandCouncil@wv.gov
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2024 Council Members 

William D. ‘Bill’ Bissett 
Chairman 
User of Large Amounts of 
Broadband Services 
bill@wvma.com 

Michael J. Holstine, P.E. 
Secretary-Treasurer  
Rural Business User  
Congressional District 3 
mjholstine@gmail.com 

*Michael R. Graney
Acting Cabinet Secretary 
West Virginia Department of 
Economic Development 
Michael.R.Graney@wv.gov 
Represented by: 
Jeff Proctor 
Vice Chairman 
j.proctor@outlook.com

Robert L. Cole 
Rural Residential User  
Congressional District 1 
rcole1945@reagan.com 

*Heather D. Abbott
Chief Technology Officer 
West Virginia Office of Technology 
Heather.D.Abbott@wv.gov 
Represented by: 
James Dixon 
Jame.M.Dixon@wv.gov 
Jeff Whitman 
Jeffery.L.Whitman@wv.gov 

Roger Calhoun 
Rural Residential User 
Congressional District 3 
Calhounroger60@gmail.com 

Michele Blatt 
Superintendent 
West Virginia Department of 
Education 
Represented by: 
Tim Conzett 
Tim.Conzett@k12.wv.us 

*Matt Turner
Executive Vice Chancellor for 
Administration West Virginia Higher 
Education Policy Commission 
West Virginia Council for 
Community and Technical College 
Education 
mturner@hepc.wv.net.edu 
Represented by: 
Steve White 
Steve@mail.wvnet.edu 

The Honorable Ron G. 
Pearson 
Rural Residential User 
ronpearson@gmail.com 

The Honorable Scott Edwards 
Urban Business User 
sedwards@hurricane.com 

The Honorable 
Mark Maynard 
West Virginia Senate 
Republican Party 
mark.maynard@wvsenate.gov 

The Honorable  
Robert H. Plymale  
West Virginia Senate  
Democratic Party 
robert.plymale@wvsenate.gov 

The Honorable 
Joey Garcia 
West Virginia House of Delegates 
Democratic Party 
joey.garcia@wvhouse.gov 

The Honorable Jarred Cannon 
West Virginia House of Delegates 
Republican Party  
jarred.cannon@wvhouse.com 

Vacant 
Rural Business User 
Congressional District 1 

Vacant 
Rural Business User 
Congressional District 2 

* Agency Representative

WVBroadbandCouncil@wv.gov  |  broadband.wv.gov 
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1.2 West Virginia Office of Broadband 
Created in 2021 by an act of the West Virginia Legislature, the West Virginia Office of Broadband 
is organized under WVDED as outlined in West Virginia Code § 31G-1A-1, et seq. The Office of 
Broadband is managed by a director, who reports to the Secretary of Economic Development.  

The Office of Broadband works cooperatively with the West Virginia Broadband Enhancement 
Council. Both the Office of Broadband and Council are formed under WVDED. The agencies work 
collaboratively with a shared mission: to expand and improve broadband connectivity in 
West Virginia. 

Duties of the Office of Broadband include making recommendations to the legislature, gathering 
and reporting broadband adoption rate data, and leading public awareness of issues concerning 
broadband service. The authority of the Office includes the ability to make recommendations to 
the Legislature regarding broadband expansion and easement programs, solicit, receive and 
dispense funds from funding sources other than the legislature, and overseeing the use of 
conduit. The Office of Broadband is the lead agency for most efforts described throughout this 
document and continues to spearhead the BEAD and Digital Equity programs for the State. For 
consistency, WVDED will be used in reference to the Office of Broadband in all but the following 
sections. 

The Secretary of WVDED oversees all activities within the Office of Broadband. Figure 1 offers a 
full organizational chart of the Office of Broadband. 

Figure 1: Office of Broadband Organizational Chart 
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Table 1 details the roles of each of the five Office of Broadband BEAD team members. These 
BEAD team members will specifically support the implementation of BEAD funding alongside 
existing Office of Broadband staff to implement the BEAD program. 

Table 1: Core Office of Broadband Team Members 

Current/planned 
Full/part-
time Position Role 

Current (1) 
Planned (2)  

Full Program 
Manager (1) 
Project 
Manager (2) 

The Program Manager and Project Managers will support 
Office of Broadband staff with processing data requests; 
implementing BEAD activities; managing community 
outreach and stakeholder activities, and ensuring that 
grantees and subgrantees complete deliverables in a timely 
manner and meet BEAD Program objectives, including 
alignment with the Digital Equity Planning Grant. 

Current (1) Full Accounting 
Technician 

Under the direction of the agency CFO, the Accounting 
Technician will be responsible for completing and submitting 
grant reports in coordination with the Business Manager, 
Administrative Professional, Office Administrator, and Office 
of Broadband staff (as allowable and appropriate); preparing  
activities related to grant monitoring, audit, or compliance 
requests; processing invoices and grant-related financial 
documents; and compiling, reconciling, and managing the 
submission of subgrantee reports and documents. 

Planned (1) Full Administrative 
Professional 

The Administrative Professional will be in charge of 
completing and submitting grant reports on behalf of, or in 
coordination with, the Business Manager, Accounting 
Technician, Office Administrator, and Office staff (as 
allowable and appropriate); archiving grant-related 
documents and documentation; preparing for, and 
supporting, any activities related to grant monitoring, audit, 
or compliance; and compiling, reconciling, and managing the 
submission of subgrantee reports and documents. 

For efficiency and subject matter expertise, the Office of Broadband and Council have procured 
professional consulting services. Contracted partners include: Bowles Rice LLP, providing legal 
assistance; The Thrasher Group, providing engineering consulting services; Tilson Technology 
Management, Inc., (Tilson) providing overarching broadband consulting services; and Ookla, 
providing speed testing data and analytics. Tilson provides support to WVDED throughout the 
BEAD process and assists WVDED in the development and administration of the West Virginia 
Broadband Investment Plan, discussed in the subsequent section. 

For more information, visit:  broadband.wv.gov. 
West Virginia Department of Economic Development, West Virginia Office of Broadband 
1900 Kanawha Boulevard East | Building 3, Suite 600 
Charleston, West Virginia 25305 
304-558-2234 | WVBroadband@wv.gov
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Kelly Collins Workman 
Director 

Office of Broadband 
Kelly.a.workman@wv.gov 

Jamie H. Hoffmann 
Data and GIS Manager 

ARPA Program Manager 
Office of Broadband 

Jamie.h.hoffmann@wv.gov 

Sabrina L. Stollings 
ARPA Project Manager 

Office of Broadband 
sabrina.l.stollings@wv.gov 

Caleb M. Bryant 
GIS Programmer Analyst 

Office of Broadband 
Caleb M.Bryant@wv.gov 

Todd A. Goddard 
ARC, CDBG Broadband 

Program Manager 
Office of Broadband 

Todd.a.goddard@wv.gov 
Business Manager 

Office of Broadband 

Derek A. Zelkowski 
IIJA Program Coordinator 

Digital Equity Officer 
Office of Broadband 

Derek.A.Zelkowski@wv.gov 

Luke N. Peters 
BEAD  Program Manager 

Office of Broadband 
Luke.N.Peters@wv.gov 

Melissa S. Wazelle 
Grant Coordinator 

Office of Broadband 
Melissa.S.Wazelle@wv.gov 

Tony O’Leary 
Compliance and Reporting, 

Communications 
Office of Broadband 

Tony.M.Oleary@wv.gov 

Michael R. Graney 
Acting Cabinet Secretary 

West Virginia Department of 
Economic Development 

Michael.R.Graney@wv.gov 

Lisa M. Reed 
Executive Assistant 

West Virginia Department of 
Economic Development 

Lisa.m.reed@wv.gov 
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1.3 2024 Achievements and Milestones 
The West Virginia Department of Economic Development, the Office of Broadband, along with 
the West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council and the West Virginia Economic 
Development Council, made significant advancements with the State’s broadband expansion 
initiatives throughout 2024. These advancements include:  

Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment: 

• West Virginia became one of the first states to receive NTIA approval of the Initial
Proposal.

• West Virginia was one of the first states to open a BEAD application cycle. The state
accepted pre-applications and full applications for BEAD deployment, and supported
applicants with detailed procedures, FAQs, and application webinars.

• West Virginia held its second Broadband Summit from October 22 to October 23, 2023.
• West Virginia successfully executed the state BEAD Challenge process.
• Governor Jim Justice issued the approval of 11 LEAD awards, which will deploy over 600

miles of fiber infrastructure to cover over 4,900 locations.
• WVDED secured $1,509,517 from the Appalachian Regional Commission to provide

Technical Assistance to workforce development entities interested in applying for
WVDED’s forthcoming Workforce Development Grant Program.

Digital Equity Initiatives: 

• The NTIA approved West Virginia’s Digital Equity Plan on February 29, 2024. West
Virginia was one of the first states to receive NTIA approval of this plan.

• West Virginia submitted its Digital Equity Capacity Grant Application on May 15, 2024,
and the NTIA officially approved West Virginia’s DE Capacity Grant application on
November 1, 2024.

• The NTIA approved West Virginia for $9 million in Digital Equity Capacity funds.
• WVDED led over 140 engagement meetings with over 50 Federal, state and local

stakeholders.

American Rescue Plan Act: 

• Approximately $175 million in grant funds were awarded to support 42 broadband
projects across West Virginia.

• Four projects have completed construction, delivering high-speed broadband to
targeted locations.

• Twelve projects are actively under construction.
• Eight projects are scheduled to begin construction in early 2025.
• Eighteen projects in the permitting and design phase will start construction in 2025.
• WVDED released a new version of the West Virginia Broadband Availability Dashboard.
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2. Introduction

2.1 Key Priorities 
West Virginia’s leaders understand that broadband has moved beyond optional to essential. 
WVDED is guided by three core pillars as it strives to achieve universal broadband coverage and 
digital equity for West Virginia through the planning and implementation of Infrastructure Act 
funds. These are: 

With these primary areas in mind, recent policy initiatives indicate that improving broadband and 
bridging the digital divide is one of the State’s highest priorities. Broadband is the essential 
economic infrastructure that West Virginia needs to compete regionally, nationally and globally. 

The West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council and the West Virginia Office of Broadband 
continue to advocate for greater connectivity. This mission is strongly supported by the Governor 
Justice, the West Virginia Legislature, West Virginia Department of Economic Development, West 
Virginia Department of Commerce, and numerous partners. 

Nationally, West Virginia's Congressional representatives continue to support and enhance 
Federal programs for broadband development. With this shared vision firmly in place, State policy 
is implemented to address barriers as they are identified.  
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2.2 Key Partnerships 
Communication with and cooperation among West Virginia’s Internet Service Provider (ISP) 
community is essential to the expansion of broadband in West Virginia. Joint ventures and 
innovative partnerships between public agencies, private companies and investor-owned 
utilities demonstrate the collaboration needed to improve connectivity. Notably, Internet 
Service Providers in West Virginia have dedicated matching funds in the amount of $67,597,879 
for a total investment of more than $240 million in broadband infrastructure projects 
throughout West Virginia across all projects announced to date. 

The West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council and the West Virginia Office of Broadband 
strongly support these efforts and will continue working to develop a more connected West 
Virginia. Working collaboratively, West Virginia is pursuing primary goals to: 

• Encourage the development of broadband infrastructure in the State;
• Evaluate and map the broadband infrastructure and service systems through an

Interactive Mapping Program and other data collection methods;
• Eliminate barriers to broadband infrastructure development within the State;
• Engage and mobilize the expertise, funding, and partners to facilitate the creation of

reliable and affordable broadband service; and
• Expand economic development and represent the State in matters related to broadband

infrastructure development.

The West Virginia Office of Broadband and West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council 
extend appreciation to Tilson Technology Management, Inc., for significant contributions and 
commitment to broadband development in the State of West Virginia as the State’s lead 
broadband consultant.  

West Virginia’s long-standing partnership with Ookla® continues to strengthen the State’s 
growing ability to collect, analyze and visualize important broadband consumer speed test data. 

Recently, AECOMM assisted the Office with identifying gaps and solutions pertaining to pole 
attachments. AECOMM supported the Office by providing industry knowledge necessary to 
coordinate with utilities, pole owners, Internet Service Providers, and the Public Service 
Commission of West Virginia.  
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3. Infrastructure Investment and Jobs
Act Programs

WVDED is tasked with deploying local and Federal broadband funds, including historic funding 
from the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), administered by the National 
Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA). IIJA funding includes $1.2 billion in 
Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment (BEAD) funding for deployment and $9,011,588 in 
Digital Equity Act funding for the State of West Virginia. This investment in broadband 
infrastructure and related digital inclusion will help West Virginia achieve its goal of universal 
broadband access. 

WVDED continues to lead the nation as one of the first states to execute the deployment 
application process for internet service providers. By the end of 2024, WVDED will conclude the 
application process, including an extension, and will begin the subgrantee selection process and 
other pre-award activities. WVDED looks forward to supporting its subgrantees in 2025 and 
implementing plans through the ongoing support of partners and local stakeholders. WVDED’s 
deployment progress means West Virginia will be one of the first states to award BEAD 
subgrants for workforce, related non-deployment support projects, and digital equity in 2025. 
Digital equity projects will be supported by any remaining BEAD funds following deployment 
awards, as well as the State’s $9 million allocation under the Digital Equity Capacity Grant 
Program, administered by NTIA.  

The following marks key milestones in 2024 for the BEAD Digital Equity Capacity Grant Program. 

West Virginia’s IIJA Milestones in 2024 

a) Became one of the first states to receive NTIA approval of the Initial Proposal
b) Successfully executed the state BEAD Challenge process
c) Launched a comprehensive deployment application process for BEAD, CPF, SLFRF, and

ARC funds
d) Accepted Pre-Applications, Full Applications, and Extension Applications for BEAD

deployment
e) Supported applicants with detailed procedures, FAQs, and application webinars
f) Became one of the first states to receive NTIA approval of the State Digital Equity Plan
g) Approved for $9 million in Digital Equity Capacity funds
h) Supported West Virginian organizations submitting Digital Equity Competitive Grant

Program applications
i) Led over 140 engagement meetings with over 50 Federal, state, and local stakeholders
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3.1 Broadband Deployment 

3.1.1 BEAD Initial Proposal 
West Virginia’s Initial Proposal comprises two volumes and establishes its proposed plan to 
achieve full broadband access across the State. Volume 1 identifies locations targeted for 
funding and details the State’s plan to run a challenge process. This challenge process, discussed 
in greater detail in Section 3.1.2, offers internet service providers the opportunity to provide 
input on target locations and their BEAD eligibility status. Specifically, the BEAD eligibility status 
determines whether applicants will be able to propose projects for these locations. Then, 
Volume 2 describes how the State will run a fair, open, and competitive application process, 
select projects, and meet BEAD requirements with the aim of achieving universal broadband 
coverage. 

Across these two volumes, WVDED built upon its Five-Year Action Plan and covered all 20 topics 
required by NTIA. These are highlighted in Figure 2. 

Figure 21: Initial Proposal Requirements 

WVDED was proudly one of the first states to receive NTIA approval of both its volumes: 

• January 29, 2024 – Approval of Initial Proposal Volume 1
• April 18, 2024 – Approval of Initial Proposal Volume 2

These documents have and will continue to guide the State through the rest of its BEAD 
deployment efforts, beginning with the State Challenge Process.   
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3.1.2 State Challenge Process 
Upon approval of its Initial Proposal, WVDED and its partners implemented a challenge process 
that supported accurate identification of broadband serviceable locations available for BEAD 
funding. The possible statuses for locations are unserved, underserved, served, and eligible CAIs. 
Served locations would ultimately not be eligible for BEAD funding.  

Challenge Phase (30 days). WVDED created an online portal through which 
representatives of internet service providers, local government, and non-profits could 
submit challenges to the BEAD-eligibility statuses of locations. This phase ran from 
February 10 to March 10, 2024. 

Rebuttal Phase (30 days). After the challenge phase, internet service providers could 
participate in the rebuttal phase, during which they could provide counterevidence to a 
challenge. This phase ran from March 11 to April 13, 2024. 

Final Determination Phase (11 days). WVDED reviewed the evidence for each challenge, 
including the evidence from any rebuttals, and made a final determination to “sustain” 
or “reject” each challenge. This final phase ran from April 13 to April 24, 2024. 

The BEAD Challenge Process began in February and closed in April 2024 and resulting in the 
challenges listed in Table 2. 

Table 2: Challenge Process Results 

Note that West Virginia adopted a pre-challenge modification to treat 11,890 locations served 
via digital subscriber line (DSL) as underserved to facilitate the phase-out of legacy copper 
facilities. West Virginia also reported 211,621 locations served by an enforceable commitment. 
Following the final determination phase, WVDED determined the counts listed in Table 3 for 
broadband serviceable locations in West Virginia. 

Challenge Category Challenges: 
Submitted Approved 

Existing Service 3,953 3,889 
Planned Service 76,765 65,649 
Availability 18 3 
Business Service Only 3 0 
CAI 224 2 
Qualifying Broadband Available 112 110 
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Table 3: Count of Eligible Locations Following the Challenge Process  

Figure 32: Map of BEAD Eligibility in West Virginia After the Challenge Process 

3.1.3 BEAD Application Process and Resources 
The BEAD program is divided into two phases and an extension phase, followed by the Pre-
Award and Post Award. These phases are highlighted in Figure 4 below. At the time of drafting 
this report, WVDED has not publicly announced the results of the application phases. These 
details will be released at a later date. 

Serviceability Status Count 

Unserved 96,986 

Underserved 14,850 

Eligible CAIs 2,342 
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Figure 43: BEAD Program Phases 

3.1.3.1 Pre-Application Phase 
On March 18, 2024, only a week after West Virginia received approval of its Challenge Process 
results from NTIA, WVDED launched the first phase in its application process: the Pre-
Application phase. The Pre-Application phase allowed interested parties to show their eligibility 
and capacity for expanding broadband infrastructure with BEAD funding. Applicants had to 
complete this step if they planned to submit a Full Application. The phase ran for 60 days from 
March 18 to May 30, 2024, after an extension. 

During this phase, applicants submitted key information about their companies, capacity to take 
on projects of varying sizes via two or three pro formas, commitments required for the BEAD 
program, and more. Overall, this phase was intended to collect information that will apply to all 
the applicants’ proposed projects, streamlining the process, and assessing the capacity of the 
applicant. WVDED assessed the materials and performed remediation as necessary with the 
applicants. 

3.1.3.2 Full Application Phase 
After the close of the Pre-Application phase, review of the applications, remediation, and 
conclusion of the process, WVDED launched the Full Application phase. Applicants that had 
successfully completed Pre-Applications were then able to submit their proposed projects 
during this new phase. Because the State had already collected general application information 
during the Pre-Application portion, applicants could focus on designing and submitting their 
proposed projects. 

This phase ran for another 60 days, from August 26 to October 24, 2024. Using a combination of 
the ZoomGrants portal and specially designed workbooks, applicants created and detailed their 
proposed projects for WVDED consideration. WVDED designed the application workbooks to 
incorporate many of the program rules and allow applicants to build their projects in a logical 
manner. Figure 5 shows an example of the Full Application Workbook, which guided applicants 
through each step in the project specification design process. 

While details related to the number of applications received, applicants participating, and 
provisional subgrantees cannot be announced at this time, WVDED views it as a strong success. 

Pre-Applica�on Phase

Full Applica�on Post Award

Pre-Award Reviews 

…

Extension Applica�on
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Figure 54: Example of a Full Application Workbook 

3.1.3.3 Extension Application Phase 
Prior to the conclusion of the Full Application phase, WVDED conceived of and announced the 
Extension Application phase, which would solicit proposals for Target Areas and Regions that 
either did not receive proposals during the Full Application phase or were at risk of not having 
viable proposals. WVDED established this program feature in case an extension would be 
necessary. 

After the close of the Full Application phase, WVDED found that the Extension was required. 
Accordingly, WVDED held the Extension Application phase from November 13 to December 19, 
2024. The Extension focused on the remaining Target Areas that currently lack viable projects or 
are at risk of not receiving any. During the Extension, additional funding for broadband 
deployment was made accessible through the Appalachian Regional Commission (ARC) and the 
U.S. Department of Treasury’s Capital Projects Fund (CPF) and State and Local Fiscal Recovery 
Fund (SLFRF). WVDED also created a new set of program procedures that built on the original 
BEAD Deployment Program Procedures and introduced increased flexibility in creating 
applications. 

Additionally, to promote as much participation as possible, WVDED opened this phase to 
applicants that had not yet submitted Pre-Applications on the condition that interested entities 
must submit one prior to proposing projects. 

3.1.3.4 BEAD Program Resources and Assistance 
Throughout the application phases, WVDED created a wide range of resources and disseminated 
these and other information about the program to encourage greater, easier participation. 
These include, but are not limited to: 

• Fifteen workshops, webinars, and office hour sessions;
• Deployment Program Procedures, which were updated as new information became

available;
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• Extension Program Procedures;
• A regularly updated Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) document that at the time of

drafting this report stands at 47 pages;
• Blog posts announcing news related to the program, important dates and changes to

the program, and the availability of other resources;
• A questions submission form that interested entities used as an indirect way of

communicating with WVDED; and
• Email contact information through which applicants submitted many questions and

could quickly and easily contact WVDED.

WVDED aimed to create an environment that fostered greater participation in the program 
while helping to guide existing applicants through each step. To accomplish this, WVDED held 
the above mentioned 15 workshops, webinars, and other sessions. Table 4 provides an overview 
of each session and its contents.   

Table 4: Workshops, Webinars, and Other Sessions Held by WVDED 

No. Date Location Topics 
1 March 14, 2024 Webinar Pre-Application: Walkthrough, regulatory, 

legal, and program compliance 
2 March 28, 2024 Fairmont, WV Pre-Application: Walkthrough, regulatory, 

legal, and program compliance 
3 April 10, 2024 Webinar Pre-Application: Responses to FAQs, letter of 

credit or performance bond, scoring details 
4 May 3, 2024 Online Office Hours Questions from applicants 
5 May 8, 2024 Webinar Pre- and Full Application: Pre- vs. Full 

Application, anti-collusion policy, letter of 
credit or performance bond, scoring rubric, 
protected and proprietary information 
disclosures 

6 May 23, 2024 Charleston, WV Pre- and Full Application: ZoomGrants 
questions and documents, defining proposed 
projects, application commitment form, 
demonstrated community support  

7 June 6, 2024 Morgantown, WV Full Application: Target Areas and Regions, 
mapping resources, application workbook, 
resiliency and scalability, fixed wireless and 
mobile wireless overlay, high-level design 
and proposed network description  

8 June 12, 2024 Webinar Full Application: ZoomGrants questions and 
documents, Target Areas and Regions, 
mapping resources, lower tier participant 
form, compliance topics 

9 September 27, 2024 Virtual Q&A Full Application: Application portal 
questions, general questions, technical 
questions, timeline, additional Q&A 

10 October 9, 2024 Webinar Extension Application: Overview, 
requirements, creating proposed projects, 
project prioritization and selection 
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11 December 3, 2024 Webinar Series 1/5 Extension Application: Key information, 
structure, and ZoomGrants portal 

12 December 3, 2024 Webinar Series 2/5 Extension Application: Pre-Application 
process 

13 December 3, 2024 Webinar Series 3/5 Extension Application: Overview 
14 December 5, 2024 Webinar Series 4/5 Extension Application: Building Applications 

– Creating projects, high-level design,
resiliency and scalability, speed of network
and other technical capabilities

15 December 6, 2024 Webinar Series 5/5 Extension Application: Extension 
Application: Capital cost and grant request, 
community impact & support, documents 

3.2 BEAD Workforce Development 
For West Virginia to achieve Internet for All, it will need a well-trained, highly skilled workforce 
of broadband industry professionals spanning occupations. WVDED is committed to engaging 
stakeholders and investing in the education and workforce development system to ensure the 
industry has the talent it needs to meet the State’s connectivity goals. 

WVDED continues to convene its Workforce Planning Team and Workforce Development 
Council. The list of Council members can be found in the Initial Proposal, Volume 2 (page 95). 
The Planning Team designed a $20 million-$50 million Workforce Development Grant Program, 
incorporating feedback from the Council and stakeholders to ensure the program meets the 
needs of West Virginia’s broadband industry. The Workforce Development Grant application 
period will open in the spring of 2025.  

To advance the Grant program, WVDED is leveraging funding from the Appalachian Regional 
Commission (ARC) to contract the West Virginia Grant Resource Centers to provide interested 
applicants with Technical Assistance. This TA includes the developing broadband industry 
workforce resources, supporting applicants as they design their education and training 
programs, identify areas of collaboration, and write their grant applications. These efforts will 
support a more efficient, cohesive workforce development system in West Virginia. ARC TA 
resources can be found on the WVDED Workforce website. 

3.3 Digital Equity 
The West Virginia Department of Economic Development appreciates the continued support of 
its Digital Equity Steering Committee in 2024. The Committee supports the advancement of the 
state’s vision to ensure that all West Virginians have the resources they need to participate in 
the digital world and achieve the numerous benefits of digital equity. 
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Table 5: Digital Equity Steering Committee Members 

Digital Equity Steering Committee Members 
Angela Vance Associate State Director, Advocacy, AARP WV 
Roger Calhoun Member, Rural Residential User, West Virginia 

Broadband Enhancement Council 
Alex Weld Executive Director, Generation WV 
Annie Stroud Broadband Coordinator, Generation WV 
Donna Calvert Director, Special Services, WV Library 

Commission 

3.3.1 Digital Equity Plan 
“Digital equity is a condition in which all individuals and communities have the information 
technology capacity needed for full participation in our society, democracy, and economy. 
Digital equity is necessary for access to essential services, civic and cultural participation, 
employment, and lifelong learning.” 

-Digital equity definition, National Digital Inclusion Alliance (NDIA)

The NTIA approved West Virginia’s Digital Equity Plan on February 29, 2024. This plan is designed 
to ensure that everyone in the State has access to affordable high-speed internet, affordable 
devices to use the internet, and the opportunity to learn the skills necessary to take full advantage 
of everything the internet offers. West Virginia’s DE Plan includes: 

a. A statewide vision for digital equity
b. A digital equity framework and scorecard
c. Plans for digital literacy innovation programs
d. Proposed technology-related apprenticeship or other workforce opportunities
e. Integration with the State’s Economic Development Strategy, educational and health

outcomes, and civic and social engagement
f. Action steps to implement the Digital Equity Plan that contains all requirements set forth in

the Notice of Funding Opportunity.

3.3.2 Digital Equity Capacity Grant Program 
In 2024, West Virginia began implementation of the digital equity goals described in the approved 
State Digital Equity Plan. Implementation of the Plan is supported by $9 million allocated to West 
Virginia through the Digital Equity Capacity Grant Program, administered by NTIA. 

With the official wind-down of the Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP), WVDED explored 
new methods of ensuring affordability of high-speed internet service, including spreading 
awareness of existing affordable internet packages and other relevant consumer information. 
WVDED will continue to support affordability efforts through thoughtful deployment selection 
and further coordination with stakeholders.  
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WVDED developed a comprehensive plan for use of Capacity funds that focuses on priority 
elements from the Digital Equity Plan, including skills support, device access, and planning support 
for local governments. West Virginia will also invest Digital Equity Capacity Grant funding to 
update the State’s Digital Equity Plan. Capacity funding priorities are described below:   

Digital Skills and Navigators Program: WVDED is prioritizing implementation of a Digital Skills 
subgrant program to address a “lack of technical knowledge,” as identified in the Digital Equity 
Plan Needs Assessment. This program will leverage experienced West Virginian organizations to 
provide training and education to members of Covered Populations on the use of digital tools, 
accessing online resources, and practicing safe and responsible online behavior. 

Pilot Device Program: WVDED will pilot its Affordable Device Program to provide eligible 
residents with new, used, or refurbished devices. The program, connected to the digital skills 
training program, will ensure participants have the technical assistance needed to operate their 
new devices. This program, targeted for low-income individuals as defined by the Covered 
Households category of the Digital Equity Act, will be scaled in subsequent years based on best 
practices learned from the pilot and available funds.  

Local Digital Equity Planning: This grant program will be available to local governments (e.g. 
municipal, county) to support the development of local Digital Equity plans. Successful plans will 
include strategies and key activities aligned with the State’s Plan so subgrantees are prepared to 
secure future implementation funding. Local planning will support continued interest and 
activity in digital inclusion work at the local level following implementation of the Digital Equity 
Act. 

DE Plan Updates and Data Collection: WVDED will revise the State’s DE Plan, specifically 
regarding affordability activities, the Local DE Planning Program, and implementation timeline. 
Additionally, WVDED will continue to collect data and administer surveys to establish more 
precise baseline figures and subsequent monitoring of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 
WVDED will partner with the National Digital Inclusion Alliance (NDIA), the Digital Equity 
Research Center (DERC), Merit Network, and seven other states to create a State Evaluation 
Tool to assist with evaluating both individual projects and overall statewide progress. 

3.3.3 Digital Equity Asset Map 
In addition to selection of subgrantees for the Digital Equity Capacity Program and any remaining 
BEAD funds, WVDED is committed to hosting an updated Digital Equity asset inventory and 
community resource library available to the public through an interactive online dashboard. 

This fall, WVDED launched the Digital Equity Asset Map and an asset form to collect more 
information about active initiatives across the state that support digital equity. WVDED 
continues to conduct outreach with partners to support visibility and learn more about related 
services throughout West Virginia.  
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The Digital Equity Asset Form can be found here.  

The Digital Equity Asset Map can be found here.  

3.3.4 Digital Equity Competitive Grant 
WVDED supported applicants in West Virginia applying to the first round of the Digital Equity 
Competitive Grant Program, administered by NTIA and available to a variety of organizations 
throughout the country for digital inclusion projects. WVDED prepared application resources for 
interested applicants, provided requested letters of support, and continued to collaborate with 
NTIA to ensure organizations were prepared to submit responsive applications.  

As NTIA announces awards on a rolling basis, WVDED will coordinate with any West Virginian 
awardees to ensure successful cooperation. When more details are available for the next round 
of the DE Competitive Grant Program, the Office of Broadband will again encourage potential 
applicants to apply and provide assistance.  

3.3.5 Appalachia Digital Accelerator Project 
WVDED supported local connectivity plans this year in connection with Connect Humanity’s 
Appalachia Digital Accelerator Project, supported by the Appalachian Regional Commission 
(ARC). 

In West Virginia, Connect Humanity partnered with Generation WV, Regional Optical 
Communications (ROC), and WVDED to convene stakeholders, gather data, and draft a county-
level digital equity plan for each of the state’s 18 ARC distressed counties. The resulting digital 
equity plans will assist each county in coordinating digital inclusion activities and assist with 
applying for upcoming grant opportunities. 

24

24

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSdsdqCUqGKmXBM7FBWqbZlhmBJwN3ACZbuGOskhV3Cl1Ese_g/viewform
https://detest-wvbroadband.hub.arcgis.com/
https://connecthumanity.fund/appalachia-digital-accelerator/


Figure 6: Map of West Virginia by ARC Economic Status (FY 2023, Targeted Counties Shown in Red) 

Targeted counties include: Barbour; Boone; Braxton; Calhoun; Clay; Fayette; Gilmer; Lincoln; Logan; 
McDowell; Mingo; Nicholas; Roane; Summers; Webster; Wetzel; Wirt; Wyoming. 

Connect Humanity and its partners convened county steering committees including public 
officials, local educators, and community leaders. County steering committees meet monthly, 
helping guide each county’s priorities and potential projects.  

In June 2024, WVDED attended 3 planning workshops in Clarksburg, Ansted, and Gilbert to 
discuss local barriers to broadband adoption, potential digital inclusion projects, funding 
sources, and partners.  

Final Connectivity Plans for all 18 counties will be available in 2025 and will inform the State’s 
digital equity implementation planning.  
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3.4 West Virginia’s Core Planning Team and 
Partnerships 

A diverse set of stakeholders informed WVDED’s efforts this year to build application processes 
that are responsive to the current broadband and digital equity landscape in West Virginia. This 
stakeholder engagement includes public, private, and nonprofit organizations, as well as 
members of the general public.  

WVDED and the Core Planning Team’s university partners conducted outreach to local, regional, 
federal, and national organizations that directly or indirectly serve covered populations. These 
organizations provided insight in strategic planning meetings for the timing of digital equity and 
workforce programming, as well as support with informational materials for local stakeholders.  

WVDED continues to facilitate regular convenings of stakeholders for planning, including the 
Broadband Industry Workforce Group, Workforce Development Council, Broadband 
Enhancement Council, and the Digital Equity Steering Committee. These groups include 
government entities, internet service providers, economic development organizations, 
community and technical colleges, community anchor institutions, nonprofit organizations, and 
private sector partners. WVDED regularly reports to the Joint Committee on Government and 
Finance within the State Legislature.  

WVDED continues to engage with representatives of unserved and underserved communities, 
including historically underrepresented and marginalized groups within the eight digital equity 
covered populations. WVDED coordinated broadband deployment and digital equity initiatives 
and sought input from the Digital Equity Steering Committee, Broadband Enhancement Council, 
and additional local and community organizations to plan programs that focus on the needs of 
underrepresented communities. Outreach to underrepresented communities has continued 
since the Initial Proposal via webinars announced on the Internet for All Website, in-person 
events at community anchor institutions, and project updates distributed online.  

3.4.1 2024 Engagement 
WVDED led and participated in over 140 outreach and training sessions in 2024 for BEAD and 
Digital Equity. Engagement highlights in 2024 include: 

• Engaged over 50 organizations in events throughout the year, including Regional
Planning and Development Councils, county development authorities, libraries,
educational institutions, nonprofits, workforce boards, and industry representatives

• Hosted a successful 2024 West Virginia Broadband Summit on the broadband industry
and economic development strategies

• Prepared 4 webinars, 2 in-person workshops, and 5 application support videos on the
BEAD deployment process

• Reviewed 18 county local connectivity plans
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• Participated in 20 workforce development meetings on grant design and credentials of
value

• Led over 30 digital equity meetings on current programming, barriers, and grant design

WVDED will provide a complete list of local coordination this year in the BEAD Final Proposal. 
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4. West Virginia Broadband Mapping
West Virginia makes broadband mapping central to its mission to expand digital connectivity 
statewide. Comprehensive and precise mapping forms the foundation of strategic infrastructure 
planning, allowing the state to assess broadband availability and gaps accurately. By tracking both 
historical and ongoing broadband investments, the WVDED not only monitors progress but also 
optimizes the administration of multiple federal broadband initiatives. Through continuous 
updates and refinements, West Virginia’s mapping efforts strive to identify unserved and 
underserved areas with greater accuracy, supporting the state’s commitment to closing the digital 
divide.  

4.1 West Virginia Broadband Map 
In early 2021, the Office of Broadband applied multi-criteria decision-making models to West 
Virginia’s Statewide Addressing and Mapping System (SAMS) to develop a comprehensive 
broadband mapping system. This dataset provided broadband availability insights at the address 
level across the state, forming a critical foundation for funding decisions within the West Virginia 
Broadband Investment Plan’s grant programs. 

With the launch of the Federal Communication Commission’s (FCC) Broadband Data Collection 
(BDC) program in 2022, the Office transitioned from using the Statewide Addressing and Mapping 
System (SAMS) dataset to the FCC BDC Fabric. The Fabric is a location-level dataset developed as 
part of the FCC’s national broadband mapping initiative. The dataset provides a more granular, 
location-specific view of broadband availability and infrastructure with regularly occurring 
updates. The BEAD and Digital Equity programs rely on the Fabric to ensure that funding is 
directed to areas most in need of broadband infrastructure. 

Location-level data is instrumental in driving funding decisions for broadband expansion; 
however, it also provides valuable insight for the Digital Equity Program to ensure vulnerable 
populations can access the digital world.  

Broadband mapping is essential for achieving digital equity, as it provides the data necessary to 
identify and address connectivity gaps in communities across West Virginia. Integrating the Fabric 
and socioeconomic data together supports data-driven decisions for the Digital Equity program 
to pinpoint where broadband access, affordability, and digital literacy are lacking. By leveraging 
detailed broadband data, the Office’s Digital Equity program has prioritized initiatives that will 
influence adoption to those most affected by the digital divide, ensuring that everyone can 
participate fully in the digital economy.  

4.1.1 West Virginia Broadband Availability Map and Data 
The state can consistently analyze and monitor broadband availability and adoption over time 
by using the Fabric to evaluate broadband access across West Virginia. This dataset provides a 
stable foundation for the state’s analytical efforts, enabling more accurate tracking of progress 
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and trends in connectivity. As a reliable benchmark, the Fabric supports ongoing assessments, 
ensuring that data-driven strategies remain aligned with West Virginia’s long-term goals for 
broadband expansion and digital equity. 

The statistics in this section are derived from the December 31, 2022, vintage of the Fabric, 
which was implemented specifically for use in the BEAD program. This dataset provides a 
precise snapshot of broadband availability at that time, serving as a foundational reference for 
evaluating eligibility and guiding strategic investments in broadband expansion. 

Following the approval of the Challenge Process and Initial Proposal Volume 2, the BEAD 
Program Full Application window opened with the following eligibility results:  

Figure 7: BEAD Address Serviceability Status 

Community Anchor Institutions (CAIs) for the BEAD program have funding goals separate from 
other eligible locations. CAIs without an active connection from gigabit symmetrical service are 

Serviceability Status Count 

Unserved 96,986 

Underserved 14,850 

CAI 2,342 
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considered eligible for BEAD funding. With the opportunity to improve the maps, the Office 
identified a total of 2,342 eligible CAI locations with 1,546 of those as non-Fabric locations 
included in the dataset.  

Figure 8: CAI Locations in West Virginia 
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Furthermore, the Office classified locations as funded that are currently served or will be served 
by a public funding program. There is a total of 204,538 BSLs covered by 11 funding programs in 
West Virginia for broadband infrastructure development. Figure 9 lists below all programs and 
the number of BSLs within the publicly funded service area.  

Figure 9: BSLs Covered by Publicly Funded Grants 

Program  BSL Count  

FCC-RDOF 113,199  

ARPA-CPF 32,358  

ARPA-SLFRF 21,323  

FCC-EACAM 18,267  

USDA-Reconnect 7,128  

NTIA-BIP 5,126  
Appalachian Regional Commission - 
Central 3,275  
Appalachian Regional Commission - 
POWER 1,359  
HUD-Community Development Block 
Grant 1,052  

FCC-CAFII 872 

USDA-Community Connect 579 
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4.2 Broadband Growth 
In the ever-evolving landscape of broadband deployment, public funding programs play an 
essential role in addressing connectivity gaps. Programs such as ARPA are instrumental in 
deploying projects that bring high-speed internet to communities previously left behind. In 
addition to these significant investments, private broadband deployment initiatives continue to 
play a pivotal role in expanding connectivity. 

ISPs are actively investing in broadband infrastructure to meet growing demand, support 
economic opportunities, and stay competitive. Often, these private initiatives are seen in urban 
and suburban areas, where demand density promises higher returns on investment. In other 
cases, ISPs determined that focus on network expansion without public assistance provided 
opportunities to maintain their market presence and cater to customer needs. 

This ongoing private involvement reflects the broader market dynamics and challenges 
associated with broadband deployment.  
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The Office continues to measure broadband growth throughout the years to provide industry 
insight. Historically, accurate data identifying broadband availability has not been accessible. 
Now with location-level reporting with FCC BDC, growth over time can be measured sustainably. 

To measure growth over the past five years, this section focuses on census blocks reported to 
have access to cable and fiber services through FCC Form 477 reporting in 2019 versus Fabric 
BSLs to have access to cable and fiber services through FCC BDC reporting in 2024. It is 
important to note that Form 477 was known to overreport the extent of available services; 
therefore, it is likely the actual number of BSLs identified in Form 477 census blocks in 2019 is 
lower than the total of locations within these census blocks.  

In 2019, FCC Form 477 reported 4,595 census blocks with cable services. Incorporating the BSLs 
from December 31, 2022, release of the Fabric, a total of 68,773 BSLs are located within a 
census block reported to have access to these services.  

Figure 10: Cable Fabric Locations 
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In 2019, FCC Form 477 reported 12,547 census blocks with fiber services. Incorporating the BSLs 
from December 31, 2022, release of the Fabric, a total of 14,947 BSLs are located within a 
census block reported to have access to these services.  

Figure 11: Fiber Fabric Locations 
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As of June 30, 2024, 618,901 locations were reported to have access to cable and 282,166 
locations to have access to fiber. Identifying a total of 200,776 unique BSLs with access to either 
cable or fiber in 2019 and 684,443 unique BSLs in 2024, growth for broadband availability is 
estimated to be at 241%.  

Figure 12: BSLs with Access to Fiber and Cable  

4.3 Broadband Adoption 
Mapping broadband adoption is essential for understanding the true reach and impact of 
broadband access in communities. While broadband availability maps indicate where 
infrastructure exists, adoption maps reveal how many households and businesses actively 
subscribe to broadband services. By examining adoption data, we can gauge whether 
broadband connections translate into meaningful engagement with digital platforms, 
applications, and services. This analysis helps identify areas where additional support may be 
needed, such as digital literacy programs, enhanced affordability options, or community 
outreach initiatives to promote awareness of available resources. Understanding broadband 
adoption levels allows us to quantify the effectiveness of digital infrastructure in supporting 
economic growth, educational advancement, and social inclusion. 

35

35



In this way, mapping and analyzing adoption rates go beyond connectivity—they are crucial to 
ensuring that communities are empowered to fully utilize the tools and resources that 
broadband access brings. 

Broadband adoption maps help identify areas where economic, educational, or digital literacy 
barriers may prevent residents from subscribing, even if the service is available. Policymakers, 
providers, and community advocates can gain a comprehensive view of digital equity challenges 
by combining data on infrastructure availability with adoption rates. This mapping effort enables 
targeted interventions, such as affordability programs, digital skills training, or awareness 
campaigns, to address gaps in adoption and ensure that connectivity is accessible to all. 

The Office took several approaches to mapping broadband adoption. Analyzing Census and 
other survey data is one approach found to be instrumental in developing the WV Digital Equity 
Plan. Another approach is to compare performance data such as Speedtest® by Ookla® to 
locations reported to have access to broadband.  

4.4 Ookla Speed Tests 
WVDED has championed broadband speed testing for nearly a decade. The West Virginia 
Broadband Enhancement Council has licensed Speedtest® by Ookla®2 speed test data for West 
Virginia every year since the Council’s inception in 2016. The Council values speed testing because 
it provides consumers with a voice and a method for reporting broadband data.  

Ookla® performance data plays a pivotal role in evaluating broadband performance in West 
Virginia, offering valuable insights into the state's digital infrastructure. By measuring key metrics 
such as download and upload speeds, and latency, these tests provide a clear, quantitative 
assessment of internet connectivity across different regions. For policymakers, service providers, 
and consumers alike, the data supports data-driven decisions for identifying areas with 
inadequate broadband service, guiding infrastructure investments, and benchmarking 
improvements over time. The data provides insight into areas where official records may not 
reflect the actual user experience. The speed test results can highlight discrepancies in reported 
coverage, speeds, and service quality, enabling a more truthful representation of broadband 
accessibility in the state.  

In a state like West Virginia, where topographical challenges and rural expanses pose unique 
obstacles to broadband deployment, these tests are especially important. They help in ensure 
that efforts to expand and upgrade broadband networks are effectively targeted, thereby 
enhancing the digital inclusivity of communities and supporting the state’s overall economic and 
technological growth. Moreover, the transparency and ease of access to Ookla’s data empower 
consumers to make informed decisions about their internet service providers.  

Performance data plays a key part in the FCC's Broadband Data Collection (BDC) challenge 
process. This initiative by the FCC aims to create a more accurate and comprehensive map of 
broadband coverage across the United States. Through leveraging the granular data from 
performance data, the Office actively contributed to this national effort by challenging and 
verifying the accuracy of the FCC's broadband deployment data. Leveraging data such as 
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Speedtest® was included in the set of criteria for developing a model to effectively challenge the 
maps and help influence the additional allocation of funding for BEAD from $900 million to $1.2 
billion. 

A critical indicator of broadband adoption is the active participation of end-users in testing their 
service. While broadband services may be available in certain areas, achieving widespread 
adoption presents a complex challenge influenced by various socioeconomic factors, such as 
affordability, digital literacy, and access to devices. Addressing these barriers is essential to ensure 
that the availability of broadband translates into meaningful connectivity for all residents. 

Comparing broadband growth and adoption from 2021 to 2024, Figure 13 demonstrates end-
users subscribing to services that provide adequate speeds and services. Figure 13 demonstrates 
a wider coverage of results with speeds of at least 100 Mbps. Here, the best 10% visualized are 
results typically captured in very good conditions such as the highest subscriber tier and close 
proximity to the gateway.  

Figure 13: Broadband progress in West Virginia demonstrated by performance results from Speedtest® 
by Ookla® 

In mid-2023, the Broadband Enhancement Council approved the licensing of Ookla’s Mobility 
data, including Cell Analytics and Tower Source Data. The Broadband Enhancement Council 
executed this license in anticipation of the Federal Communications Commission’s Mobility Fund 
Phase II, and to assist the West Virginia Office of Broadband with any state challenges to reported 
mobile data.  

Although the Office’s primary focus is expanding broadband services, mobile technology plays a 
critical role in providing essential communication services, supporting economic activity, and 
ensuring public safety, particularly in remote or underserved areas. Figure 14 below 
demonstrates aggregated coverage readings from July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024. 

The three mobile providers visualized in Figure 14 are AT&T, T-Mobile, and Verizon. These 
companies prioritize expanding 5G buildouts to improve service throughout West Virginia. 
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5. West Virginia Broadband Investment Plan
The West Virginia Department of Economic Development, Office of Broadband, in coordination 
with the West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council, continues to administer the West 
Virginia Broadband Investment Plan (WVBIP), utilizing funds from the American Rescue Plan Act 
(ARPA) dedicated to expanding high-speed reliable broadband infrastructure to reach unserved 
locations in West Virginia. Enacted in 2021, ARPA consists of two funding sources: the $136 
million Capital Projects Fund (CPF) and the $90 million State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 
(SLFRF). These funding sources (along with a $10 million allocation of state funding) provide 
West Virginia with a combined total of $236 million to administer competitive grant funding 
opportunities for broadband development. Both CPF and SLFRF funding sources are 
administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. 

Program Overview 

Under the West Virginia Broadband Investment Plan (WVBIP), the West Virginia Office of 
Broadband established four grant programs for broadband infrastructure development. Each 
program maximizes the potential of broadband availability and adoption in West Virginia. The 
programs are designed to meet the goals established in the West Virginia Broadband 
Enhancement Council’s 2020-2025 Five-Year Plan and align with state and federal requirements. 
The WVBIP will also incorporate State funding, and other federal funds allocated or available to 
West Virginia. The WVBIP may be expanded through the addition of new or modified programs. 

• Complete WVBIP program resources are available at: https://broadband.wv.gov.
• WVBIP Target Area Maps are available at:  https://wv-capitol-

wvbroadband.hub.arcgis.com.

The WVBIP contains four well defined infrastructure grant programs, each designed to specific 
broadband development needs. Programs launched in 2021 include: 

1. LEAD: Line Extension Advancement and Development
2. GigReady: Technical Assistance or Implementation Phases
3. MBPS: Major Broadband Project Strategies
4. WIN: Wireless Internet Networks

Each WVBIP program emphasizes last mile connections. According to U.S. Treasury guidelines, 
each program places an emphasis on locations without access to reliable wireline service of 25/3 

The allocation of SLFRF and General Revenue funding provided a historic $100 
million investment that will supplement West Virginia’s allocation of funds 
through the Capital Projects Funds (CPF), also part of the ARPA. The ARPA CPF 
includes $136 million for broadband development in West Virginia.  
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Mbps. Funded projects must be capable of delivering, or be scalable to deliver, symmetrical 100 
Mbps service while encouraging the deployment of fiber networks.  

In keeping with West Virginia’s emphasis on public-
private partnerships, the programs encourage 
private investment in cooperation with local 
development initiatives. To promote greater 
utilization of broadband service in West Virginia, 
the programs require participation in federal 
affordability programs and encourage the 
availability of a low-cost service. 

Under LEAD and GigReady, the need for broadband 
expansion is analyzed at the individual address level. Conversely, the MBPS data focuses on the 
need for broadband expansion within eligible service areas as determined by the Office of 
Broadband. West Virginia’s broadband maps can be found at: https://broadband.wv.gov/ 

Key Program Components 

The WVDED established strong internal controls that include financial reviews, network 
validation, field inspections, and field verifications to ensure that networks perform as designed. 
Grantees may not begin construction until all permitting, and network design planning is 
completed. Grant funds are disbursed on a reimbursement basis following a thorough financial 
review of invoices and other supporting financial documentation.  

Key components of the program include the following: 

• Project Design Reviews
• Matching Funds and Grant

Disbursement Request Reviews
• Quarterly Report Reviews
• Annual State Reports
• Federal Annual Reports
• Field Reviews

The Office ensures that each project phase is successfully completed. The key components of 
the grant life cycle include the following: 

• Notice to Proceed with Exempt Activities
• Permitting and Engineering Design Phase
• Notice to Proceed with Construction Activities
• Construction Phase
• Network Lighting Phase and Is Ready to serve Targeted Locations
• Financial Technical Reviews
• Installation of services for customers
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• Field Reviews
• Notice of Completion and request to close-out.

West Virginia was one of the first four states to secure approval of ARPA CPF funding. As of the 
third quarter of 2024, Governor Justice awarded over $172 million of ARPA funds to 42 projects 
in West Virginia. This investment will deploy approximately 3,800 miles of broadband 
infrastructure to connect nearly 40,000 unserved locations.  

Line Extension Advancement and Development 

The LEAD program awards competitive grants to internet service providers to expand their 
existing fiber and cable networks. LEAD projects typically are smaller in size; however, it 
incentivizes providers to expand to the end-of-the-line for locations previously difficult to reach. 

Three rounds of funding have been administered through the LEAD program resulting in a total 
of 29 awards. With a total of $85,383,731 in grant funding and an additional $16,190,429 in 
matching funds contributed by grantees, a total of $101,574,160 is invested in the LEAD 
program. 

Figure 15: ARPA LEAD Projects 

Program Information Totals 
Projects 29 
Grant Funds 85,383,731 
Matching Funds 16,190,429 
Total Investment 101,574,160 
Targeted Locations 14,399 
Miles of Fiber 1,730 
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Major Broadband Project Strategies 

The Major Broadband Project Strategies Program (MBPS) is designed to fund larger scale 
projects to serve larger numbers of targeted locations. The MBPS program prioritizes 
expansion projects for new or existing networks.    

Two rounds of funding have been administered through the MBPS program resulting in a 
total of 11 awards. With a total of $59,722,664 in grant funding and an additional 
$41,451,676 in matching funds contributed by grantees, a total of $101,174,339 is invested 
in the MBPS program. 

Figure 16: ARPA MBPS Projects 

Program Information Totals 
Projects 11 
Grant Funds $59,722,664 
Matching Funds $41,451,676 
Total Investment $101,174,339 
Targeted Locations 15,024 
Miles of Fiber 1,655 
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GigReady Incentive Program 

Public-private partnerships in broadband infrastructure represent a critical alliance in 
bridging the digital divide and enhancing connectivity, especially in unserved and 
underserved rural areas. By combining the efficiency and innovative capabilities of the 
private sector with the regulatory and financial support of public entities, these 
partnerships can effectively address the challenges of high infrastructure costs and 
logistical complexities associated with broadband deployment.  

The GigReady program administered one round of funding resulting in a total of two 
awards. With a total of $29,998,857 in grant funding and an additional $9,999,619 in 
matching funds contributed by grantees, a total of $39,998,476 is invested in the GigReady 
program. 

Previously, three other awards were made to the counties of Raleigh, Summers, and 
Monroe; however, all parties have determined to shift their priorities to BEAD as it will 
provide better funding opportunities with greater capacity.  

Figure 17: GigReady Projects 

Program Information Totals 
Projects 2 
Grant Funds $29,998,857 
Matching Funds $9,999,619 
Total Investment $39,998,476 
Targeted Locations 10,194 
Miles of Fiber 464 
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5.1 Capital Projects Fund 
The CPF program provides $10 billion nationwide for eligible governments to carry out critical 
capital projects that directly enable work, education, and health monitoring, including remote 
options, in response to the COVID-19 public health emergency. The CPF Guidance, available 
here, describes how governments may access and use these funds. 

According to the U.S. Treasury: “The focus of the Capital Projects Fund on the continuing need 
for connectivity in response to the COVID-19 pandemic complements the broader range of uses, 
including for broadband infrastructure, of the American Rescue Plan’s separate $350 billion 
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds.” 

A total of 22 awards have been made for CPF. With a total of $110,725,623 in grant funding and 
an additional $39,751,643 in matching funds contributed by grantees, a total of $150,477,266 is 
invested in the CPF program. 

Figure 18: CPF Awards 

Program Information Totals 
Projects 22 
Grant Funds $110,725,623 
Matching Funds $39,751,643 
Total Investment $150,477,266 
Targeted Locations 23,792 
Miles of Plant 2,081 

43

43

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Capital-Projects-Fund-Guidance-States-Territories-and-Freely-Associated-States.pdf


Ta
bl

e 
6:

 F
un

di
ng

 D
at

a 
fo

r 
Ca

pi
ta

l P
ro

je
ct

 F
un

ds
 A

w
ar

de
d 

Pr
oj

ec
ts

. 

Pr
og

ra
m

 
Gr

an
te

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t N
am

e 
Aw

ar
d 

Da
te

 
Gr

an
t F

un
di

ng
 

M
at

ch
in

g F
un

ds
 

To
ta

l P
ro

je
ct

 C
os

t 
Ta

rg
et

ed
 Lo

ca
tio

ns
 

M
ile

s o
f P

la
nt

 

Gi
gR

ea
dy

 
Gr

ee
nb

rie
r C

ou
nt

y 
Gr

ee
nb

rie
r B

ro
ad

ba
nd

 E
xp

an
si

on
 P

ro
je

ct
 

10
/1

/2
02

2 
$1

2,
94

0,
98

8 
 

$4
,3

13
,6

63
  

$1
7,

25
4,

65
1 

 
53

16
 

17
7 

Gi
gR

ea
dy

 
Ro

an
e 

Co
un

ty
 E

DA
 

M
ul

ti-
Co

un
ty

 B
ro

ad
ba

nd
 E

xp
an

si
on

 
10

/1
/2

02
2 

$1
7,

05
7,

86
9 

 
$5

,6
85

,9
56

  
$2

2,
74

3,
82

5 
 

48
78

 
28

7 

LE
AD

 
Ar

m
st

ro
ng

 Te
le

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
W

ay
ne

-L
in

co
ln

-E
as

t L
yn

n 
Ex

te
ns

io
n 

6/
7/

20
23

 
$3

,4
00

,9
31

  
$3

99
,5

00
  

$3
,8

00
,4

31
  

55
1 

56
 

LE
AD

 
Ar

m
st

ro
ng

 Te
le

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
Pu

tn
am

: H
ur

ric
an

e,
 C

ul
lo

de
n,

 S
co

tt 
De

po
t 

6/
13

/2
02

4 
$4

,4
00

,4
60

  
$3

46
,0

00
  

$4
,7

46
,4

60
  

41
7 

54
 

LE
AD

 
Ar

m
st

ro
ng

 Te
le

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
W

ay
ne

-C
ab

el
l F

ib
er

 E
xp

an
si

on
 

6/
13

/2
02

4 
$4

,3
15

,3
94

  
$5

97
,5

00
  

$4
,9

12
,8

94
  

81
5 

51
 

LE
AD

 
Ar

m
st

ro
ng

 Te
le

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
W

ay
ne

 C
ou

nt
y F

ib
er

 E
xp

an
si

on
 

6/
13

/2
02

4 
$4

,2
05

,5
71

  
$7

11
,5

00
  

$4
,9

17
,0

71
  

12
81

 
56

 

LE
AD

 
Co

m
ca

st
 

M
in

er
al

 N
or

th
 

6/
13

/2
02

4 
$3

,5
72

,2
13

  
$1

,1
90

,7
38

  
$4

,7
62

,9
51

  
21

7 
74

 

LE
AD

 
Co

m
ca

st
 

M
in

er
al

 S
ou

th
 

6/
13

/2
02

4 
$3

,3
55

,4
43

  
$1

,7
74

,5
53

  
$5

,1
29

,9
96

  
31

9 
76

 

LE
AD

 
Co

m
ca

st
 

M
in

er
al

: K
ey

se
r, 

Ne
w 

Cr
ee

k,
 B

ur
lin

gt
on

 
6/

13
/2

02
4 

$3
,3

25
,0

88
  

$5
09

,3
41

  
$3

,8
34

,4
29

  
17

4 
75

 

LE
AD

 
Sh

en
te

l 
Le

wi
s C

ou
nt

y-
Ja

ne
 Le

w
, W

es
to

n,
 C

am
de

n,
 H

or
ne

r 
7/

26
/2

02
3 

$3
98

,1
89

  
$7

5,
84

6 
 

$4
74

,0
35

  
14

4 
7 

LE
AD

 
Sp

ru
ce

 K
no

b 
Pe

nd
le

to
n 

Co
un

ty
-F

ra
nk

lin
, M

ila
m

 
7/

26
/2

02
3 

$1
,2

54
,9

45
  

$7
7,

00
0 

 
$1

,3
31

,9
45

  
83

 
23

 

LE
AD

 
Sp

ru
ce

 K
no

b 
Pe

nd
le

to
n 

Co
un

ty
-F

ra
nk

lin
, U

pp
er

 Tr
ac

t 
7/

26
/2

02
3 

$1
,2

77
,4

12
  

$1
13

,4
00

  
$1

,3
90

,8
12

  
12

3 
30

 

LE
AD

 
Sp

ru
ce

 K
no

b 
Pe

nd
le

to
n 

Co
un

ty
- B

ra
nd

yw
in

e,
 S

ug
ar

 G
ro

ve
, M

ila
m

 
7/

26
/2

02
3 

$8
88

,6
20

  
$9

1,
70

0 
 

$9
80

,3
20

  
11

4 
19

 

LE
AD

 
Sp

ru
ce

 K
no

b 
Pe

nd
le

to
n:

 B
ra

nd
yw

in
e 

2/
7/

20
24

 
$4

01
,0

25
  

$1
20

,4
00

  
$5

21
,4

25
  

11
9 

5 

LE
AD

 
Sp

ru
ce

 K
no

b 
Pe

nd
le

to
n:

 U
pp

er
 Tr

ac
t 

2/
7/

20
24

 
$8

99
,0

07
  

$1
05

,7
00

  
$1

,0
04

,7
07

  
12

2 
16

 

LE
AD

 
Sp

ru
ce

 K
no

b 
Po

ca
ho

nt
as

: G
re

en
 B

an
k,

 A
rb

ov
al

e,
 D

ur
bi

n 
2/

7/
20

24
 

$6
11

,3
15

  
$8

2,
00

0 
 

$6
93

,3
15

  
11

7 
9 

M
BP

S 
Co

m
ca

st
 

No
rth

er
n 

Pa
nh

an
dl

e 
Br

oa
db

an
d 

Ex
pa

ns
io

n 
7/

6/
20

22
 

$1
4,

72
6,

01
2 

 
$6

,2
65

,6
07

  
$2

0,
99

1,
61

9 
 

14
02

 
30

4 

M
BP

S 
Fr

on
tie

r 
Ra

ve
ns

wo
od

 (J
ac

ks
on

 C
o)

 B
ro

ad
ba

nd
 

1/
12

/2
02

4 
$7

,6
42

,5
81

  
$7

,6
42

,5
81

  
$1

5,
28

5,
16

2 
 

16
35

 
23

8 

M
BP

S 
Fr

on
tie

r 
Ri

pl
ey

 (J
ac

ks
on

 C
o)

 B
ro

ad
ba

nd
 

1/
12

/2
02

4 
$5

,4
71

,2
80

  
$3

,9
21

,7
93

  
$9

,3
93

,0
73

  
89

9 
14

4 

M
BP

S 
M

ic
ro

lo
gi

c 
Ra

nd
ol

ph
 C

ou
nt

y F
ib

er
 D

ep
lo

ym
en

t 
9/

16
/2

02
2 

$1
6,

59
7,

04
1 

 
$2

,9
79

,0
00

  
$1

9,
57

6,
04

1 
 

39
91

 
28

4 

M
BP

S 
M

ic
ro

lo
gi

c 
Gr

an
t C

ou
nt

y M
BP

S-
M

ay
sv

ill
e,

 N
ew

 C
re

ek
, C

ab
in

s,
 K

ey
se

r 
7/

26
/2

02
3 

$2
,8

68
,0

35
  

$9
56

,0
12

  
$3

,8
24

,0
47

  
26

6 
55

 

M
BP

S 
Sh

en
te

l 
Gr

an
t C

ou
nt

y M
BP

S-
Go

rm
an

ia
, B

is
m

ar
ck

, M
ou

nt
 S

to
rm

 
7/

26
/2

02
3 

$1
,1

16
,2

04
  

$1
,7

91
,8

53
  

$2
,9

08
,0

57
  

80
9 

41
 

44

44



5.2 State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 
The Office enters its fourth year administering the WVBIP with dedicated funding from the ARPA 
State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (SLFRF) program. In October 2021, the West Virginia 
Legislature created the Broadband Development Fund and allocated $90 million of SLFRF funds 
and $10 million in General Revenue funds to this initiative. This total was added to CPF funding 
for a total investment of $236 million. 

A total of 22 awards have been made for SLFRF. With a total of $64,379,629 in grant funding and 
an additional $27,890,081 in matching funds contributed by grantees, a total of $92,269,709 is 
invested in the SLFRF program. 

Table 7: SLFRF Program Information 

Program Information Totals 
Projects 22 
Grant Funds $110,725,623 
Matching Funds $39,751,643 
Total Investment $150,477,266 
Targeted Locations 23,792 
Miles of Plant 2,081 

Progress reports are collected from grantees and submitted to the U.S. Treasury on a quarterly 
basis. As of the third quarter of 2024, a total of 3,045 locations are now served by SLFRF funded 
networks. 

Figure 19: SLFRF funded project  

45

45



Ta
bl

e 
7:

  F
un

di
ng

 d
at

a 
fo

r 
SL

FR
F 

fu
nd

ed
 p

ro
je

ct
s.

 

Pr
og

ra
m

 
Gr

an
te

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t N
am

e 
Gr

an
t F

un
di

ng
 

M
at

ch
in

g F
un

ds
 

To
ta

l P
ro

je
ct

 C
os

t 
Ta

rg
et

ed
 Lo

ca
tio

ns
 

M
ile

s o
f 

Pl
an

t 
LE

AD
 

Ci
ty

ne
t 

Gr
ee

n 
Va

lle
y L

in
e 

Ex
te

ns
io

n 
$1

,1
91

,5
34

 
$1

88
,5

00
 

$1
,3

80
,0

34
 

26
5 

26
 

LE
AD

 
Ci

ty
ne

t 
Sh

av
er

s F
or

k,
 H

el
ve

tta
, C

re
st

vie
w 

Li
ne

 E
xt

en
si

on
 

$7
13

,5
60

 
$1

62
,5

00
 

$8
76

,0
60

 
96

 
14

 

LE
AD

 
Ci

ty
ne

t 
Po

ca
ho

nt
as

 - 
M

ar
lin

to
n,

 H
ill

sb
or

o,
 S

la
ty

fo
rk

, V
al

le
y H

ea
d 

$5
,5

16
,5

00
 

$7
89

,5
00

 
$6

,3
06

,0
00

 
60

1 
15

0 
LE

AD
 

Ci
ty

ne
t 

M
ar

sh
al

l-W
et

ze
l F

ib
er

 E
xp

an
si

on
 

$7
,4

88
,0

00
 

$1
,7

25
,0

00
 

$9
,2

13
,0

00
 

1,
35

7 
21

1 
LE

AD
 

Co
m

ca
st

 
Br

oo
ke

, H
an

co
ck

, M
ar

sh
al

l, 
O

hi
o 

Li
ne

 E
xt

en
si

on
 

$4
,7

21
,5

90
 

$2
,0

64
,9

78
 

$6
,7

86
,5

68
 

1,
46

2 
13

2 
LE

AD
 

Co
m

ca
st

 
Ca

be
ll,

 K
an

aw
ha

, M
or

ga
n,

 P
ut

na
m

 L
in

e 
Ex

te
ns

io
n 

$2
,8

55
,2

46
 

$1
,1

11
,6

28
 

$3
,9

66
,8

74
 

71
6 

59
 

LE
AD

 
Ha

rd
y T

el
ec

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 

Ea
st

 H
ar

dy
 Li

ne
 E

xt
en

si
on

 
$2

01
,5

65
 

$1
08

,6
45

 
$3

10
,2

10
 

58
 

10
 

LE
AD

 
Ha

rd
y T

el
ec

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 

So
ut

h 
M

ill
 C

re
ek

 R
oa

d 
Li

ne
 E

xt
en

si
on

 
$4

16
,9

84
 

$1
40

,0
00

 
$5

56
,9

84
 

11
7 

5 

LE
AD

 
Li

ng
o 

Ea
st

 P
en

dl
et

on
 P

ha
se

 1
 L

in
e 

Ex
te

ns
io

n 
$2

,2
57

,8
34

 
$2

97
,0

00
 

$2
,5

54
,8

34
 

86
 

31
 

LE
AD

 
Pr

od
ig

i 
No

rth
-C

en
tra

l P
re

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
s 

$4
,5

92
,6

45
 

$8
70

,5
00

 
$5

,4
63

,1
45

 
1,

20
3 

93
 

LE
AD

 
Pr

od
ig

i 
W

es
t P

re
st

on
-V

al
le

y D
is

tri
ct

 E
xt

en
si

on
 

$3
,8

40
,9

13
 

$8
03

,5
00

 
$4

,6
44

,4
13

 
1,

45
5 

60
 

LE
AD

 
Pr

od
ig

i 
Ea

st
 M

on
on

ga
lia

 a
nd

 E
as

t P
re

st
on

 R
ur

al
 B

ro
ad

ba
nd

 
$4

,3
62

,7
23

 
$6

61
,5

00
 

$5
,0

24
,2

23
 

79
9 

10
3 

LE
AD

 
Pr

od
ig

i 
Tu

ck
er

 C
ou

nt
y-

Pa
rs

on
s,

 H
am

bl
et

on
, A

ur
or

a 
$7

,9
06

,9
24

 
$1

11
,0

00
 

$8
,0

17
,9

24
 

64
4 

14
1 

LE
AD

 
Pr

od
ig

i 
Pr

es
to

n 
to

 B
ar

bo
ur

 R
ur

al
 E

xp
an

si
on

 
$6

,5
91

,4
70

 
$7

22
,5

00
 

$7
,3

13
,9

70
 

80
3 

13
5 

LE
AD

 
Sh

en
te

l 
No

rth
 F

or
k 

$4
20

,6
30

 
$2

38
,5

00
 

$6
59

,1
30

 
14

1 
9 

M
BP

S 
Ci

ty
ne

t 
Th

or
nt

on
, G

la
de

sv
ill

e 
& 

M
or

ga
nt

ow
n 

So
ut

h 
$2

,2
00

,6
35

 
$7

33
,5

45
 

$2
,9

34
,1

80
 

37
6 

86
 

M
BP

S 
Fr

on
tie

r 
Bo

on
e 

Co
un

ty
 - 

Tu
rtl

e 
Cr

ee
k 

$6
71

,3
85

 
$1

,9
93

,6
88

 
$2

,6
65

,0
73

 
1,

56
6 

83
 

M
BP

S 
Fr

on
tie

r 
W

es
t M

as
on

 
$9

84
,0

95
 

$2
,9

52
,2

86
 

$3
,9

36
,3

81
 

1,
09

2 
10

8 

M
BP

S 
Fr

on
tie

r 
Be

rk
el

ey
 C

ou
nt

y M
BP

S-
He

dg
es

vil
le

, G
er

ra
rd

st
ow

n,
 M

ar
tin

sb
ur

g,
 In

w
oo

d,
 B

un
ke

r H
ill

 
$6

,3
26

,2
83

 
$1

1,
74

8,
81

1 
$1

8,
07

5,
09

3 
2,

53
1 

28
6 

M
BP

S 
Sh

en
te

l 
Le

wi
s C

ou
nt

y B
ro

ad
ba

nd
 P

ro
je

ct
 

$1
,1

19
,1

13
 

$4
66

,5
00

 
$1

,5
85

,6
13

 
45

7 
27

 

46

46



5.2.1 Wireless Internet 
Networks  
The State Legislature allocated 
approximately $10 million to the WIN 
Program to fund extensions or 
upgrades of existing last mile wireless 
broadband networks that can be 
constructed quickly. WVDED provided 
interested applicants with a set of 
targeted state parks and addresses, 
and its prioritized projects that 
benefited both at the same time. The application period ran from May to June 2022. As of 
December 2024, WVDED provided $250,000 in funding for one project. 

5.2.2 Guide to Reporting and Compliance Obligations for West 
Virginia ARPA Broadband Investment Plan Grant Recipients 

To assist project teams in the implementation of federally funded projects, the West Virginia 
Office of Broadband has issued an  ARPA-Subrecipient-Compliance-and-Reporting-Guidance-
Document-for-Awardees. The West Virginia Office of Broadband developed this document in 
cooperation with the West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council and Tilson Technology 
Management, Inc. This Guide to Reporting and Compliance Obligations for West Virginia ARPA 
Broadband Investment Plan Grant Recipients covers three different programs administered by 
the West Virginia Department of Economic Development, Office of Broadband (WVDED). These 
programs are the GigReady Incentive Program (GigReady), the Line Extension Advancement and 
Development Program (LEAD), and the Major Broadband Project Strategies Program (MBPS). 

The document is intended as a guide, not as a substitute for a thorough knowledge of state and 
Federal laws and regulations referenced in this document. This document may be updated to 
more fully incorporate requirements. In the event of any discrepancy, Federal regulations will 
prevail. The Grantee is responsible for compliance with the most current and stringent of any 
applicable local, State or Federal law or regulation(s).  

5.3 2024 Project Announcements 
Throughout 2024, Governor Justice issued the approval of 11 LEAD awards. These awards will 
result in deploying over 600 miles of fiber infrastructure to connect over 4,900 locations. 
Projects announced through 2024 are funded through the following ARPA programs:  

• $25,085,516 in CPF funding dedicated to 9 projects
• $7,488,000 in SLFRF funding dedicated to 1 project
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Internet Service Providers in West Virginia continue to demonstrate their value of partnership in 
West Virgina’s broadband expansion initiative. During 2024, providers have dedicated a total of 
$7,162,732 in matching funds resulting in a total investment of $39,736,248 into the LEAD 
program.  

Table 8: Funding data for APRA projects announced in 2024. 

Funding 
Source 

Program Grantee Project 
Name 

Grant 
Funding 

Matching 
Funds 

Total 
Project 

Cost 

Targeted 
Addresses 

Miles of 
Plant 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Armstrong 
Telecommunications 

Putnam: 
Hurricane, 
Culloden, 
Scott Depot 

$4,400,460 $346,000 $4,746,460 417 54 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Armstrong 
Telecommunications 

Wayne-
Cabell Fiber 
Expansion 

$4,315,394 $597,500 $4,912,894 815 51 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Armstrong 
Telecommunications 

Wayne 
County 
Fiber 
Expansion 

$4,205,571 $711,500 $4,917,071 1281 56 

ARPA-SLFRF LEAD Citynet Marshall-
Wetzel 
Fiber 
Expansion 

$7,488,000 $1,725,000 $9,213,000 1357 211 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Comcast Mineral 
North 

$3,572,213 $1,190,738 $4,762,951 217 74 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Comcast Mineral 
South 

$3,355,443 $1,774,553 $5,129,996 319 76 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Comcast Mineral: 
Keyser, 
New Creek, 
Burlington 

$3,325,088 $509,341 $3,834,429 174 75 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Spruce Knob Pendleton: 
Brandywine 

$401,025 $120,400 $521,425 119 5 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Spruce Knob Pendleton: 
Upper Tract 

$899,007 $105,700 $1,004,707 122 16 

ARPA-CPF LEAD Spruce Knob Pocahontas: 
Green Bank, 
Arbovale, 
Durbin 

$611,315 $82,000 $693,315 117 9 
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6. FCC Rural Digital Opportunity Fund
Administered by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) and funded by the Universal 
Service Fund (USF) High-Cost Program, the Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF) is an effort to 
modernize how USF funds are distributed and utilized. RDOF offers internet service providers an 
opportunity to compete for funds that were previously earmarked as subsidies for regulated, 
incumbent telephone companies.  

RDOF distributes funding using a competitive, reverse auction in which internet service 
providers compete for subsidy funding to connect unserved and underserved locations in “High 
Cost” Census blocks, generally rural areas where the cost to connect customers is higher than 
average. High-Cost census blocks are awarded to the internet service provider that can connect 
all locations within it with the least amount of requested federal funding. Winning bidders 
receive a monthly subsidy, based on their lowest bid, for a 10-year term.  

The FCC outlined plans to award up to $20.4 billion over the course of a two phase RDOF 
program to support fixed broadband development nationwide. The FCC conducted Phase 1 of 
the RDOF reverse auction in October and November 2020 with up to $16 billion of the total 
budget available. Of the $16 billion, $9.2 billion, or 57.5%, was awarded through a competitive, 
reverse auction designed to reduce costs through the multi-round reverse auction. The FCC 
announced provisional winning bidders on December 7, 2020, and subsequently fully authorized 
bidders to receive their monthly subsidy during 2021 and 2022. Remaining program funds may 
be used in a second phase of the RDOF program; however, the FCC hasn’t yet announced any 
information regarding RDOF Phase 2.  

Figure 20: WV RDOF Timeline  

West Virginia’s initial auction eligibility profile, as determined by the FCC, included 120,506 
locations. The maximum statewide award possible was slightly more than $766 million, or $76 
million per year, for 10 years. This figure was the maximum potential subsidy to be awarded by 
the FCC to carriers that competed in the auction process. However, through the reverse auction 
process, the ultimate subsidy amount awarded in West Virginia was $362 million, approximately 
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47.2% of the maximum amount. Additionally, of the 120,506 initially eligible locations, 119,267 
(98.9%), were ‘won’ by auction participants.1  

Of these, six service providers serving 109,087 RDOF locations in West Virginia have been 
approved to provide broadband service under RDOF. All six will offer service that meets the fully 
served BEAD classification.2 Of these, approximately 80,000 of those are assigned to Frontier.3  

Figure 21: RDOF project areas in West Virginia.  

All six service providers bid and won in the auction’s Gigabit Performance Tier, specifying the 
use of “Optical Carrier – Fiber to the End-User” as the technology to be utilized to satisfy 
deployment obligations. All auction winners must fulfill deployment obligations to serve 40% of 
the total locations won in a state by the end of year three (starting when the FCC announces 
final approval of auction winners to receive Universal Service Funds) and an additional 20% of 
auction subsidized locations per year until 100% completion by the end of year six. 

The specification of “Optical Carrier – Fiber to the End User” as a technology necessitates the 
deployment of a Gigabit Passive Optical Network (GPON) as a fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) network 
that can provide service to each of the subsidized locations in West Virginia. 

1 WVOB, West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council, 2022 Annual Report, 
https://www.wvlegislature.gov/legisdocs/reports/agency/B19_CY_2022_15837.pdf, p. 52 
2 “Auction 904: Rural Digital Opportunity Fund,” Federal Communications Commission, accessed May 19, 
2023, https://www.fcc.gov/auction/904. 
3 WVOB, West Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council, 2022 Annual Report, 
https://www.wvlegislature.gov/legisdocs/reports/agency/B19_CY_2022_15837.pdf, p. 52 
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All auction winners must fulfill deployment obligations to serve 40% of total locations won 
across West Virginia by the end of the third year from RDOF Final Approval. An additional 20% 
must be served each following year until 100% completion is achieved by the end of year six.4 
See Table 9 for each. 

These deployment milestones apply to all auction participants and represent a significant 
investment in broadband infrastructure in West Virginia. 

Table 9: WV RDOF Summary  

4 “Rural Digital Opportunity Fund,” Universal Service Administrative Company, accessed May 19, 2023, 
https://www.usac.org/high-cost/funds/rural-digital-opportunity-fund/. 
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7. FCC Affordable Connectivity Program
The Federal Communications Commission (FCC) administered the Affordable Connectivity 
Program (ACP). The ACP helped ensure that households can afford the broadband they need for 
work, school, healthcare, and more by providing a $30 discount on monthly internet bills. The 
FCC estimated that about 48 million families were eligible for the program—nearly 40 percent of 
households in the United States.  

The FCC announced ended the ACP in early 2024, fully depleting its $14.2 billion allocation by 
April. Both chambers of Congress introduced multiple pieces of legislation to continue the ACP 
with renewed funding in Spring 2024. However, no efforts were successful. WVDED had 
prioritized increased ACP enrollment as a key objective in the State Digital Equity Plan to 
continue its positive impact. In addition, WVDED was awarded $400,000 through the FCC’s 
National Competitive Outreach Program (NCOP) to continue ACP promotion in West Virginia. 
Promotional advertisements were well underway in January 2024 before being scaled back and 
ending in early February. Before ACP ended:  

• West Virginians enrolled 128,571 households in ACP.
• WV Counties with the highest number of enrolled households were: Kanawha (15,999),

Cabell (8,718), Raleigh (6,317), Mercer (6,313), and Harrison (6,298).
• ACP Provided $8.61 million to West Virginians.
• From January 2022 to May 2024, the ACP provided over $81.6 million in support to

West Virginians for both internet service and internet enabled devices.5

There is not yet a good alternative for West Virginians who relied on the ACP for affordable 
internet service. The FCC’s Lifeline program is insufficient for many: it only provides a monthly 
benefit of $9.25 toward broadband and phone service for qualifying individuals. Multiple ISPs 
offer low-cost internet plans, with some committing to lower plan prices in the ACP’s absence. 
West Virginians can learn about these lower-cost, affordable internet plans through: 

• The FCC’s National Broadband Map and BroadbandNow;
• The National Digital Inclusion Alliance (NDIA)’s resources, which include scoring based

on price and speed.

For now, WVDED is amending its Digital Equity Plan to reflect the end of the ACP. Until a 
successor program becomes a reality, WVDED will spread awareness of low-cost internet plans 
and other relevant consumer information. WVDED will continue research and data collection on 
internet affordability in West Virginia. 

5 Universal Service Administrative Company (USAC), https://www.usac.org/about/affordable-connectivity-
program/ 
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8. Key Infrastructure Projects

8.1 AEP Logan-Mingo Broadband Project 
In 2019, Appalachian Power Company and Wheeling Power Company (AEP) prepared a 
Broadband Feasibility Study for the construction of a middle mile fiber optic network in Logan 
and Mingo Counties, known as the Logan-Mingo Broadband Project. Studies must be reviewed 
and approved by the Broadband Council and the West Virginia Public Service Commission. 

Figure 22: AEP Logan-Mingo Project  

The network will provide utility communications and contain fiber optic strands that AEP could 
lease to internet service providers who would provide broadband internet service to end-user, 
“last mile” customers through the construction of more than 400 new fiber miles and the 
utilization of approximately 200 existing fiber miles to reach more than 13,000 unserved and 
underserved locations. 

AEP’s study included a review of statutory requirements authorizing electric utilities to prepare 
such studies. It also identified regulatory and public policy hurdles, a number of which were 
addressed in legislation enacted into law in 2020. In 2020, the West Virginia Legislature passed 
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HB 4619, which amended §24-2-1 of the W. Va Code and added a new section, §24-2-10, both of 
which concern the powers and duties of the West Virginia Public Service Commission (WVPSC). 
HB 4619 allows electric utilities to install “middle mile” broadband fiber on their existing 
infrastructure to facilitate the expansion of broadband service into unserved and underserved 
areas of the State. 

AEP conducted a Request for Proposal process and selected GigaBeam Networks, LLC, as an 
internet service provider partner. The project continued with formal submission to the WVPSC, 
in 2020. 

In 2022, NTIA announced the award of $19.6 million to complete a fiber to the premise project 
to bring qualified broadband to more than 12,000 unserved households across the region. This 
application was submitted by the Logan County Commission in partnership with the Mingo 
County Commission and GigaBeam Networks, LLC. The project team held an official construction 
kickoff event in July 2022. 

Following the success of the Logan-Mingo project, AEP developed a second feasibility study in 
2022 which included five counties in southeastern West Virginia, including Raleigh, Mercer, 
Wyoming, McDowell, and Summers counties. The West Virginia Broadband Enhancement 
Council approved this study in March 2023.  

AEP applied to the NTIA Middle Mile Expansion Program and received a $25 million grant for 
this project in June 2023 locations; however, with the rollout of BEAD, AEP made the decision to 
prioritize the Logan-Mingo project.   
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9. USDA Broadband Programs
In anticipation of increased funding for broadband expansion in rural areas, the U.S. Department 
of Agriculture (USDA), West Virginia Rural Development team partnered with the West Virginia 
Broadband Enhancement Council to conduct a series of workshops in West Virginia with a focus 
on increasing the number of USDA project proposals from West Virginia. This focused initiative 
resulted in numerous successful proposals through which project teams secured USDA funds for 
broadband expansion projects in West Virginia. The USDA awarded significant funds to projects 
in West Virginia through three broadband programs listed below. WVDED’s involvement in two 
of the three USDA programs is detailed subsequently. 

• USDA ReConnect
• USDA Community Connect
• USDA Distance Learning and Medicine

Infrastructure projects awarded under ReConnect and Community Connect are in active 
construction. These projects brought connectivity to unserved and underserved communities in 
2024 and will continue to deploy services in 2025. 

Figure 23: USDA Programs 
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10. Appalachian Regional Commission
The Appalachian Regional Commission (ARC) is a partnership between states and the Federal 
Government. Covering 423 counties across 13 states, ARC works with local Appalachian 
communities to improve overall quality of life. ARC has a variety of grant programs that local 
governments can use for efforts that align with its Strategic Plan, including building and 
improving Appalachian businesses, workforce ecosystem, infrastructure, culture and tourism, 
and community leaders and capacity.6 In many cases, funds can be used for broadband-related 
projects. For instance, in January 2023, ARC awarded $6.3 million to bolster broadband access 
across 50 communities through its Appalachian Regional Initiative for Strong Communities 
(ARISE).7 ARC can either directly fund projects itself or it can provide the funds to states, such as 
West Virginia, for state-level grant programs. Funding opportunities are ongoing and are 
available each fiscal year. 

ARC funds broadband through three programs in West Virginia: Partnerships for Workforce and 
Economic Revitalization (POWER), Central Appalachian Broadband, and North Central 
Appalachian Broadband. WVDED administers most ARC-funded broadband infrastructure 
projects in West Virginia. WVDED may accept applications and recommend approval of projects 
under the latter two funding sources. ARC grants are unique in that POWER projects are 
approved directly by ARC whereas Central Appalachian and Northcentral Appalachian funds are 
granted to WVDED for administration of a state-led program in which WVDED has a more direct 
role in project selection. In either scenario, WVDED is the Responsible State Basic Agency (RSBA) 
for ARC broadband infrastructure projects. 

Eight ARC grants are commitments to provide broadband service meeting or exceeding the 
requirements for full service as defined under the BEAD program.  

10.1 ARC POWER 
The ARC launched the (Partnerships for Opportunity and Workforce and Economic 
Revitalization) POWER Initiative to help communities and regions that have been affected by job 
losses in coal mining, coal power plant operations, and coal-related supply chain industries due 
to the changing economics of America's energy production. The West Virginia Department of 
Economic Development, Office of Broadband, administers ARC POWER broadband projects in 
West Virginia. 

For Program Year 2023, ARC awarded POWER funds to the Wyoming County EDA. In 2022, ARC 
awarded POWER funds to the Boone County Economic Development Authority and the 
Summers County Commission. Projects funded in 2020 and 2021 include the Pocahontas County 

6 Appalachian Regional Commission (ARC), Appalachia Envisioned: ARC’s 2022-2026 Strategic Plan, 
Accessed April 10, 2023, https://www.arc.gov/strategicplan/.  
7 ARC, Appalachian Regional Initiative for Stronger Economies (ARISE), Accessed April 10, 2023, 
https://www.arc.gov/ARISE/.  
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Commission, Wayne County Commission, Woodlands Development Group, and the 
Thundercloud Inc. Project. No additional broadband projects were awarded by ARC in 2024. 
Recent ARC POWER projects are briefly described below: 

• Pocahontas County Commission: received $2,500,000 to build FTTH to over 1,000
households in Pocahontas County.

• Woodlands Development Group: a non-profit entity received $2,500,000 to construct a
33-mile middle-mile fiber route along Route 33, from Elkins to Davis.

• Boone County Community and Economic Development Corporation: received
$1,692,507 to build an 8.2 fiber network with one wireless tower. This initiative will
support the redevelopment of surface coal mines with businesses that rely on
connectivity including a 3,000-acre solar field and other diversified industries.

• Thundercloud, Inc: a 25-mile fiber loop developed in downtown Huntington.

After consultation with ARC Coordinators, the following projects are currently on hold status and 
may have the opportunity to be alternatively funded through the BEAD program.  

• Summers County Commission received $2,400,000 to build 28 miles of fiber to connect
489 homes and 179 businesses in Summer County.

• Wayne County Commission received $1,551,000 to build a 16-mile middle-mile route
along WV-152 connecting households and businesses along the route with fiber. The
project also targets last-mile FTTH in Lavallette, Beech Fork, and Arden. The future
potential of this middle-mile route can expand FTTH to rural areas of Wayne County.

• Wyoming County EDA received $545,065 to build 10.5 miles of fiber to connect 89
households and seven businesses in the Huff Creek area of the county.

10.2 Central Appalachian Broadband 
In addition to ARC POWER funding, the Office of Broadband administers the ARC Central 
Appalachian Broadband program through designation as a Responsible State Basic Agency 
(RSBA).  

The goal of this ARC funding initiative is to provide funding for the deployment of broadband 
that will increase economic and business development or provide service to unserved 
customers. Funding is limited to ARC-designated distressed counties in West Virginia that have 
been most negatively impacted by the downturn in the coal industry. Eligible counties are 
Boone, Clay, Logan, Lincoln, McDowell, Mingo, Webster, and Wyoming. 

West Virginia currently has one project funded through the Central Appalachian Broadband 
grant program.  

• Webster County EDA received $4,620,864 for their Broadband Initiative Phase II to build
an all-fiber network in rural and mountainous areas of the country. Eight-hundred thirty
households and 80 businesses in 5 local communities will be served.
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10.3 Community Development Block Grant 
Congress established the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) through the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 1974.8 The West Virginia CDBG provides grants to local 
governments that do not receive CDBG direct funding from the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD). The grants focus on providing decent housing, a suitable living 
environment, and expanded economic opportunities principally for persons of low to moderate 
income. In response to COVID-19, HUD also granted West Virginia approximately $20 million for 
a supplementary program called CDBG-CV. CDBG-CV funding can be used for broadband 
projects focused on closing the digital divide. Funding opportunities are available each fiscal 
year. 

Through 2021, the CDBG dedicated approximately $8.8 million in funding to broadband planning 
and infrastructure projects. Twenty CDBG projects, covering 41 counties, involved broadband 
planning and community outreach. Twelve projects specifically focus on broadband 
infrastructure deployment, of which eight are commitments to provide broadband service 
matching or exceeding the requirements to be fully served under the BEAD program.  

The State utilized HUD’s CDBG funding for initial broadband planning and construction activities 
throughout the rural communities. The CDBG program will continue to fund other types of 
infrastructure and community development projects in the future and no further broadband 
projects are expected to be funded. The WVDED Office of Broadband will utilize other funding 
sources to build on progress made with CDBG. Additional broadband resources of funding 
include ARC and the NTIA’s BEAD programs.  

8 Congress.gov. "S.3066 - 93rd Congress (1973-1974): Housing and Community Development Act of 1974." 
August 22, 1974. https://www.congress.gov/bill/93rd-congress/senate-bill/3066.  
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11. State and Federal Policy Updates
West Virginia’s leaders continue to develop policies that encourage broadband development 
throughout the State. The West Virginia Legislature has advanced innovative broadband 
policies, developing an ideal environment for broadband infrastructure expansion. These 
policies encourage competition, discourage monopolies, and enhance the business environment 
for Internet Service Providers within the State of West Virginia. 

State, federal and local policies and regulations must recognize broadband as essential 
economic infrastructure and align in support of broadband infrastructure expansion. The West 
Virginia Broadband Enhancement Council and the West Virginia Office of Broadband will 
continue to advocate for policies and regulations that support efforts to expand broadband 
throughout West Virginia. 

11.1 West Virginia Economic Development 
Authority Broadband Loan Insurance 
Fund 

Since 2018, West Virginia has provided incentives for investors to support the deployment of 
broadband infrastructure, through a non-lapsing fund administered by the West Virginia 
Economic Development Authority (“WVEDA”). 

As outlined in W. Va. Code § 31-15-8, et seq, the Broadband Loan Insurance Program (BLINS) 
ensures the repayment of debt on capital costs related to broadband service which is provided 
either: 

a) to unserved or underserved areas of the State; or 

b) by linking a segment of a network operator’s core network to a local network plant that
serves an unserved area or an area with no more than two wireline providers. 

The BLINS program is essential to broadband expansion in West Virginia. One of the 
requirements of the RDOF process was for winning bidders to post a letter of credit with the FCC 
for up to 30% of the award amount to secure performance. To support this requirement, 
Governor Justice issued Executive Order (EO) 66-20 on September 3, 2020, pursuant to his 
authority to suspend statutory regulations during a state of emergency. EO 66-20 suspended the 
per-recipient and per-program dollar limits in the BLINS program and directed the WVEDA to 
make modifications to the BLINS program consistent with the EO.  

The WVEDA, in consultation with the Council, completed modifications to its guidelines for the 
BLINS program, providing insurance to banks for letters of credit to winning RDOF bidders. 
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Statutory changes were implemented in the 2021 Legislative Session enabling the BLINS 
program to support applicants proposing broadband expansion in West Virginia using funds 
from RDOF and other federal programs.  

Under the BLINS program prior to the Governor’s Executive Order, the WVEDA could insure up 
to 80% of a bank loan for a broadband infrastructure or development project. The insured 
portion could not exceed $10 million and had a maximum term of 20 years. The WVEDA’s 
revised guidelines issued in November 2020, permit the BLINS program to insure up to 100% of 
a letter of credit, and the cap of $10 million per recipient has been eliminated. This change will 
further encourage and support broadband projects. 

Prior to the Governor’s Executive Order, the program required the certification of eligibility by 
the Council. Since the FCC and other federal programs have extensive vetting processes, the 
Council recognized this certification under a federal broadband expansion program. 

Public notice is required for all projects, except those that plan to provide a downstream data 
rate of at least 1 Gbps throughout the proposed project service area. The process for funding 
has detailed requirements for as-built plans, mapping, modifications, project completion, and 
closeout.  

The Legislature amended the BLINS program statutes in October 2024 during the 2024 Second 
Extraordinary Session. Among other things, the amendments: 

• Expand the defini�on of “Federally funded broadband expansion program” to include
the “Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment Program of the Na�onal
Telecommunica�ons and Informa�on Administra�on” (“BEAD”), confirming that
BEAD-funded projects are eligible for BLINS program support;

• Authorize the WVEDA’s Insurance Fund (formerly the sole funding source for the
BLINS program) to receive moneys from the WVEDA’s separate Economic
Development Project Fund “in an amount not to exceed $125 million annually,” more
than doubling the amount of funds available for BLINS program support; and

• Increase the amount of loan insurance that the WVEDA may award to any one
broadband provider in any single calendar year, from $20 million to $50 million.

To be eligible for BLINS program assistance, a project must be cer�fied by the West Virginia 
Broadband Enhancement Council as having met the requirements for providing broadband 
service to an unserved or underserved area of the state. Moreover, the project must have 
writen cer�fica�on from the par�cipa�ng financial ins�tu�on that, but for the BLINS program, 
the financial ins�tu�on would not otherwise make the loan based solely on the creditworthiness 
of the broadband provider. 
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BLINS program applica�ons to the WVEDA originate with and are submited by the financial 
ins�tu�on making the bank loan or providing a leter of credit in support of a broadband project. 

11.2 West Virginia Attorney General Consumer 
Complaint 

As directed by House Bill 2002, and in compliance with W.Va. Code §31G-1A-2(b)(9), the West 
Virginia Office of Broadband coordinated with the West Virginia Attorney General Consumer 
Complaint Division to establish procedures for consumer complaints related to broadband 
service.  

Consumers who believe that they have been the victim of unlawful practices in the purchases of 
goods and services are first encouraged to fill out the appropriate form and return it to the West 
Virginia Attorney General's (WVAGO’s) Consumer Protection Division. The office provides three 
options for submitting complaints: 

• Option 1: Download and print the forms, complete and mail (with any copies
of documents related to the complaint) to: Office of the Attorney General, Consumer
Protection Division, P.O. Box 1789, Charleston, WV 25326-1789.

• Option 2: Download and fill out the appropriate PDF form and email the form and any
additional documents related to the complaint in PDF format to complaint@wvago.gov.
(25MB limit on attachments)

• Option 3: Complete an online version of the General Consumer Complaint form.

Individuals who need assistance may call the WVAGO Consumer Protection Hotline at 1-800-
368-8808. Clicking the links below will download a PDF of the form in a separate tab.

• Instructions for Filing a Consumer Complaint Form
• Documents Needed for Filing a General Consumer Complaint Form
• Broadband Complaint Form

11.3 Dig Once Policy 
In 2018, the West Virginia Legislature enacted a Dig Once Policy, passing legislation aimed at 
creating incentives over the long term to create spare conduit or opportunities to lay fiber in a 
joint trench. HB 4447 created a new article of code, §17-2E-1 et seq., that established the “Dig 
Once” policy. It directed the West Virginia Division of Highways (WVDOH) to install vacant 
broadband conduit during highway construction projects. As part of the policy, interested ISPs 
apply to the Council for approval to use the conduit. Conduit is leased at cost-based rates. 

The Council was also charged with creating a strategy to facilitate the timely and efficient 
deployment of broadband infrastructure on state-owned lands and buildings, and to assist local 
governments with development of similar Dig Once and deployment policies.  
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In 2019, Senate Bill 270 amended the Dig Once Policy, W. Va. Code §17-2E-1 et seq., in addition 
to W. Va. Code §17-2A-17a, which governs utility accommodation leases. Section 17-2A-17a 
provides that the Commissioner (Commissioner) of the WVDOH may lease real property held by 
the Division to accommodate any utility providing telecommunications or broadband services if 
the Commissioner finds that entering said lease is in the public interest. The code section as it 
was amended further provides that while the utility is required to pay fair market value for the 
real property interest under the lease, Senate Bill 270 amended this section to provide that the 
fair market value of such property interest was established to be $0 in monetary 
compensation. However, the current version of the law does not prohibit in-kind compensation 
if the lease concerns multiple districts within the Division.  

11.4 DOH Right of Way 
The West Virginia Legislature determined that it is in the public interest to accommodate 
telecommunica�ons facili�es in Division of Highways (“DOH”) rights-of-way where the use does 
not adversely affect the traveling public’s safety, impair the highway, or conflict with exis�ng law 
and policy. In this connec�on, the Dig Once Policy Act in the West Virginia Code authorizes the 
DOH to receive applica�ons and issue permits for the in-ground construc�on or installa�on of 
telecommunica�ons facili�es in DOH owned or controlled rights-of-way. 

DOH’s review of applica�ons considers whether the planned construc�on or installa�on 
adversely affects the safety, design, construc�on, opera�on or maintenance of the state road 
system; interferes with or impairs the present or planned future use of the highway or bridge; 
conflicts with DOH policy on performing work in rights-of-way; or violates applicable state or 
federal law. If deficiencies are iden�fied by DOH in the applica�on, the Dig Once Policy Act gives 
the applicant an opportunity to correct them and resubmit the applica�on. A specific district 
level construc�on authoriza�on permit is issued by DOH where an applica�on is approved. 

Importantly, the Dig Once Policy Act does not apply to the reloca�on or modifica�on of exis�ng 
telecommunica�ons facili�es in DOH rights-of-way or to aerial telecommunica�ons facili�es or 
equipment in DOH rights-of-way. Successful in-ground applicants are responsible for complying 
with applicable environmental laws. 

Senate Bill 270 and House Bill 2002 in 2021 amended § 17-2E-5 of the Dig Once Policy by 
eliminating the newspaper notice requirements, and by reducing the notice period from thirty 
(30) days to fifteen (15) days. HB 2002 in particular amended § 17-2E-3 of the policy to address
installations serving a public purpose in rights of way owned or controlled by the Division, and
the process for review and processing of such applications, timing, and compliance with
applicable environmental laws for new installations. SB 270 and HB 2002 also provided new
exemptions from the Dig Once Policy’s requirements with regard to the telecommunications
carrier initiated construction and joint use process, including exempting the following types of
projects from the requirements of § 17-2E-5:
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• Projects where the total continuous length of the trench is less than 1,000 feet;
• Projects that use the direct bury of cable or wire;
• Projects that are solely for the service of entities involved in national security matters;

and
• Projects where the carrier installs an amount of spare conduit or innerduct equal to

what is being installed for its own use and which is made available for lease to
competing carriers on a nondiscriminatory basis at rates established by the FCC.

The current § 17-2E-7 amended in 2021 allows the WVDOH to enter into agreements and issue 
permits consistent with 17-2E-3 to allow any carrier to use excess telecommunications facilities 
owned or controlled by the Division unless such excess facilities are also subject also to the 
Vertical Real Estate Management and Availability Act (§31G-5-1).  Under the current § 17-2E-8, 
WVDOH, with the Governor’s written approval, may transfer or assign ownership, control, or 
any rights related to any excess telecommunications facilities owned or controlled by the 
Division to any other state agency. 

The West Virginia Division of Highways (WVDOH) has updated guidance as part of the 
implementation of the State’s Dig Once Policy Act. The Dig Once Application Submission 
Checklist is now available online. 

The Dig Once Policy Act requires applicants to no�fy the Office of Broadband and 
telecommunica�ons carriers on record with the Office of applica�ons that are submited to 
DOH.  This gives those carriers the opportunity—specifically afforded by the Act—to share 
access to the applicant’s trench. Where no�ce of interest to share in a trench occurs, the 
telecommunica�ons carriers are required to nego�ate an agreement outlining their 
responsibili�es and financial obliga�ons. The DOH may join in this agreement to the extent it 
also wishes to use the trench. The Act empowers the PSC to adjudicate trench sharing disputes, 
and it vests the Office of Broadband with the responsibility for ensuring applicant compliance 
with the Act’s trench sharing requirements. 

Based on WVDED’s experience and findings, there are few, if any, instances of trenches being 
shared as a result of the Dig Once program. The program may require modifications to be more 
effective. As part of its BEAD planning process, WVDED proposed a Broadband Middle Mile 
Infrastructure Study (Middle Mile Study) for the State of West Virginia. As a component of 
broader goals, the study will incorporate a review of existing Dig Once policies. Included in the 
West Virginia BEAD Plan is the goal to improve Dig Once policies to fully take advantage of their 
unharnessed potential. WVDED will recommend improvements to the State’s Dig Once policy, 
including establishing guidelines for laying conduit during major highway construction or 
reconstruction.  

11.5 Policy Concerning Bridge Attachments 
Bridge Attachments are governed by the WVDOH Utility Manual, available here. 
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11.6 One-Touch Make-Ready 
Integral to broadband network expansion, pole attachment regulations can provide a defined 
process to attach poles owned by electric or telecommunications utilities. As noted by NTIA, 
pole attachment regulations “…are a potential barrier to entry if they make a proposed project 
economically nonviable, particularly in unserved rural areas.”  

Over the years, attachers have sought to improve this process. At the federal level, the FCC 
issued the One Touch Make Ready (OTMR) order in 2018, which set out rules to streamline the 
make-ready and attachment processes. However, FCC regulations only apply to so-called “FCC 
states.”  States are permitted to reverse-preempt federal regulations and adopt comparable 
regulations. West Virginia’s Public Service Commission has adopted rules addressing the pole 
attachment application process, including detailed deadlines for distinct steps, and a complaint 
process modeled on the FCC’s pole attachment complaint process. Under the West Virginia 
Public Service Commission’s pole attachment complaint process, an attacher can have the Public 
Service Commission adjudicate the reasonableness of a pole owner’s decision to approve, reject, 
or approve subject to conditions a pole attachment application, and the reasonableness of the 
charge proposed by the pole owner. The Public Service Commission made revised Rules for the 
Government of Pole Attachments effective as of January 13, 2023. 

The Public Service Commission of West Virginia opened a “show cause” proceeding on its own 
initiative in 2022 to eliminate the practice of the State’s largest electric utility and its largest 
incumbent local exchange carrier which had been requiring pole attachers to make applications 
to both entities separately for poles that were jointly used by the ILEC and the electric utility. In 
June 2023, the Public Service Commission approved a Joint Stipulation by the electric utility, the 
ILEC, and several intervening broadband providers which eliminated the dual application 
process, replacing it with a single application to be made to the electric utility, and establishing 
distinct deadlines for steps to be taken by the electric utility in responding to an application to 
attach. 

W. Va. Code §31G also addresses pole access. W.Va. Code §31G-6-2 preempts local government
pole attachment ordinances in favor of broadband service for pole attachments. Furthermore,
§31G-6-2(b) states explicitly that the pole attachment policies of Investor-Owned Utilities,
Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, and Competitive Exchange Carriers will be “strictly
construed in favor of encouraging and assisting broadband installation and deployment.”

West Virginia’s pole attachment regulations are comparable to those at the FCC and have similar 
OTMR timeframes. Regarding make-ready charges, pole owners must provide detailed estimates 
on a pole-by-pole basis and: 

“...may not charge a new attacher to bring poles, attachments, or third-party equipment into 
compliance with current published safety, reliability, and pole owner construction standards 
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guidelines if such poles, attachments, or third-party equipment were out of compliance because 
of work performed by a party other than the new attacher prior to the new attachment.”  

While pole attachment regulations set a framework for attaching, companies must negotiate 
pole attachment agreements directly with pole owners. These agreements must comply with 
state regulations, and if a pole owner refuses to negotiate in good faith and/or follow the 
regulations, a company may file a complaint with the Public Service Commission, even before it 
has an agreement with the pole owner.  

While West Virginia’s current statutes and rules addressing pole attachments are conducive to 
the deployment of broadband infrastructure, in practice there is still some room for potential 
roadblocks. One of these areas relates to make-ready cost recovery: West Virginia’s Pole 
Attachment Rule is explicit that new attachers should not be responsible for the costs to replace 
an already failing pole. There is a mechanism to address disputes like these via the Public Service 
Commission’s FCC-modeled dispute resolution process under the Public Service Commission’s 
Pole Attachment Rules. The Public Service Commission’s Pole Attachment Rules require that 
pole owners provide a “detailed, itemized estimate” of make ready charges to attachers. 

11.7 Trench Sharing/Pole Attachment Rules 
The June 16, 2022, Commission Orders adopting and implementing trench sharing rules also 
proposed revisions to the Rules for the Government of Pole Attachments, which Rules appear at 
150 W. Va. C.S.R. 38. The revisions were necessitated by 2021 legislative amendments to the 
Make-Ready Pole Access Act in Chapter 31G, Article 4 of the West Virginia Code. Among other 
things, the amendments require the PSC to promulgate rules to address “abandoned cable, 
conductor, and related facilities attached to utility poles.”  They also require the promulgation 
of rules governing the “timely transfer of facilities from an old pole to a new pole and the 
removal of utility poles that have had electric facilities moved to new poles but continue to have 
other facilities attached in the telecommunications space on the old existing poles.”  Further, 
the amendments require the rules to include “the right and mechanism of the pole owner itself 
to transfer the facilities to the new pole, to remove the old pole, and to recover its costs fully 
and timely from the owner of the facilities transferred.” 

The PSC’s proposed revisions to the Rules for the Government of Pole Attachments are attached 
to the Commission Order, which directs the revised Rules to be filed with the West Virginia 
Secretary of State and promulgated as proposed rules for comment. The Commission Order 
notes that the revised Rules do not enjoy the unanimous support of all members of the Task 
Force with respect to one issue. That issue is whether pole owners are mandated by the 
legislative amendments to the Make-Ready Pole Access Act to transfer abandoned attachments 
or facilities on an old pole.   

The Commission Order notes that PSC staff interprets the amendments to require pole owners 
to make such a transfer, whereas certain telecommunications carriers and utilities on the Task 
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Force read the amendments as being permissive. The PSC accepts the view of its staff, and this is 
reflected in the Commission Order and in the revised Rules for the Government of Pole 
Attachments attached thereto.  

Following the conclusion of the comment periods on the proposed rules, on November 14, 
2022, the Commission adopted the rules proposed in its June 16, 2022 orders without 
modification. 

On August 23, 2024, the PSC established a Task Force to make recommenda�ons for the 
modifica�on of its legisla�ve Rules for the Government of Pole Attachments. The Task Force—
which is comprised of u�li�es, internet service providers, and the West Virginia Broadband 
Enhancement Council and Office of Broadband—was ordered by the PSC to consider issues and 
impediments that cause delays in processing requests for access to a u�lity’s poles, ducts, 
conduits, or rights-of-way, and recommenda�ons to address those issues and impediments. The 
PSC also ordered the Task Force to consider processes for expedi�ng pole atachment disputes 
that may delay broadband deployment projects. 

The Task Force’s ini�al mee�ng occurred on November 20, 2024. Its members discussed the 
possible adop�on of an accelerated pre-complaint dispute resolu�on mechanism similar to the 
FCC’s Rapid Broadband Assessment Team (“RBAT”) process. The members also discussed 
whether electric u�li�es and ILECs might be able to jointly approve a list of engineers and 
outside contractors that are authorized to review proposed pole modifica�ons and perform 
modifica�ons to both the power and communica�ons space and how to best facilitate that 
process. 

Future Task Force mee�ngs will address poten�ally incorpora�ng the FCC’s new requirement 
that u�li�es and pole owners share pole inspec�on informa�on in accordance with 47 C.F.R. 
§1.1411, and poten�ally requiring periodic repor�ng by pole owners to the PSC regarding
compliance with the Rules.

The Task Force will make its final report and recommenda�ons on or before December 16, 2024. 
It is an�cipated that the PSC will revise its Rules to conform with the Task Force’s final report and 
recommenda�ons.     

11.8 Show Cause Petition 
As referenced above, in November 2022, the West Virginia Public Service Commission entered a 
Commission Order in Case No. 22-0885-T-E-SC, a show cause proceeding initiated by PSC staff to 
require Frontier West Virginia, Inc. (“Frontier”) to show cause why the PSC should not prohibit 
Frontier from requiring duplicative pole attachment applications, timelines, and fees.   

The proceeding arose out of telecommunication carrier complaints about the time and cost 
impediments they face attempting to attach to poles that are jointly used by Frontier and 
Monongahela Power Company/Potomac Edison Company (“MP/PE”). These “joint use poles” 
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are subject to a 1988 Joint Use Agreement. The Joint Use Agreement gives Frontier the right to 
license space on the poles to third-parties for the installation of telecommunications facilities, 
including broadband fiber. Frontier and MP/PE required the third-party telecommunication 
carriers to submit applications for attachment to both Frontier and MP/PE, and to pay 
associated costs and fees to both Frontier and MP/PE.  The carriers asserted that this duplicative 
application process, and the duplicative costs and fees, were unreasonable, unnecessary, and 
delayed the efficient deployment of broadband. 

The Commission Order granted staff’s Petition and required Frontier and MP/PE to file a 
proposed new or amended joint use agreement expediting the pole attachment process and 
reducing the costs and fees imposed on third-party attachers. The Commission Order also 
required MP/PE to file with the PSC their policies and procedures for the review of pole 
attachment applications, and it directed Frontier and MP/PE to file with the PSC information on, 
among other things, the number of joint use poles the companies operate. Additionally, the 
Commission Order granted Citynet, LLC’s (“Citynet”) petition to intervene as a third-party 
telecommunication carrier that was prejudiced by the 1988 Joint Use Agreement and Frontier’s 
ineffective responses to Citynet’s pole attachment requests. 

On December 15, 2022, MP/PE filed with the PSC proposed amendments to the Joint Use 
Agreement, amended policies and procedures for the review of pole attachment applications, 
and the pole count information requested by the PSC. 

As noted above, in June 2023, the Public Service Commission approved a Joint Stipulation by the 
electric utility, the ILEC, and several intervening broadband providers which eliminated the dual 
application process, replacing it with a single application to be made to the electric utility, and 
establishing distinct deadlines for steps to be taken by the electric utility in responding to an 
application to attach. 

11.9 Vertical Real Estate Management and 
Availability Act 

In 2020, HB 4015 created a new article of the W. Va. Code, § 31G-1-3; §§ 31G-5-1-4, known as 
the Vertical Real Estate Management and Availability Act, which requires the West Virginia 
Department of Administration to request proposals to manage state-owned Vertical Real Estate. 
“Vertical Real Estate” is defined as towers or other structures mounted on rooftops or other 
prominent places, and any facilities associated with that structure, including ground facilities.  

All funds in excess of management fees will be deposited by the West Virginia Office of 
Technology (WVOT) as follows: 50% to the Technology Infrastructure Reinvestment Fund for 
reinvestment in Vertical Real Estate or other infrastructure supporting broadband on state-
owned property, and 50% to the Broadband Expansion Fund established in § 31G-1-5 and under 
the control of the Council. 
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WVOT is currently researching opportunities and potential relationship links of the vertical real 
estate initiative with other state technology initiatives, such as modernization of the State 
Interoperable Radio Network (SIRN) and the State's Wide Area Network. WVOT hired a 
professional services firm to address the full range of requirements to be completed as part of 
this project.  

11.10 Wireless Technology Business Property 
Valuation Act 

This act of the Legislature created a new article of the West Virginia Code, designated as § 11-
6L-1 et seq. and known as the Wireless Technology Business Property Valuation Act. It provides 
for the valuation of towers constructed or erected between July 1, 2019, and July 1, 2024, that 
host antenna or other equipment used for transmitting cellular or wireless communications 
signals. 

Under this article, for the five years immediately following the tower’s erection, the value of the 
tower is its “salvage value,” or five percent of its original cost. Thereafter, the value of the tower 
is determined in accordance with existing West Virginia Code § 11-6-1 et seq. 

11.11 Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act 
Senate Bill 3 also created a new chapter of the West Virginia Code, designated as § 31H-1-1 et 
seq. and known as the Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act. The Legislature found that 
small wireless facilities, also known as small cells and distributed antenna systems, are often 
deployed most effectively in public rights-of-way. Therefore, this chapter allows wireless 
providers to collocate small wireless facilities and install, modify, or replace utility poles for such 
facilities in public rights-of-way. 

This chapter also sets rates for the occupancy and use of the rights-of-way and provides some 
zoning and permitting guidelines. 

11.12 Establishment of Broadband Cooperatives 
The State of West Virginia also provides a statutory mechanism for residents, businesses, and 
political subdivisions in West Virginia who have no good options for internet service providers to 
create a cooperative association to address their community’s connectivity problems. These co-
ops are authorized to establish a service provider focused on their communities, bond or finance 
the building of infrastructure, and engage in other related activities (W. Va. Code § 31G-2-1 et 
seq.). 

To assist communities considering this option, the West Virginia University Entrepreneurship & 
Innovation Law Clinic has developed a Broadband Toolkit. The Toolkit contains a diagram 
detailing options for broadband network development in West Virginia.  The Broadband 
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Enhancement Council will continue its partnership with the Law Clinic to assist communities in 
the formation of cooperatives. Communities pursuing this option are encouraged to contact the 
Broadband Enhancement Council for additional information.  

11.13 Permitting Microtrenching 
West Virginia Code § 31G-3-1 et seq. establishes the ability of fiber network builders to utilize 
microtrenching in the State of West Virginia, an innovative lower-cost, lower-impact option for 
installing underground fiber facilities. It also requires the installation of vacant conduit when a 
provider is performing microtrenching operations. 

11.14 Nonregulation of VoIP Services 
West Virginia also has legislation clarifying that the Public Service Commission does not have 
jurisdiction over companies that offer Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) telephony services. W. 
Va. Code § 24-2-1(e). 

11.15 Oversight of Cable Franchising 
Cable franchising in West Virginia is subject to licensing by the State or municipality under W. 
Va. Code § 24D-1-1 et seq. The Commission determines the appropriate authority for issuance of 
a license, prescribes the standards for construction, operation, and safe, adequate, and reliable 
service to subscribers. The municipality in which the cable system will be located usually serves 
as the permitting authority.   

11.16 Compatible Use 
West Virginia’s Broadband Enhancement and Expansion Policies Act authorizes broadband 
operators to construct or operate broadband systems over public rights-of-way.  It also 
empowers operators to construct or operate broadband systems through easements within the 
areas to be served by the broadband systems and which have been dedicated for “compa�ble 
uses.” 

The Act defines an “easement dedicated for compa�ble uses” as “a public or private easement 
for electric, gas, telephone, or other u�lity transmission.”  W. Va. Code § 31G-3-4(f).   

In installing and opera�ng broadband facili�es, operators must avoid all unnecessary damage to 
trees, structures, and improvements in and along the routes u�lized. The Act also requires 
operators to indemnify the state, county, or municipality from personal injury and property 
damage claims. 

Where a broadband operator uses easements dedicated for compa�ble uses, it must justly 
compensate the property owner for any damages caused by the installa�on, construc�on, 
opera�on, or removal of broadband facili�es. 
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JOINT COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT AND FINANCE 
(Speaker Hanshaw) 

December 10, 2024 

10:00 a.m. – 11:00 a.m. 

Senate House 
Blair, Chair Hanshaw, Chair 
Nelson (absent) Criss 
Takubo Hornbuckle 
Tarr Householder 
Trump Howell  
Weld Phillips 
Woelfel (absent) Summers 

Speaker Hanshaw: “…a quorum arrives, we'll return to approval of the minutes 

from last month's meeting at that time. Let's go ahead and begin today with our general 

revenue and federal funds report. Mr. Muchow, welcome.” 

Secretary Muchow: “Good morning, I'm Mark Muchow with the West Virginia 

Department of Revenue and today I'm going to talk about November revenues and year-

to-date revenues through the end of November and I first must point out that November 

is a bit of an unusual month, because the last business day for the state in November this 

year was the 27th of November and that affected those taxes that are due at month 

end…and it'll show up in a couple of those taxes as we move on but November as a 

month was a good month for the state's general revenue fund. We collected 400…almost 

$400.5 million dollars…the estimate was $381.6 million, we were $18.8 million above 
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estimate, and roughly equal to the prior year. For the year-to-date, we've now collected 

$2.1 billion, the estimate was $2.095 billion. So, we're $5 million dollars above estimate 

and down a little bit from last year but we were expected to be down from last year due 

to various policy changes that have been implemented by the state. The economy is doing 

quite well. On the sales tax side, sales tax collections for the month of November were 

$170.8 million, that was $5.4 million above estimate, and more importantly five and a half 

percent above last year. So, November so far is our best performing month this year for 

sales tax. Year-to-date, we've collected $719.9 million dollars in sales tax compared to 

the estimate of $714.8 million. That's $5 million above estimate and 2.6% ahead of last 

year, which is basically on track with overall inflation in the economy. Personal income 

tax had a good performance in the month of November. We collected $151.6 million, that 

was $8.3 million above estimate, and 7.7% ahead of last year. The withholding tax 

collections for the month were up nearly eight and a half percent. That followed…October 

was a little bit of a soft month…followed by a very good month in November, 7.7% ahead. 

For the year-to-date, we've collected eight hundred fifty-three and a half million dollars, 

that's $25.2 million below estimate, it's below last year by 9%. Now last year, in the first 

quarter, particularly around September and October, we collected a lot of extra tax dollars 

related to those people who elected to retroactively pay income taxes as businesses for 

pass through entity purposes to take advantage of an enhanced federal tax deductibility. 

So, those folks had to pay an extra year's worth of tax all at once and a lot of that money 

came in in that September-October period. Plus, there's also a few people that file an 

extension that would file income tax returns around September and October who 

reconcile with last year's tax cut….and so, there's a little bit of an activity on that as well. 
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So, that's the reason why we're down 9% year-to-date on income tax. Both the B&O and 

the severance tax are taxes that are due on the last day of each month and as a result, 

you'll see a big drop compared to last year, 54% for the severance tax and 72% for the 

B&O tax. A good part of that is recaptured with extra collections in the beginning of 

December but both were below estimate as well. For the year-to-date, the B&O tax 

actually is pretty much on estimate. The reason why it was below estimate by $3.2 million 

is because of that carryover into December. The severance tax is running below estimate, 

not nearly as much as the $27 million that shows there. For the (…inaudible…) fund 

purposes, year-to-date severance tax is up fourteen and a half percent but overall, 

severance tax, including distributions to local governments, is actually down 18.1%. So, 

we still have a little bit of an impact related to lower energy prices. Natural gas production 

in West Virginia is actually higher this year than last year. In our two neighboring states 

of Pennsylvania and Ohio, natural gas production is down a little bit from last year and 

that's because of low prices for energy. Coal prices are also down this year compared to 

last year…so, that affects the severance tax. The corporate income tax had a great month 

in November. November is not a particularly strong month for corporate collections…it's 

an off month…but we collected $15.6 million. That was about $11 million above estimate 

and 64% ahead of last year. Year-to-date, we’ve now collected $123 million in corporate 

taxes, that's $21.9 million above estimate, compared to last year down about 24%. We 

were expecting a decline in corporate income tax collections following several years of 

rapid increases in that particular area. Insurance premium taxes are doing well. Year-to-

date, we're running about $6 million above estimate, 13.4% ahead of last year, and as I 

mentioned yesterday, not all of the insurance premium tax ends up in general revenue. 
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Some of it goes for various local needs, biggest one of which is volunteer fire 

departments. So, when you see a double-digit increase in insurance tax, this is also a 

double-digit increase in monies for volunteer fire departments that are going on as a result 

of that tax. Tobacco tax, we actually exceeded the estimate in November. We were a little 

bit below last year. We're still below year-to-date on the estimate, $3.9 million and eight 

and a half percent below last year. That's a little weaker than we expected…overall 

numbers there. Interest income, still positive, $1.4 million dollar surplus in November. 

Year-to-date, we're up $31.6 million compared to estimate. Year-to-date, we're only 2.1% 

ahead of last year. As we get into the second half of this year, you'll notice that the interest 

income estimates get a lot smaller in the second half of the year. That's because as 

interest rates come down, we will see less interest income coming into the state treasury 

and that's already underway right now. That's the General Revenue Fund.  

The State Road Fund was also affected by the fact that November ended on the 

27th. The motor fuel excise tax is due on the last day of the month and as a result we 

only collected $11.4 million in November. That was 29% below last year, and $19 million 

below estimate. Year-to-date, we're about $14 million below estimate, and 11.1% below 

last year. We should be right on estimate by the end of this fiscal year, but we will be 

below last year's collections because last year we had an extra 1 1⁄2 cent motor fuel tax 

related to pricing. That came off at the beginning of January, and that over a whole year 

period of time is worth about $20 million dollars or so to the State Road Fund. Registration 

fees, we're $2.3 million below estimate in November. Year-to-date, below estimate by 

about $6.7 million. We are ahead of last year by 9.9% on registration fees. Motor vehicle 

sales tax continues to do well. In November, it was down 8.8%, but again, timing may be 
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involved there. Year-to-date, it's up eight and a half million compared to estimate, and 

4.3% ahead of last year…so, that's very positive there…and then the miscellaneous year-

to-date, compared to last year it is down $168.7 million, but $150 million of that is due to 

a one-time transfer from general revenue that occurred last year. If you take it out of the 

equation, it's not down nearly as much. Federal reimbursements come at various time 

frames and for the month of November it was way off of estimate. For year-to-date, we're 

down 15.1%, but it ebbs and flows, and by the end of December, the total amount of 

federal reimbursement will be probably equal to what we have averaged in recent years. 

So, we're certainly doing well on federal reimbursements. It's just the timing, again, is off 

a little bit from…partly because of that November 27th month end date. So, if there's any 

questions you might have, I'll take the questions.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “All right, thank you, Mr. Muchow. Let's start with the 

gentleman from the 12th, Delegate Criss, is recognized.” 

Delegate Criss: “Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mark, on the license and registration 

fees, are we back to above pre-COVID numbers now?” 

Secretary Muchow: “We…we're not. We’re still—” 

Delegate Criss: “We're still lagging behind because of COVID, do you think?” 

Secretary Muchow: “Somehow, we've never quite come back. We're collecting 

about 90% of what we used to collect prior to COVID. It's about a thirteen to fifteen million 

dollar gap.” 

Delegate Criss: “Okay, all right, thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.” 
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Speaker Hanshaw: “All right. The gentlemen from Putnam, Senator Tarr, is 

recognized.” 

Senator Tarr: “Thank you, Mr. Speaker. I want to make sure I didn't misunderstand 

something. The way I heard it is that our corporate net income tax collections are down 

to a timing issue?”  

Secretary Muchow: “No, the corporate income tax collections are down because 

one of our big sectors, in terms of profitability, is energy. When energy prices are high, 

profits are high. When energy prices go down, profits get squeezed, so we've seen a little 

bit of an effect there. Plus, various federal policies, although those policies haven’t…have 

not been extended recently, there's federal policies that come into play that would also 

weigh in on the corporate collections over time but we…we were projecting a bit of a lower 

result there. We had…sometimes, when things go up very rapidly, they're prone to come 

back down, and the last three or four years, corporate income taxes have shot way up. It 

was time for a bit of a correction there, so that's what we have, and it's not unusual. I'd 

say about half of the states in the United States are seeing something similar to this.” 

Senator Tarr: “So, and you mentioned a strong economy. So, one of the things 

that I usually look at on these numbers, and trying to figure out what we have ahead of 

us, is looking at the personal income, or excuse me, the sales tax collections, and that 

corporate net, and B&O…because all of those are indicators, one, about the people's 

willingness to spend, and also corporate earnings…and so, B&O taxes are down greatly, 

corporate net income taxes are down greatly, and sales tax collections are just a little bit 

below CPI. So, tell me your reasoning for the economic growth, you're being very 

optimistic about that. I'm optimistic coming into this new presidential election for things 
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that'll change, but all those indicators from a person who owns businesses, put alarm 

bells in my ears.” 

Secretary Muchow: “Well, on the…first of all, the employment levels are very 

consistent in West Virginia. We have near record low unemployment. The overall 

employment numbers have been steady, and actually increased a bit this year, and so… 

they're moving up. The biggest factor there is labor force supply and availability. 

Consumer spending is still there but spending has shifted away a little bit from goods. We 

had strong goods spending during the post-COVID period. It's shifting more to services. 

Certainly, we're spending more on insurance premiums for homes and automobiles. 

That's a subject of a separate tax, insurance premium tax. We're spending more on 

healthcare and other areas. So, as you spend more on the non-taxable areas, it causes 

a shift in the sales tax. The sales tax numbers for West Virginia actually are relatively 

good compared to some other states. A number of states have seen sales tax growth 

almost nil recently and part of that is a rollback of inflation. As there's downward pressure 

on inflation, it's going to pull down those growth rates on the sales tax. B&O tax, I will 

disagree, that's really not a good indicator of consumer activity. The bulk of the B&O tax 

comes from electric power generation and it's a fixed tax. It does not respond to changes 

in economic activity. Now, what does respond would be water utility rates and natural gas 

utility rates. That's where the growth would be if there's growth in the B&O tax, but those 

are much smaller shares of that tax. Corporate tax, it has it…it does its own thing. It's not 

a broad enough tax to tell me whether my economy's healthy or not economy…or not 

healthy. I would look more at the personal income tax, the sales tax, and the insurance 
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tax as items to indicate health of the state's economy rather than the corporate income 

tax by itself, or certainly not the B&O tax.” 

Senator Tarr: “So, on the B&O tax, (…inaudible…) energy, it's on gross, correct?” 

Secretary Muchow: “It's the bulk of the tax. What do we got? We got about 

118…$119 million a year…oh… I may be off a little bit but about $80 million of that's going 

to be electric power generation tax, and electric power generation tax is based on taxable 

capacity. So, unless we build new power plants that are subject to tax, that has no growth 

in it, it's stable. The variation in tax from year to year relates to tax credits. There's an 

investment tax credit for investment in electric power generation facilities, and there's also 

a tax…a low-income utility tax credit for those people that are on LIHEAP and other 

related programs. If the power company charges less than the going rate for those people, 

they can make it up through a tax credit on state return. So, that comes into play a little 

bit as well but the tax, especially on the old coal-fired power plants, that was established 

back in the 1990s, an average four-year period to give us taxable capacity, and we've 

been frozen at that level ever since, with the exception of a couple years ago, we enacted 

legislation that allowed certain coal-fired power plants to electively reduce their taxable 

capacity to…I believe…I think it's 40, either 40 or 45% of net plate capacity, and 

that’s…some folks did do that and that lowered their tax a little bit. Plus, there was also 

another bill that removed a large coal-fired power plant from the tax base but for the most 

part, that tax never grows. Back in the early 90s, it was probably about 180…$190 million 

a year, and now it's down to about $118 million a year. You will not see any substantial 

growth in that tax. It actually stays about the same.” 
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Senator Tarr: “Okay. So then, going across on the corporate net piece of it, you 

don't feel that that's broad?” 

Secretary Muchow: “There's probably 50 corporations that pay the bulk of that 

tax.” 

Senator Tarr: “What sectors are they in?” 

Secretary Muchow: “Finance, energy…some of them are basically Fortune 500-

type entities…and we have changed the tax base a little bit in that we went to a single 

sales factor just a couple years back. So, if you're a manufacturer in West Virginia, and 

most of your sales…(inaudible)…most of your sales are out-of-state. You're taxed on the 

proportion of sales that are in the state of West Virginia, and for some manufacturers, 

that's very close to zero. So, that basically removes a large part of that sector from a 

significant amount of income tax. So, it's going to be technology companies, finance 

companies, holding companies of various sorts, and some energy-related concerns that 

are involved in that base.” 

Senator Tarr: “Okay, thank you.” 

Secretary Muchow: “And retail, I forgot about retail trade. Retail trade's definitely 

in there.” 

Senator Tarr: “All right, thank you.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “All right, do we have other questions for Mr. Muchow? All 

right. If not, Mark, thank you very much. We appreciate it. 
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Chair notes for the record the arrival of a quorum. So, let's return now to approval 

of the minutes of the November 12th, 2024, meeting of this committee. Those minutes 

are in the members' packets for inspection. We've had some time here. Are there 

questions from any of the members about that draft? If there are no questions, Chair 

recognize President Blair.” 

President Blair: “Mr. Speaker, I move the minutes from the November the 12th, 

2024, meeting of Joint Committee on Government and Finance as contained in the 

members' packets be approved.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “The question is on the motion that the draft set of minutes for 

the November 12th, 2024, meeting of the committee be approved as distributed. Those 

in favor of the motion will please say aye, those opposed, please say no. The ayes have 

it, that motion is adopted, those minutes are approved. Let's go ahead now and move on 

to the Broadband Loan Insurance Program. Welcome, sir.” 

Chris Carney: “Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the committee. My name 

is Chris Carney. I'm a research manager for the Performance Evaluation and Research 

Division. Just bear with me for one second, please. Excuse me, Adam? Do you know how 

to get this set up? 

Okay, apologies. This report is a compliance review of the Broadband Loan 

Insurance Program administered by the West Virginia Economic Development Authority 

pursuant to West Virginia Code. The objective of this review was to determine if 

procedures, accounting practices, and internal controls for the program comply with 

statute. 
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In this review, PERD found that the authority is mostly in compliance with statutory 

requirements related to the program. The Broadband Loan Insurance Program, or BLINS, 

was established in 2021 to help expand broadband service to unserved or underserved 

areas in West Virginia. The authority is statutorily authorized to provide up to $80 million 

dollars in loan insurance to financial institutions as a means to encourage them to provide 

loans to internet service providers for qualified projects that they would otherwise not 

make because of the risks. 

As of December 2022, 22% of the state's broadband serviceable locations are 

unserved, while 3% are underserved. A serviceable location may be a residential 

structure or a business. For many years, the Federal Communications Commission, or 

FCC, defined broadband service as internet access with a download speed of at least 25 

megabytes per second because it allowed users to receive high quality data, graphics, 

voice, and video telecommunication. 

However, as of March 14th, 2024, the FCC raised its benchmark for high-speed 

fixed broadband service to download speeds of 100 megabytes per second and upload 

speeds of 20 megabytes per second. The West Virginia Office of Broadband defines an 

unserved location as a serviceable location where internet service is below the download 

speed of 25 megabytes per second, and an underserved location as having speeds above 

25 megabytes per second, but below 100 megabytes per second. Figure one on page 12 

of the report shows a map created by the Office of Broadband that indicates the 

location…locations where the current BLINS projects are taking place. 

It may be difficult to see, but each color-coded dot represents a broadband 

serviceable location, business or residential, associated with a particular BLINS project 

80

80



in unserved or underserved areas in the state. Each colored dot is representative of one 

of the six internet service providers associated with the 12 current BLINS projects, which 

can be located in one or more counties. There are two types of broadband loans available 

to be insured by the authority, the traditional broadband loan insurance and the Rural 

Digital Opportunity Fund Broadband Insurance Program, or RDOF. Under traditional 

broadband loan insurance, the authority may insure up to 80% of a bank loan for a 

broadband expansion project which may not exceed $20 million dollars for a single project 

and can be insured for up to a maximum of 20 years. As of June 30th, 2024, the authority 

committed over $48 million dollars to insure loans for traditional BLINS projects. A RDOF 

project is a federally funded broadband expansion or enhancement program that may be 

insured up to 100% of a bank-issued loan for a BLINS project. 

Again, a single project may not exceed $20 million dollars and can be insured for 

up to 20 years. As of April 29th, 2024, the authority committed a little over $32 million 

dollars to insure loans for these projects. The committed funds for BLINS projects are 

held in reserve accounts controlled by the authority and a withdrawal can only be made 

in the event that an internet service provider defaults on a loan insured by the authority. 

To date, no internet service provider has defaulted on a BLINS loan. PERD 

determines that there are two main components to the statutory requirements listed in 

West Virginia Code for the authority to adhere to. They are the financial management of 

the BLINS program and the transparency of the program. The financial management 

procedures and accounting practices are intended to minimize the state's risk of losing 

funds due to internet service providers defaulting on loan agreements. Where the 

transparency of the program is important to keep the public informed and to observe the 
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program's progress. PERD found that the authority has established and practices 

adequate procedures, accounting practices, and internal controls that provide reasonable 

assurance that insured projects have been properly vetted and loan payments are 

monitored. However, PERD found that the authority does not document its analysis using 

its determination to approve or deny a BLINS loan as required. Nor does it provide all 

required information in its quarterly and annual reports. Required information to be posted 

on its website is incomplete and hard for the public to locate. Nevertheless, in the 

agency's response to the report, the agency agrees, the authority agrees with the findings 

of the report and stated that it is in the process…progress of complying with all 

recommendations.  

PERD recommends that the authority should develop documentation and provide 

explanation as to why a BLINS loan application should be approved or denied. Also, the 

authority should remove the contradiction in its policies and procedures document. It 

states that the authority may provide loan insurance if an internet service provider has 

defaulted on a loan issued by the authority. The law does not allow this. The authority 

indicates that it has removed the contradictory statement in its policies and procedures. 

The authority should publish all required information on its website where it is easy for the 

public to locate and ensure that all required information is included in quarterly and annual 

reports to the legislature and governor. Thank you, this concludes my presentation. I'll be 

happy to answer any questions at this time.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Thank you, Mr. Carney. Before we take questions, let’s first 

see if we have anyone from the agency who'd like to respond to the findings.” 

Steve Webb: “Good morning, Mr. Speaker.” 
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Speaker Hanshaw: “Welcome, sir.” 

Steve Webb: “Good morning, sir, members of the committee. I'm Steve Webb, I'm 

the Associate Director of the West Virginia Economic Development Authority. I do not 

have those findings with me, but I will tell you that we have since…we had a different way 

of presenting broadband loan insurance than we did our other programs, and we have 

since instituted a summary and review document that requires documentation that the 

lender has reviewed the financial implications and status of the applicants prior to 

approval. They had been doing a review and they would not take it to our board without 

a review, but I agree with the legislative auditor's office that we do not have that 

documented. So, we do now have a summary and review documentation sheet that will 

be attached to each one moving forward. 

The conflict in terms in our policies and procedures was the omission of the word 

“not” in a sentence at the top of one page, and it was required to be in the…in the…it was 

just an omission. So, we've gone back, we've amended that, we took it to our board for 

approval and review at the November meeting and they've approved it. We now have our 

policy and procedure in full compliance with the statute. 

 Chris, what am I missing here? The website. So, we do have public information 

sheets that are attached to our website for each approval of any financial facility but they 

are all grouped together on one section of the website and I will agree it's a little bit difficult 

to navigate to from time to time. So, what we're doing in that…we're working with our 

website designer now…is setting up a separate tab, so to speak, under the broadband 

loan insurance tab where we will have each one of these approvals documented as to the 

public information that we're allowed to release under our statute, and those will be readily 
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available and easily accessed at that point in time. I don't believe that we have anything 

that we have not addressed. I would like to thank the legislative auditors for their 

cooperation and assistance in improving the efficiency of our operation, and I look forward 

to future reviews. We think it's been very helpful.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Thank you, Mr. Webb. Questions of Mr. Webb or Mr. Carney? 

Delegate Summers.” 

Delegate Summers: “Thank you, Mr. Speaker. You said that you attach a 

summary to the loan approval or how you decide to do something, but what seems to 

be…what I'm curious about is do you have the rubric that you set up on how you decided 

who could or couldn't get the loan? Not just you pick them…so, we're always trying to 

avoid any appearance of favoritism or cronyism that we picked…we gave these loans 

based on certain metrics.” 

Steve Webb: “Right, that's a good question, and our program is open to any 

internet service provider in the state of West Virginia that has been qualified by the Office 

of Broadband…which is under the Department of Economic Development, a separate 

agency…as being qualified to apply and to implement their broadband project. We do not 

discriminate on any applicant. What we do look at is the bank's underwriting, which 

includes full financial underwriting, just as they would for any commercial loan, more or 

less. We also take a look at…we get a letter of confirmation that it is in an unserved or an 

underserved community in the state of West Virginia from the Office of Broadband. We 

do a fairly detailed financial analysis in regard to performance metrics, such as net profit 

and cashflow coverage and those sorts of things. We also look at their liquidity ratios and 

their leverage ratios to make sure that they're not overly extended before we consider 
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that. We apply equal review across any applicant. We do not pick one over the other. We 

do not decline or approve them as the loan officer. That is the responsibility of our board. 

We present our findings to the board and the board makes the determination on whether 

or not that is approved. To date, we have not found cause to deny that for anyone in the 

state of West Virginia, any of the internet service providers.” 

Delegate Summers: “All right, thank you.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Gentlemen from the 12th, Delegate Criss.” 

Delegate Criss: “Yes, Mr. Carney, did the office respond to you on these 

recommendations in writing?” 

Chris Carney: “Yes.” 

Delegate Criss: “Okay, so they can be part of your presentation or a follow-up to 

your presentation?” 

Chris Carney: “You're referring to the agency's response?” 

Delegate Criss: “Yes.” 

Chris Carney: “Yes, it's included in the report.” 

Delegate Criss: “Okay. All right, thank you.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Other questions for our presenters today? All right, if not, 

men, thank you very much. All right, we have the financial audit from Highways and 

Transportation. Mr. Lambert available today? Yes, sir, I see you now. Welcome, Chris.”  
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Chris Lambert: “Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Speaker, Mr. President, members of 

the committee. My name is Chris Lambert, I'm an audit partner with Suttle & Stalnaker. 

We have prepared the audit of the Department of Highways for this year. I see someone's 

passing out some books there. So, if you want to follow along in the books…so, our 

auditor's opinion is on pages three through five. The one that says the audited financial 

statements for the year ending June 30th, 2024.  

So, on page three through five is our auditor's report. This is kind of what belongs 

to Suttle & Stalnaker, the rest of it is the Department of Highways financial statements, 

they're responsible for them. We're responsible to give an opinion that they are fairly 

stated, and we do that in the second paragraph on page three…and I won't read it all, but 

basically, we say that the statements are correct. You know, there's three more pages of 

stuff we went through, I won't go through all that. If we're kind of going to talk about the 

highlights of the audit, or the highlights of the financial statements, if you want to turn to 

page nine, is the statement of net position, so your balance sheet, the assets they have, 

the liabilities they owe, and the net position, which is the difference. You see assets are 

up about $500 million, most of that being in capital assets, more roads, and bridges. 

Liability's going down by about $500 million…or $200 and some million for paying down 

debt as scheduled.  

Turning over to page 10 is your statement of activities, your income statement. So, 

the Department of Highways took in, revenues increased by about $308 million dollars, 

or 16.76%, from $1.84 billion to $2.15 billion. The two major drivers of this were the 

intergovernmental transfer, the extra money that you all transferred to highways for 

paving, and also the increase in the federal aid of about $150 million as well. So those 
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are the big increases in revenue. Expenses are also up about $200 million there, about 

15%. Maintenance is down. Some of that is timing of when they got the money, the 

additional 150 to pave. Some of it is…construction is up one hundred and some million 

dollars there, so we built more bridges and roads last year than the year before…and 

then G&A is up $140 million there, or $110 million I mean. So, a lot of that's related to 

salaries, benefits, inflation, purchase of some equipment. 

So, those are kind of the highlights of the numbers. Should we get into what we, 

you know, I guess the areas that we found there were some problems with. We have 

three findings in the back of this book, and those start on page 64. So, we have three 

findings this year, three material weaknesses. That is down from the prior year when we 

had five. All these three that are listed here are repeat findings from prior years. We talk 

about the first one…there on 64 is the land. We don't have a complete inventory of land 

that they own, and that goes back, you know, 100 years. This isn't new stuff but we don't 

have a complete list of that. They've been working on it but they are not complete. The 

second one there on 65, page 65 and 66 is technology items. So, they could use some 

improvement in taking people out of the system, terminating employees, taking away 

rights and things so that, you know, they aren't potentially hacked, or people don't come 

into the system later…and then on 67, the one on capital assets. So, there were some 

things that, you know, were misaccounted for as maintenance versus, you know, capital 

assets. So, there…so, three findings. We did get rid of a couple. So, that's kind of really 

quick going over the audit and I have another report, but I don't know if you want to ask 

questions on this before I move on or if you'd like me to just move on.” 
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Speaker Hanshaw: “Let's pause right there, Mr. Lambert. Questions on what 

we've heard so far? Okay if not, let's continue.”  

Chris Lambert: “All right, so the other booklet you have is probably thinner than 

the one, the first one, is our report to the Joint Committee. So, this is a required 

communication, and the required communications start on page four and they go to page 

six. These are required by our professional standards as auditors to communicate to 

those charged with governance. Your…this committee and the legislature. Here's where 

we would lay out…we lay out our responsibilities…we lay out that the Department of 

Highways adopted a couple of new accounting rules, they were required to. They were 

new GASBs that the state implemented. We didn't have any difficulties. We lay out that 

we didn't have any disagreements with management. So, we would lay out issues here 

or problems. We didn't have any per se of those things. We also have attachments of the 

estimates and the journal entries. I will say that we have like two pages of journal entries, 

page eight and page nine. We are down significantly from the prior year, so that's a good 

thing.  

Turning over to…so, then we have our communication regarding material 

weaknesses and significant deficiencies on page 11. We're starting on page 11. So, the 

first three things in this letter are the land, the information systems, and the capital assets. 

The three findings that we were required to put in the financial statements as findings. 

So, they're there, but they're also duplicated here again as required by this letter and then 

there are about 19 suggestions for improvement after that and most of these are repeat 

findings. We are down from the prior year report. We had about 25 last year, so we're 

down to 19. So, we did make some improvement there as well. They relate to a lot of, you 
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know, we were missing approval on this, or this wasn't done on time or, you know, so…we 

took samples and did different tests, and we would be missing one out of 25 or this or 

that. So, a lot of…you can read through those, but I won't go through each of them, but 

that's kind of the highlights of this audit.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Okay, thank you very much. Now, questions from any of our 

members? Delegate Criss.” 

Delegate Criss: “On the change that we did some time back on personnel and 

eliminating the Office of Personnel being involved in the Department of Highways, have 

you seen through your audit that…I noticed that you had several items here about 

employees’ purchasing cards and that type of thing…are you seeing a trending down of 

problems that have arised before through the Office of Personnel now that they have 

correct opportunities to hire their people without interference?” 

Chris Lambert: “I don't know that I can answer that question 100%. In general, I 

think there was improvement this year. I'm not sure if that's the real reason or not.” 

Delegate Criss: “All right, thank you.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Other questions? If not, Mr. Lambert, thank you very much.” 

Chris Lambert: “Thank you.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “All right, we have a presentation next from the Department 

of Transportation, the Division of Highways. Mr. Secretary? Welcome, sir.” 

Secretary Wriston: “Thank you. I'm Jimmy Wriston, Secretary of the Department 

of Transportation. Mr. Muchow basically gave a very broad, very accurate, good report of 
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the federal funding and state funding for the department. I'm not sure I can add anything 

to that other than ask for questions.” 

Secretary Wriston: “Okay. Secretary Wriston is available for questions on either 

what we just heard or Mr. Muchow’s report. Oh, yes, Senator Trump.” 

Senator Trump: “Thank you, Mr. Speaker. It may be a little off topic, but Secretary 

Wriston, let me ask you this. When we did…and the voters ratified the Governor's Roads 

to Prosperity Amendment, shortly after that…we realized that we were having some 

difficulties getting highways staffed up with people necessary to do the work we wanted 

to have done. Where does all that stand now? How is your department staffed?” 

Secretary Wriston: “I actually think we're in very good shape. We're very close to 

what I would call right sized for the agency. I would tell you we have pockets in certain 

areas for various reasons where I need specialty people that I don't have. Engineers is 

one thing, but there's an engineer shortage across the country. It's very difficult. We know 

that our enrollment in the engineering schools are down. This is a continuing problem that 

we're going to have to solve. There is also…there is some shortages in other specialized 

areas. You know, there’s…it's hard to get attorneys to work in the public sector. It's hard 

to get financial and accounting folks to work in the public sector. So, it’s…those are 

specialized areas. As far as our transportation workers, I think we're in very good shape 

there. 

For the last four years, we have realized a net gain in our employment. Over time, 

we've had typically 10% attrition every year, and that's a historic percentage…and we've 

actually made gains on that to where we’re…we've actually had net gains in 
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people…getting people in jobs. Just this year, from January to November, we've hired 

more than 800 people, and we've only lost 600. So, we've actually a net 200 gain. So, I 

think we're moving along there. Significantly, of the promotions that happen, you know, 

when people move up and take positions, there is exactly…between the number of 

promotions and then the number of new hires…the difference is exactly four as of right 

now. So, when someone gets promoted, we backfill their position almost immediately. 

So, that difference is exactly four today. So, that makes it very easy to keep moving 

forward and have a succession plan in place for various reasons.  

So, I think we've done very well. Having the flexibility to put our own processes in 

place, to have our own merit system in place, separate from the DOP. The DOP takes 

care of every agency in the state…perhaps but us…and the Department of Transportation 

is very different. It has a very different, a very diverse workforce. We have hourly folks 

that are on the ground, we have professionals, we have semi-professionals, and 

paraprofessionals. It's just a…it’s just a…it's almost a universe into itself and it's a 

challenge to fit into the mold for all of state government for that. So, it was very wise of 

the legislature to allow us that flexibility and to be able to move. We can now hire…from 

a posting...you know, we post a job for 10 days and we can actually get somebody in that 

job in 24 days. So, that's been our goal all along. So, that's been very helpful.” 

Senator Trump: “Mr. Secretary, thank you. Thank you, Mr. Speaker.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Delegate Summers.” 

Delegate Summers: “Thank you, Mr. Speaker. I have a question for you. I live in 

District 4, and we have Pruntytown Correctional Center there. In the past, we utilized 
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corrections for additional road crews. Is there any discussion that that can come back to 

be? I know that we had to stop it because we didn't have…we had the correctional 

shortage, staff shortage, and they weren't there to supervise…is there, if that's not the 

case, is there any way that DOT employees who wanted to could be trained to supervise 

inmates?” 

Secretary Wriston: “Oh, absolutely, we could do that but the system that we had 

before actually worked very well, and we are continuing to do that. Not so much for heavy 

maintenance or routine maintenance, but a lot of facility maintenance. We actually do do 

that with some of the correctional facilities. The issues that brought about the stoppage 

of that, I think have been kind of turned around…you know…we have more correctional 

officers now. I think they have more, but yeah, it's a very efficient way to do a lot of things. 

So yes, we're very open to that.” 

Delegate Summers: “Well, and it also provides employment pathway for inmates 

being released.” 

Secretary Wriston: “Absolutely, and once somebody gets released, it just 

generates me another pool of people to draw from for permanent employees.” 

Delegate Summers: “So, you are starting that practice again or?” 

Secretary Wriston: “We would certainly like to do that.” 

Delegate Summers: “You would like to do that, okay. Thank you.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “Other questions for Secretary Wriston? All right, if not, Mr. 

Secretary, thank you very much.  

92

92



Secretary Wriston: “Thank you.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “For the benefit of the members, we do have the Board of 

Treasury distribution report in all the members' packets available for inspection…and with 

that, do we have other business before today's meeting? Okay, if not, Mr. Chairman or 

Mr. President.” 

President Blair: “I move we adjourn.” 

Speaker Hanshaw: “The question is on the president's motion that the committee 

adjourn this meeting. Those in favor will please say aye, those opposed, please say no. 

The ayes have it, we are adjourned.” 
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WEST VIRGINIA LEGISLATURE 

Office of the Legislative Auditor 

Budget Division      
Building 1, Room 314-West Wing  304-347-4870
1900 Kanawha Blvd. East      
Charleston, WV  25301 

January 02, 2025 

Executive Summary WV Lottery, Unemployment Trust, General Revenue and State Road Fund 

• West Virginia Lottery as of November 30, 2024
Gross profit as of November 30, 2024, was $241.4 million.   Gross profit as of November 30, 2023,
was $243.5 million.

• West Virginia Unemployment Compensation Fund as of November 30, 2024

Total disbursements were $19.4 million higher than in fiscal year 2024.  Overall ending trust fund

balance was $6.6 million higher on November 30, 2024, than on November 30, 2023.

• General Revenue Fund as of December 31, 2024

The general revenue collections ended the sixth month of fiscal year 2025 at 102% of the

estimate for the year.  Total collections were $41.7 million above the estimate for the fiscal

year.

• State Road Fund as of December 31, 2024

The road revenue collections ended the sixth month of fiscal year 2025 at 100% of the

estimate for the year.  Total collections were $168 thousand below the estimate for the fiscal

year.
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WEST VIRGINIA LEGISLATURE 
Office of the Legislative Auditor 

Budget Division

Building 1, Room 304-West Wing   

1900 Kanawha Blvd. East

Charleston, WV  25305-0590 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Honorable Chairmen and Members of the Joint Committee on 

Government and Finance 

From:  William Spencer, CPA 

Director Budget Division 

Legislative Auditor's Office 

Date:  December 18, 2024 

Re: Review of West Virginia Lottery Financial Information 

 As of November 30, 2024 

We performed an analysis of the Statement of Revenues, Expenses 

and Changes in Fund Net Position for November 30, 2024, from 

monthly unaudited financial reports furnished to our office by the 

West Virginia Lottery Commission.  The results are as follows: 

Lottery Revenues: 

Gross lottery revenues are receipts from on-line games, 

instant games, table games and video lottery. These gross 

receipts totaled $524.2 million for July-November of fiscal 

year 2024-2025. Table games accounted for $13.3 million of 

this total. Historic Resort Hotel video lottery accounted for 

$1.9 million of total gross receipts. Gross lottery revenue 

has decreased by $15.8 million or -2.9% when compared with 

July-November of fiscal year 2023-2024. This number does not 

include commission and prize deductions. Gross profit (gross 

revenues minus commissions and prize costs) for July-November 

was $241.4 million; for July-November of last fiscal year, it 

was $243.5 million. Expressed as a percentage, gross profit 

is -0.9% lower for fiscal year 2025 than for fiscal year 2024. 
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Lottery continued 

Page -2- 

Operating Transfers to the State of West Virginia: 

A total of $227,776,000.00 has been accrued to the state of West 

Virginia for fiscal year 2024-2025.  This is on an accrual basis 

and may not correspond to the actual cash transfers made during 

the same time period.  Amount owed to the different accounts 

according to the Lottery Act are calculated monthly and accrued to 

the state; actual cash transfers are often made based upon actual 

cash flow needs of the day-to-day operation of the lottery. 

A schedule of cash transfers follows: 

State Lottery Fund 

Bureau of Senior Services $71,967,000.00 

Community and Technical 

College $2,496,000.00 

Department of Education $12,157,000.00 

Library Commission $9,487,000.00 

Higher Education-Policy 

Commission 

$6,206,000.00 

Tourism $5,837,000.00 

Department of Natural 

Resources 

$3,215,000.00 

Division of Culture and 

History $3,537,000.00 

General Revenue Fund $000.00 

Economic Development Authority $4,999,000.00 

School Building Authority $9,000,000.00 

SUBTOTAL BUDGETARY TRANSFERS $128,901,000.00 
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Lottery continued 

Page -3- 

Excess Lottery Fund 

Economic Development Fund $10,509,000.00 

Higher Education Improvement 

Fund 

$7,500,000.00 

Economic Development Authority $2,195,000.00 

General Purpose Fund $24,897,000.00     

Higher Education Improvement 

Fund 

$11,108,000.00 

State Park Improvement Fund    $576,000.00

School Building Authority $8,820,000.00

Refundable Credit $412,000.00  

WV Racing Commission $1,567,000.00 

WV DHHR $000.00 

Teacher’s Retirement Savings $000.00 

Division of Human Services $17,000,000.00 

WV Lottery Statutory Transfers $23,373,000.00 

Economic Development Authority $000.00 

General Revenue Fund $000.00 

Office of Technology $000.00 

Excess Lottery Surplus $000.00 

WV Infrastructure Council Fund $18,323,000.00 

Total State Excess Lottery 

Revenue Fund $126,280,000.00 

Total Budgetary Distributions: $255,181,000.00 

Veterans Instant Ticket Fund $202,000.00 

Pension Plan $00.00 

TOTAL TRANSFERS *$255,383,000.00 
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Lottery continued 

Page -4- 

* CASH BASIS

Total Accrued last FY 2023: $190,015,000.00 

Total Cash Distributions FY 2024: $255,383,000.00  

Applied to FY 2024: $190,015,000.00 

Applied to FY 2025:  $65,368,000.00

Accrued for FY 2025 as of November 30: $162,408,000.00 
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P.O. BOX 2067 

CHARLESTON, WV 25327 

MEMORANDUM 

(V1R6f/l� 
L07T€� 

JOHN A. MYERS 

DIRECTOR 

TO: Joint Committee on Government and Finance 

FROM: John A. Myers, Director 

RE: Monthly Report on Lottery Operations 
Month Ending November 30, 2024 

DATE: December 17, 2024 

This report of the Lottery operations is provided pursuant to the State Lottery Act. 

PHONE: 304.558.0500 

wvlottery.com 

Financial statements of the Lottery for the month ending November 30, 2024 are attached. Lottery revenue, which 
includes on-line, instant, video lottery sales, table games, and historic resort, sports wagering, and interactive 
gaming was $104,474,994 for the month of November. 

Transfers of lottery revenue totaling $43,193,323 made for the month of November to the designated state 
agencies per Senate Bill 160, Veterans Instant Ticket Fund, Racetrack Video Lottery Act (§29-22A-10), and the 
Racetrack Table Games Act(§29-22C-27). The amount transferred to each agency is shown in Note 12 on pages 
20 and 21 of the attached financial statements. 

The number of traditional and limited retailers active as of November 30, 2024 was 1,506 and 1,174 respectively. 

A listing of the names and amounts of prize winners has been provided to the Clerk of the Senate, the Clerk of the 
House and Legislative Services. 

If any member of the Committee has questions concerning the Lottery, please call me. Also if any members of the 
Legislature wish to visit the Lottery offices, I would be pleased to show them our facilities and discuss the Lottery 
with them. 

JAM 
Attachment 

pc: Honorable Jim Justice, Governor 
Larry Pack, Cabinet Secretary- Dept. of Revenue 
Riley Moore, Treasurer 
J.B. McCuskey, Auditor 
Members of the West Virginia Lottery Commission 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

(In Thousands) 

-Unaudited-

ASSETS 

Current Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Accounts receivable 

Inventory 

Other assets 

Total Current Assets 

Capital assets 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Net Capital Assets 

Net Pension Asset 

Net OPEB Asset 

Total Noncurrent Assets 

Total Assets 

Deferred outflows of resources 

Total assets and deferred outflows 

Current Liabilities: 

Accrued nonoperating distributions to the 

State of West Virginia 

Estimated prize claims 

Accounts payable 

Other accrued liabilities 

Total Current Liabilities 

Deferred inflows 

Net Position: 

Net Investment in capital assets 

Unrestricted 

Total Net Position 

Total net position, liabilities, and deferred inflows 

$ 

November 30, 

2024 

195,257 

38,922 

1,276 

215 

235,670 

65,308 

(24,255) 

41,053 

24 

204 

41,281 

$ 276,951 
======== 

$ ____ 1.:....,4_7 _1_ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

278,422 

162,408 

20,018 

4,843 

29,251 

216,520 

370 
------

41,053 

20,479 

61,532 

278,422 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. 

$ 

June 30, 

2024 

227,763 

38,583 

1,330 

213 

267,889 

63,915 

(23,544) 

40,371 

24 

204 

40,599 

$ 308,488 
======== 

$ __ .....al,"-47_1_ 

$ 309,959 
======== 

$ 190,015 

19,293 

5,104 

33,645 

248,057 

370 

40,371 

21,161 

61,532 

$ 309,959 
======== 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION 

FOR THE FOUR MONTH PERIOD ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2024 
(In Thousands) 

-Unaudited-

CURRENT MONTH YEAR TO DATE 

FY 2025 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2024 

Lottery revenues 

On-Line games $ 5,641 $ 5,541 $ 28,546 $ 45,461 

Instant games 11,382 13,554 64,956 69,125 

E instants 866 881 

Racetrack video lottery 39,567 36,318 199,018 197,435 

Limited video lottery 39,392 39,700 196,568 199,630 

Table games 2,875 2,558 13,266 13,498 

Historic resort 360 526 1,853 3,001 

Sports Wagering 768 453 2,684 2,039 

Interactive Wagering 3,625 2,248 16
!
472 9,807 

104,476 100,898 524
!
244 539,996 

Less commissions 
On-line games 384 391 1,988 3,177 

Instant games 797 949 4,547 4,838 

Racetrack video lottery 21,708 19,926 109,190 108,321 

Limited video lottery 19,302 19,453 96,318 97,819 

Table games 1,223 1,090 5,648 5,751 

Historic resort 191 248 939 1
2
480 

43,605 42,057 218,630 221,386 

Less on-line prizes 2,700 2,765 14,240 22,039 

Less instant prizes 7,781 9,250 44,533 47,259 

Less e instant prizes 683 696 

Less ticket costs 141 161 755 875 

Less vendor fees and costs 871 987 4,010 4
!
935 

12,176 13,163 64,234 75,108 

Gross profit 48,695 45
2
678 241,380 243,502 

Administrative expenses 

Advertising and promotions 551 508 3,252 2,355 

Wages and related benefits 1,605 1,036 5,723 5,140 

Telecommunications 143 73 413 216 

Contractual and professional 1,134 971 5,672 4,492 

Rental 19 17 93 115 

Depreciation and amortization 144 141 711 707 

Other administrative expenses 149 107 766 1,085 

3,745 2,853 16,630 14,110 

Other Operating Income 305 211 2,712 2,739 

Operating Income 45,255 43,036 227
2
462 232,131 

Nonoperating income (expense) 
Investment income 788 1,103 4,368 5,804 

Distributions to municipalities and counties (772) (778) (3,853) (3,913) 

Distributions -capital reinvestment (44) (34) (201) (175)

Distributions to the State of West Virginia {45
2
227} {43,327) (227,776} (233,847}

(45,255} (43,036) (227,462} {232
2
131}

Net income 

Net position, beginning of period 61,532 61,430 61,532 61,430 

Net position, end of period $ 61,532 $ 61,430 $ 61,532 $ 61,430 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
4 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE FIVE MONTH PERIOD ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2024 

(In Thousands) 
-Unaudited-

2025 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Cash received from customers and other sources $ 526,617 $ 
Cash payments for: 

Personnel costs (5,723) 
Suppliers (8,917) 
Other operating costs (281,720) 

Cash provided by operating activities 230,257 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities: 

Nonoperating distributions to the State of West Virginia (255,383) 
Distributions to municipalities and counties (3,872) 
Distributions to racetrack from racetrack cap. reinv. fund (6,483) 

Cash used in noncapital financing activities (265,738) 

Cash flows from capital and related financing acitivities: 
Purchases of capital assets (1,393) 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Investment earnings received 4,368 

Cash provided by investing activities 4,368 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (32,506) 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 227,763 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $ 195,257 $ 

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities: 
Operating income $ 227,462 $ 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to 

cash provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 711 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (339) 
(Increase) decrease in inventory 54 
(Increase) decrease in other assets (2) 
Increase (decrease) in estimated prize claims 725 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (261) 
Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities 1,907 

Cash provided by operating activities $ 230,257 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2024 

544,704 

(5,140) 
(8,276) 

(290,560) 
240,728 

(260,527) 
(3,926) 
(6,186) 

(270,639) 

(288) 

5,804 
5,804 

(24,395) 

288,680 
264,285 

232,131 

707 

1,969 
116 

1,197 
1,514 
(848) 

3,942 
240,728 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

-Unaudited-

NOTE 1 - LEGISLATIVE ENACTMENT 

The West Virginia Lottery (Lottery) was established by the State Lottery Act (Act) passed April 13, 1985, 
which created a special fund in the State Treasury designated as the "State Lottery Fund." The purpose of the 
Act was to establish and implement a state-operated lottery under the supervision of a state lottery commission 
(Commission) and a director. The Commission consisting of seven members and the Director are appointed 
by the Governor. Under the Act, the Commission has certain powers and the duty to establish rules for 
conducting games, to select the type and number of gaming systems or games and to enter into contracts and 
agreements, and to do all acts necessary or incidental to the performance of its duties and exercise of its power 
and duty to operate the Lottery in a highly efficient manner. The Act provides that a minimum annual average 
of 45% of the gross amount received from each lottery shall be allocated for prizes and also provides for 
certain limitations on expenses necessary for operation and administration of the Lottery. To the extent 
available, remaining net profits are to be distributed to the State of West Virginia. As the State is able to 
impose its will over the Lottery, the Lottery is considered a component unit of the State and its financial 
statements are presented in the comprehensive annual financial report of the State as a blended proprietary 
fund component unit. 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

A summary of the significant accounting policies of the Lottery is presented below. 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION - The West Virginia Lottery is a component unit of the State of West Virginia, 
and is accounted for as a proprietary fund special purpose government engaged in business type activities. In 
accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34, "Basic Financial 
Statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments," and with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the financial statements are prepared 
on the accrual basis of accounting which requires recognition of revenue when earned and expenses when 
incurred. As permitted by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 20, 
"Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use 
Proprietary Fund Accounting," the Lottery has elected not to adopt Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) statements and interpretations issued after November 30, 1989 unless the GASB specifically adopts 
such F ASB statements or interpretations. 

The Lottery is included in the State's basic financial statements as a proprietary fund and business type 
activity using the accrual basis of accounting. Because of the Lottery's presentation in these financial 
statements as a special purpose government engaged in business type activities, there may be differences in 
presentation of amounts reported in these financial statements and the basic financial statements of the State as 
a result of major fund determination. 

USE OF ESTIMATES - The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and 
develop assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes to financial 
statements. Actual results could differ from management's estimates. 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

-Unaudited-

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

LOTTERY GAME OPERATIONS - The West Virginia Lottery derives its revenues from four basic types of 
lottery games: instant, on-line, video type games, and table games. The Lottery develops multiple game 
themes and prize structures to comply with its enabling legislation, including aggregate annual minimum prize 
provisions. All bonded retailers and agents comprised principally of grocery and convenience stores serve as 
the primary distribution channel for instant and on-line lottery sales to the general public. 

The Lottery has contracted with a private vendor to manufacture, distribute, and provide data processing 
support for instant and on-line games. Under the terms of the agreements, the Lottery pays a percentage of 
gross revenues or gross profits for the processing and manufacture of the games. 

Revenue from instant games is recognized when game tickets are sold to the retailers, and the related prize 
expense is recorded based on the specific game prize structure. Instant ticket sales and related prizes do not 
include the value of free plays issued for the purpose of increasing the odds of winning a prize. 

Sales of on-line lottery tickets are made by licensed agents to the public with the use of computerized 
terminals. On-line games include POWERBALL®, a multi-state "jackpot" game; Mega Millions®, a multi­
state 'jackpot" game; Cash25 "lotto" game; Daily 3 and 4 "numbers" games; and Travel, a daily "keno" game. 
Revenue is recognized when the agent sells the tickets to the public. Prize expense is recognized on the basis 
of actual drawing results. 

Commissions are paid to instant game retailers and on-line agents at the rate of seven percent of gross sales. A 
portion of the commission not to exceed one and one quarter percent of gross sales may be paid from 
unclaimed prize moneys. The amount paid from unclaimed prize moneys is credited against prize costs. In 
addition, retailers and agents are paid limited bonus incentives that include prize shares on winning tickets 
they sold and a ticket cashing bonus on winning tickets they cash. On a weekly basis, retailers and agents 
must remit amounts due to the Lottery. Retailers may not be able to order additional instant tickets if payment 
has not been made for the previous billing period, while an agent's on-line terminal may be rendered inactive 
if payment is not received each week. No one retailer or agent accounts for a significant amount of the 
Lottery's sales or accounts receivable. Historically credit losses have been nominal and no allowance for 
doubtful accounts receivable is considered necessary. 

Video lottery is a self-activated video version of lottery games which is operated by an authorized licensee. 
The board-operated games allow a player to place bets for the chance to be awarded credits which can either 
be redeemed for cash or be replayed as additional bets. The coin operated games allow a player to use coins, 
currency, or tokens to place bets for the chance to receive coin or token awards which may be redeemed for 
cash or used for replay in the coin operated games. The video lottery games' prize structures are designed to 
award prizes, or credits, at a stipulated rate of total bets played, and prize expense is netted against total video 
credits played. The Lottery recognizes as video lottery revenue "gross terminal income" equivalent to all 
wagers, net of related prizes. Amounts required by statute to be paid to the private and local government 
entities are reported as commissions. WV Lottery statutes have established specific requirements for video 
lottery and imposed certain restrictions limiting the licensing for operation of video lottery games to 
horse and dog racetracks in West Virginia (subject to local county elections permitting the same), limited 
licensed retailer areas restricted for adult amusement, and licensed historic resort hotels as defined by WV 
Code. 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

-Unaudited-

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

The legislation further stipulates the distribution of revenues from video lottery games, and requires any video 
lottery licensee to be responsible for acquiring the necessary equipment and bearing the risk associated with 
the costs of operating and marketing the games. 

Table games are lotteries as each game involves consideration, the possibility of a prize, and their outcome is 
determined predominantly by chance, which the common law of West Virginia has long held are the three 
essential elements of a lottery. Table games are the exclusive intangible intellectual property of the state of 
West Virginia. Table games legislation has established specific requirements for table games and imposed 
certain restrictions limiting the licensing for operation of table games to horse and dog racetracks in 
West Virginia (subject to local county elections permitting the same), and licensed historic resort hotels as 
defined by WV Code. Each licensee as an agent of the Lottery Commission to operate West Virginia table 
games shall have written rules of play for each table game it operates which must be approved by the 
Commission. All wagers and pay-offs of winning wagers shall be made according to those rules of play. For 
the privilege of holding a table games license, there is levied a privilege tax of thirty-five percent of each 
licensee's adjusted gross receipts for the operation of West Virginia Lottery table games. Amounts required by 
statute to be paid to private and local government entities are reported as commissions. The legislation further 
stipulates the distribution of revenues from West Virginia table games, and requires any licensee to be 
responsible for acquiring the necessary equipment and bearing the risk associated with the costs of operating 
and marketing the games. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of interest-earning deposits in 
an external investment pool maintained by the West Virginia Board of Treasury Investments (BTI). The BTI 
pool is a 2a-7 like pool carried at amortized cost which approximates fair value of the underlying securities. 

INVENTORY - Inventory consists of instant game tickets available for sale to approved Lottery retailers and is 
carried at cost as determined by the specific identification method. 

OTHER ASSETS - Other assets consist of deposits restricted for payment of certain Multi-State Lottery 
Association activities and prepaid expenses. 

CAPITAL ASSETS - The Lottery has adopted a policy of capitalizing assets with individual amounts 
exceeding $25,000. These assets include leasehold improvements and purchased equipment, comprised 
principally of technology property, office furnishings and equipment necessary to administer lottery games, 
are carried at cost. Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method using three to ten year lives. 

ADVERTISING AND PROMOTIONS - The Lottery expenses the costs of advertising and promotions as they 
are incurred. 

COMPENSATED ABSENCES - The Lottery has accrued $887,847 and $807,352 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, for estimated obligations that may arise in connection with compensated absences for vacation at 
the current rate of employee pay. Employees fully vest in all earned but unused vacation. To the extent that 
accumulated sick leave is expected to be converted to benefits on termination or retirement, the Lottery 
participates in another postemployment benefits plan. 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

-Unaudited-

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

NET POSITION - Net position is presented as restricted, unrestricted and net investment in capital assets 
which represent the net book value of all property and equipment of the Lottery. When an expense is incurred 
for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available, restricted resources are 
applied first. 

OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES - Operating revenues and expenses for proprietary funds such as 
the Lottery are revenues and expenses that result from providing services and producing and delivering goods 
and/or services. Operating revenues for the Lottery are derived from providing various types of lottery games. 
Operating expenses include commissions, prize costs, other direct costs of providing lottery games, and 
administrative expenses. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating 
revenues and expenses. 

NOTE 3 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

At November 30, 2024 the carrying amounts of deposits (overdraft) with financial institutions were $494 
thousand with a bank balance (overdraft) of $512 thousand. Of this balance $250 thousand was covered by 
federal depository insurance with the remaining balance collateralized with securities held by the State of 
West Virginia's agent in the State's name. 

A summary of the amount on deposit with the West Virginia Board of Treasury Investments (BTI) is as 
follows (in thousands): 

Deposits with financial institutions 

Cash on hand at the Treasurer's Office 

Investments with BTI reported as cash equivalents 

November 30, 2024 

$ 494 

$ 

6,183 

188,580 

195,257 

June 30, 2024 

$ 491 

$ 

4,236 

223,036 

227,763 

The deposits with the BTI are part of the State of West Virginia's consolidated investment cash liquidity pool. 
Investment income is pro-rated to the Lottery at rates specified by the BTI based on the balance of the deposits 
maintained in relation to the total deposits of all state agencies participating in the pool. Such funds are 
available to the Lottery with overnight notice. 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

-Unaudited-

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS 

A summary of capital asset activity for the month ended November 30, 2024 is as follows (in thousands): 

Capital Assets: 

Construction in 

Progress 

Buildings 

Land 
Equipment 

Accumulated 

Depreciation: 

Buildings 
Equipment 

Historical Cost 

At June 30, 2024 

2,812 

48,243 

1,681 

11,180 

$ 63,916 

Historical Cost 

At June 30, 2024 

$ 13,865 

9,679 

$ 23,544 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Additions Deletions 

1,251 

141 

1,392 $ 

Additions Deletions 

512 $ 

199 

711 $ 

NOTE 5-PARTICIPATION IN THE MULTI-STATE LOTTERY 

Historical Cost 

At November 30, 2024 

$ 

4,063 

48,243 

1,681 

11,321 

65,308 

Historical Cost 
At November 30, 2024 

$ 14,377 

9,878 

$ 24,255 

The Lottery is a member of the Multi-State Lottery (MUSL), which operates the semi-weekly 
POWERBALL® jackpot lotto game, the LOTTO AMERICA® game, and the MEGA MILLIONS® jackpot 
game on behalf of participating state lotteries. MUSL is currently comprised of 33 member state lotteries, 
including the District of Columbia and the United States Virgin Islands. MUSL is managed by a Board of 
Directors, which is comprised of the lottery directors or their designee from each of the party states. The 
Board of Directors' responsibilities to administer the Multi-State Lottery Powerball, Lotto America, and Mega 
Millions games are performed by advisory committees or panels staffed by officers and independent 
contractors appointed by the board. These officers and consultants serve at the pleasure of the board and the 
board prescribes their powers, duties and qualifications. The Executive Committee carries out the budgeting 
and financing of MUSL, while the board contracts the annual independent audit. A copy of the audit may be 
obtained by writing to the Multi-State Lottery Association, 1701-48th Street, Suite 210, West Des Moines, 
Iowa 50266-6723. 

Each MUSL member sells game tickets through its agents and makes weekly wire transfers to the MUSL in an 
amount equivalent to the total prize pool less the amount of prizes won in each state. Lesser prizes are paid 
directly to the winners by each member lottery. The prize pool for POWERBALL®, LOTTO AMERICA®, 
and MEGA MILLIONS® is 50% of each drawing period's sales, with minimum jackpot levels. The Lottery's 
revenues and expenses from MUSL games participation for the month ended November 30, 2024 and fiscal 
year-to-date is as follows: 
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NOTE 5-PARTICIPATION IN THE MULTI-STATE LOTTERY (continued) 

Revenues Month Y-T-D

Powerball $ 1,751,219 $ 9,384,813 

Lotto America 565,174 2,563,188 

Mega Millions 1,548,430 7,305,437 

Total $ 3,864,823 $ 19,253,438 

Expenses (Prizes) Month Y-T-D

Powerball $ 879,112 $ 4,711,131 

Lotta America 282,587 1,281,577 

Mega Millions 789,706 3,672,823 

Total $ 1,951,405 $ 9,665,531 

MUSL places a percentage of game sales from each game in separate prize reserve funds that serve as a 
contingency reserve to protect the respective MUSL Product Groups from unforeseen prize liabilities. These 
funds can only be used at the discretion of the respective MUSL Product Group. Once the prize reserve funds 
exceed the designated limit, the excess becomes part of that particular prize pool. Prize reserve fund monies 
are refundable to MUSL Product Group members if the MUSL disbands or, after one year, if a member leaves 
the MUSL. The applicable sales percentage contribution as well as the reserve fund limit for the MUSL 
games is as follows: 

PowerBall 

Required Contribution(% of sales) 2% 

Reserve Fund Cap $132,000,000 

Lotto America 

3% 

$12,000,000 

Mega Millions 

1% 

$110,000,000 

At November 30, 2024, the Lotteries share of the prize reserve fund balances were as follows: 

Game Total Prize Reserve Lottery Share 

Powerball $ 126,758,865 $ 1,137,959 

Lotto America 10,105,444 753,769 

Mega Millions 94,061,097 695,706 

Total $ 230,925,406 $ 2,587,434 

Lottery prize reserves held by the MUSL are invested according to a Trust agreement the Lottery has with 
MUSL outlining investment policies. The policies restrict investments to direct obligations of the United 
States Government, perfected repurchase agreements, and obligations issued or guaranteed as to payment of 
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-Unaudited-

NOTE 5- PARTICIPATION IN THE MULTI-STATE LOTTERY (continued) 
principal and interest by agencies or instrumentalities of the United States Government, and mutual funds of 
approved investments. The average portfolio maturity is never more than one year, except that up to one third 
of the portfolio may have an average maturity of up to two years. The maximum maturity for any one security 
does not exceed five years. 

The interest earned on prize reserve fund monies is used to pay MUSL operating expenses and any amounts 
over and above that are credited to an unreserved fund. The Lottery records this as interest when earned. This 
fund had a balance of$23,197,039 at November 30, 2024, of which the Lottery's share was $215,470. 

NOTE 6 - RACETRACK VIDEO LOTTERY 

The Racetrack Video Lottery legislation stipulates the distribution of racetrack video lottery revenues. This 
legislation has been amended since inception to restate revenue distribution based on revenue benchmarks and 
has been amended again by HB 101 as passed during the first extraordinary session of 2014. For a complete 
summary of the impacts of HB 101, see Note 11 titled "Summary Impact of Recent Legislation." Initially, four 
percent (4%) of gross terminal revenue is allocated for lottery administrative costs. Sixty-six percent (66%) of 
net terminal revenue (gross less 4%) is allocated in lieu of commissions to: the racetracks (46.5%); other 
private entities associated with the racing industry (8.7%); and the local county and municipal governments 
(2%). The remaining revenues (42.8%) of net terminal revenue is allocated for distribution to State as 
specified in the Racetrack Video Lottery Act or subsequent State budget, as described in the Note 11 titled 
"Nonoperating Distributions to the State of West Virginia." 

The first benchmark occurs when the current year net terminal revenue meets the fiscal year 1999 net terminal 
revenue. The counties and incorporated municipalities split 50/50 the two percent (2%) net terminal revenue. 

The second benchmark occurs when the current year gross terminal revenue meets the fiscal year 200 I gross 
terminal revenue. The four percent (4%) is no longer allocated for lottery administrative costs; instead the 
State receives this for distribution as specified by legislation or the State budget. 

The final benchmark occurs when the current year net terminal revenue meets the fiscal year 2001 net terminal 
revenue. At this point a 10% surcharge is applied to net terminal revenue, with 58% of the surcharge allocated 
for distribution to the State as specified by legislation or the State budget, and 42% of the surcharge allocated 
to separate capital reinvestment funds for each licensed racetrack. 

After deduction of the surcharge, 49% of net terminal revenue is allocated in lieu of commissions to: the 
racetracks (42%); other private entities associated with the racing industry (5%); and the local county and 
incorporated municipality governments (2%). 
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NOTE 6 - RACETRACK VIDEO LOTTERY (continued) 

The remaining net terminal revenue (51 %) is allocated for distribution to the State as specified in the 
Racetrack Video Lottery Act or subsequent State budget, as described in Note 12. 

Amounts from the capital reinvestment fund may be distributed to each racetrack if qualifying expenditures 
are made within the statutory timeframe; otherwise, amounts accumulated in the fund revert to the state excess 
lottery revenue fund. 

A summary of racetrack video lottery revenues for the month ended November 30, 2024 and fiscal year-to­
date follows (in thousands): 

Total credits played 

Credits (prizes) won 

Promotional credits played 

Gross terminal income 

Administrative costs 

Net Terminal Income 

Less distribution to agents 

Racetrack video lottery revenues 

$ 

$ 

Current Month 

2025 

467,985 $ 

(420,809) 

(7,609) 

39,567 

(1,583) 

37,984 

(21,708) 

16,276 $ 

2024 

432,197 

(389,198) 

(6,681) 

36,318 

(1,453) 

34,865 

(19,926) 

14,939 

Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 

$ 2,385,718 $ 2,327,830 
(2,146,615) (2,094,217) 

(40,085) (36,178) 

199,018 197,435 

(7,961) (7,897) 

191,057 189,538 

(109,190) (108,321) 

$ 81,867 $ 81,217 

A summary of video lottery revenues paid or accrued for certain state funds to conform to the legislation as 
follows (in thousands): 

Current Month Year-to-Date 

State Lottery Fund $ 11,395 $ 57,317 
State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund 4,881 24,550 
Capital Reinvestment Fund 

Total nonoperating distributions $ 16,276 $ 81,867 

NOTE 7 - LIMITED VIDEO LOTTERY 

Limited video lottery legislation passed in 2001 has established specific requirements imposing certain 
restrictions limiting the licensing for the operation of limited video lottery games to 9,000 terminals placed in 
licensed retailers. These licensed retailers must hold a qualifying permit for the sale and consumption on 
premises of alcohol or non-intoxicating beer. The Lottery has been charged with the administration, 
monitoring and regulation of these machines. The legislation further stipulates the distribution of revenues 
from the limited video lottery games, and requires any licensees to comply with a11 related rules and 
regulations of the Lottery in order to continue its retailer status. The Limited Video Lottery legislation 
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-Unaudited-

NOTE 7-LIMITED VIDEO LOTTERY (continued) 
stipulates that 2% of gross terminal income be deposited into the state lottery fund for administrative costs. 
Then, the state share percentage of gross profit is to be transferred to the State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund. 
This percentage is 50 percent. Two percent is distributed to counties and incorporated municipalities in the 
manner prescribed by the statute. The remaining amount of gross profit is paid to retailers and/or operators as 
prescribed in the Act, and is recorded as limited video lottery commissions in the financial statements. 
Municipal and county distributions are accounted for as nonoperating expenses. 

A summary of limited video lottery revenues for the month ended November 30, 2024 and fiscal year-to-date 
follows (in thousands): 

Total credits played 

Credits (prizes) won 

Gross terminal income 

Administrative costs 

Gross Profit 

Commissions 

Municipalities and Counties 
Limited video lottery revenues 

$ 

$ 

$ 

NOTE 8 - TABLE GAMES 

Current Month 

2025 

521,736 $ 

(482,344) 

39,392 $ 

(788) 

38,604 

(19,302) 

(772) 

18,530 $ 

2024 

520,154 

(480,454) 

39,700 

(794) 

38,906 

(19,453) 

(778) 

18,675 

Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 

$ 2,633,948 $ 2,653,284 

(2,437,380) (2,453,654) 

$ 196,568 $ 199,630 

(3,931) (3,993) 

192,637 195,637 

(96,318) (97,819) 

(3,853) (3,913) 

$ 92,466 $ 93,905 

Table Games legislation passed in 2007 per House Bill 2718. Table games include blackjack, roulette, craps, 
and various types of poker. Each racetrack licensee is subject to a privilege tax of thirty five percent (35%) of 
adjusted gross receipts which will be deposited weekly into the Racetrack Table Games Fund. 

From the gross amounts deposited into the Racetrack Table Games Fund, the Commission, on a monthly basis 
shall: 

Retain 3% of the adjusted gross receipts for administrative expenses of which at least $100,000 and not more 
than $500,000 annually will be transferred to the Compulsive Gambling Treatment Fund. Transfer two 
percent of the adjusted gross receipts from each licensed racetrack to the county commissions of the counties 
where racetracks with West Virginia Lottery table games are located. Transfer three percent of the adjusted 
gross receipts from each licensed racetrack to the governing bodies of municipalities within counties where 
racetracks with West Virginia Lottery table games are located as prescribed by statute. And transfer one-half 
of one percent of the adjusted gross receipts to the governing bodies of municipalities in which a racetrack 
table games licensee is located to be divided equally among the municipalities. The commission will 
distribute the remaining amounts, hereinafter referred to as the net amounts in the Racetrack Table Games 
Funds as follows: 
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NOTE 8-TABLE GAMES (continued) 

1) Transfer four percent into a special fund to be established by the Racing Commission to be used for
payment into the pension plan for all employees of each licensed racing association;
2) Transfer ten percent, to be divided and paid in equal shares, to each county commission in the
state where table games are not located;
3) Transfer ten percent, to be divided and paid in equal shares, to the governing bodies of each
municipality in the state where table games are not located; and
4) Transfer seventy-six percent to the State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund.

The cash transferred to the State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund in the current month is included in Note 12-
Nonoperating Distributions to the State of West Virginia. The table games adjusted gross receipts for the 
month and year ended November 30, 2024 were $8,213,913 and $37,901,965, respectively. The following 
table shows the month and year totals of the privilege tax and the accrued distributions (in thousands) to be 
transferred in the subsequent month: 

Current Month Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 2025 2024 

Table Games Privilege Tax $ 2,875 $ 2,558 $ 13,266 $ 13,498 

Interest on Table Games Fund 20 25 113 130 

Administrative costs (246) (219) (1,137) (1,157) 

Total Available for Distribution 2,649 2,364 12,242 12,471 

Less Distributions: 

Racetrack Purse Funds 185 164 853 867 
Thoroughbred & Greyhound Development Funds 148 132 682 694 
Racing Association Pension Plan 73 65 338 345 
Municipalities/ Counties 817 729 3 775 3,845 

Total Distributions 1,223 1,090 5,648 5,751 

Excess Lottery Fund $ 1,426 $ 1,274 $ 6,594 $ 6,720 
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NOTE 9 - HISTORIC RESORT HOTEL 

In 2009, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 575 which permits video lottery and table games at a licensed 
historic resort hotel which is defined as "a resort hotel registered with the United States Department of the 
Interior as a national historic landmark in its National Registry of Historic Places having not fewer than five 
hundred guest rooms under common ownership and having substantial recreational guest amenities in addition 
to the gaming facility." 

Historic Resort Video Lottery 

According to Senate Bill 575, thirty six percent (36%) of gross terminal income is allocated to Historic Resort 
Hotel Fund and seventeen percent (17%) of gross terminal income is allocated to the Human Resource Benefit 
Fund. The remaining forty-seven percent ( 47%) of gross terminal income is then subject to a ten percent 
(10%) surcharge which is allocated to separate capital reinvestment funds for each licensed historic resort 
hotel. The remaining forty-two and three-tenths percent (42.3%) of gross terminal income is retained by the 
historic resort hotel. 

A summary of historic resort hotel video lottery revenues for the month ended November 30, 2024 and fiscal 
year-to-date follows (in thousands): 

2025 2024 2025 2024 

Total credits played $ 4,853 $ 4,130 $ 19,366 $ 24,327 

Credits (prizes) won (4,521) (3,739) (17,856) (21,998) 

Promotional credits played (69) (86) (274) (429) 

Gross terminal income 263 305 1,236 1,900 

Capital reinvestment (12) (14) (58) (89) 

Excess Lottery Fund (2) (3) (11) (17) 

Administrative costs (14) (17) (67) (103) 

Hotel commissions (111) (128) (523) (804) 

Net terminal income 124 143 577 887 

Historic Resort Hotel Fund 79 91 367 564 

Human Resource Benefit Fund 45 52 210 323 
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NOTE 9 - HISTORIC RESORT HOTEL (continued) 

Historic Resort Table Garnes 

Each historic resort hotel licensee is subject to a privilege tax of thirty five percent (35%) of adjusted gross 
receipts, of which thirty percent (30%) is deposited directly into the Historic Resort Hotel Fund and five 
percent (5%) is deposited directly into the Human Resource Benefit Fund. The historic resort hotel table 
games adjusted gross receipts for the month and year ended November 30, 2024 were $276,365 and 
$1,762,296 respectively. 

The following table shows the month and fiscal year -to- date totals of the privilege tax and the accrued 
distributions (in thousands) to be transferred in the subsequent month: 

2025 2024 2025 2024 

Table games privilege tax $ 97 $ 221 $ 617 $ 1,101 

Administrative Costs (12) (28) (79) (142) 

Total Available for Distribution 85 193 538 959 

Historic Resort Hotel Fund 71 161 450 802 

Human Resource Benefit Fund 14 32 88 157 

Historic Resort Hotel Fund 

Of the monies deposited into the Historic Resort Hotel Fund, fifteen percent (15%) is allocated for lottery 
administrative costs. The remaining Historic Resort Hotel Fund net income 
(gross deposits less 15%) is distributed as follows: 

1) Eighty-six percent (86%) is paid to the State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund;
2) Four percent ( 4%) is paid to the county where the gaming facility is located;
3) Two and one-half percent (2.5%) is paid to the municipality where the gaming fac
4) ility is located as prescribed by statute;
5) Two and one-half percent (2.5%) is divided and paid in equal shares to the remaining municipalities

in the county where the gaming facility is located;20+ 19+
6) +74
7) Two and one-half percent (2.5%) is divided and paid in equal shares, to each county commission in

the state where the gaming facility is not located;
8) Two and one-half percent (2.5%) is divided and paid in equal shares, to each municipality in the

state not already receiving a distribution as described in item five (5) or item six (6) above.

A summary of Historic Resort Hotel Fund revenues and related distributions is as follows (in thousands): 

Historic Resort Hotel Video Lottery 

Historic Resort Table Games 

Interest on Historic Resort Hotel Fund 

Historic Resort Hotel Fund Net Income 

Municipalities/ Counties 

Excess Lottery Fund 

Total Distributions 

$ 

$ 

Current Month 

79 

71 

3 

153 

21 

132 

153 

$ 

$ 

Year-to-Date 

367 

450 

24 

841 

118 

723 

841 
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NOTE 10- SPORTS WA GERING 

Sports Wagering legislation passed in 2018 per Senate Bill 415. Each racetrack and historic resort hotel 
licensee is subject to a privilege tax of ten percent (10%) of adjusted gross wagering receipts which will 
be deposited weekly into the Sports Wagering Fund. 

From the privilege tax deposited into the Sports Wagering Fund, the Commission, on a monthly basis 
shall: 

Retain 15% for administrative expenses of which any surplus in excess of $250,000 shall be reported to 
the Joint Committee on Government and Finance and remitted to the State Treasurer. 

After the reduction for administrative expenses, the net profit shall be deposited into the State Lottery 
Fund until a total of $15 million is deposited. The remainder of net profit shall be deposited into the 
Public Employees Insurance Agency Financial Stability Fund. 

The Sports Wagering adjusted gross wagering receipts for the month and year-to-date periods ended 
November 30, 2024 were $7,680,451 and $26,841,066, respectively. The following table shows the 
month and year-to-date totals of the privilege tax and the accrued distributions (in thousands) to be 
transferred in the subsequent month: 

Current Month Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 2025 2024 

Sports Wagering Privilege Tax $ 768 $ 453 $ 2,684 $ 2,039 

Interest on Sports Waging Fund 7 7 32 33 
Administrative Costs (115) (68) (403) (306) 

Total Available for Distribution 660 392 2,313 1,766 
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NOTE 11- INTERACTIVE WAGERING 

Interactive Wagering legislation passed in 2019 per House Bill 2934. Each racetrack and historic resort 
hotel licensee is subject to a privilege tax of fifteen percent (15%) of adjusted gross interactive gaming 
receipts which will be deposited weekly into the Interactive Wagering Fund. 

From the privilege tax deposited into the Interactive Wagering Fund, the Commission, on a monthly basis 
shall: 

Retain 15% for administrative expenses of which any surplus in excess of $250,000 shall be reported to 
the Joint Committee on Government and Finance and remitted to the State Treasurer. 

In each fiscal year, the Lottery Commission shall deposit one-quarter of a percent of the net profit into 
each of the four special funds established by the Racing Commission, pursuant to §29-22A-10 and §29-
22C-27 to be used for payment into the pension plan for the employees of the licensed racing associations 
in this state. 

After the reduction for administrative expenses and the pension plans for the racing associations, the net 
profit shall be deposited into the State Lottery Fund. 

The Interactive Wagering adjusted gross interactive gaming receipts for the month and year-to-date 
periods ended November 30, 2024 were $24,168,221 and $109,811,871 respectively. The following table 
shows the month and year-to-date totals of the privilege tax and the accrued distributions (in thousands) to 
be transferred in the subsequent month: 

Current Month Year-to-Date 

2025 2024 2025 2024 

Interactive Wagering Privilege Tax $ 3,625 $ 2,248 $ 16,472 $ 9,807 

Interest on Interactive Wagering Fund 50 47 240 231 

Administrative Costs (544) (337) (2,471) (1,471) 

Total Available for Distribution 3,131 1,958 14,241 8,567 

A summary of Interactive Gaming Fund related distributions is as follows (in thousands): 
Current Month Year-to-Date 

Pensions 31 142 

Lottery Fund 3,100 14,099 

Total Distributions $ 3,131 $ 14,241 
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NOTE 12- NONOPERATING DISTRIBUTIONS TO THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA 

The Lottery periodically distributes surplus funds, exclusive of amounts incurred and derived from limited 
video lottery and a portion of racetrack video lottery funds, to the State of West Virginia in accordance with 
the legislation. For the year ending June 30, 2025 the State Legislature budgeted $149,094,042 of estimated 
profits of the Lottery for distributions to designated special revenue accounts of the State of West Virginia. 
With regard to the State Lottery Fund, legislation stipulates that debt service payments be given a priority over 
all other transfers in instances where estimated profits are not sufficient to provide for payment of all 
appropriated distributions. Debt service payments of $1,800,000, $1,000,000, and $500,000 per month for the 
first ten months of each fiscal year currently have such priority. Transfers made pursuant to the State Excess 
Lottery Revenue Fund have similar requirements; currently payments are $6,404,184 per month for the first 
ten months of each fiscal year. In addition, Legislation provides that, if in any month, there is a shortage of 
funds in the State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund to make debt service payments, the necessary amount shall be 
transferred from the State Lottery Fund to cover such shortfall, after the State Lottery Fund debt service 
payments have been made. Repayments to the State Lottery Fund are required to be made in subsequent 
months as funds become available. For the month ended November 30, 2024 the Lottery has accrued 
additional distributions of $162,408,437. The Lottery is a non-appropriated state agency and therefore does not 
have a legally adopted annual budget. 

A summary of the cash distributions made to certain state agencies to conform to the legislation follows (in 
thousands): 

BUDGETARY DISTRIBUTIONS November 30, 2024 Year-to-Date 

State Lottery Fund: 

Community and Technical College $ 499 $ 2,496 

Bureau of Senior Services 8,542 71,967 

Department of Education 1,881 12,157 

Library Commission 1,468 9,487 

Higher Education-Policy Commission 960 6,206 

Tourism 903 5,837 

General Revenue 

Natural Resources 497 3,215 

Fire Protection Fund 

Division of Culture & History 547 3,537 

Economic Development Authority 1,000 4,999 

School Building Authority 1,800 9,000 

Total State Lottery Fund $ 18,097 $ 128,901 
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State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund: 

Economic Development Fund $ 2,102 $ 

Higher F.ducation Improvement Fund 1,500 

Economic Development Authority 439 

General Purpose Account 6,104 

Higher Education Improvement Fund 2,724 

State Park Improvement Fund 141 

School Building Authority 1,764 

Refundable Credit 

WV Racing Commission 188 

Division of Human Services 

WV Lottery Statutory Transfers 5,731 

General Revenue Fund 

West Va. Infrastructure Council 4,357 

Total State Excess Lottery Revenue Fund $ 25,050 $ 

TotalBudgetary distributions: $ 43,147 $ 

Veterans Instant Ticket Fund $ 47 $ 

Total non operating distributions to the 

State of West Vrrginia ( cash basis) $ 43,194 $ 

Accrued nonoperating distnbutions, beginning (160,375) 

Accrued nonoperating distributions, end 162,408 

$ 45,227 $ 

10,509 

7,500 

2,195 

24,897 

11,108 

576 

8,820 

412 

1,567 

17,000 

23,373 

18,323 

126,280 

255,181 

202 

255,383 

(190,015) 

162,408 

227,776 
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WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY 
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-Unaudited-

The Lottery leases, under a cancelable operating lease, its office and warehouse facilities. The Lottery also 
leases various office equipment under agreements considered to be cancellable operating leases. Rental 
expense for the fiscal year-to-date ended November 30, 2024 and November 30, 2023 approximated $93,298 
and $114,533 respectively. 

The Lottery leases office space under the terms of a non-cancellable operating lease to various tenants. Rental 
revenues for the fiscal year-to-date ended November 30, 2024 and November 30, 2023 approximated 
$467,118 and $367,280 respectively. 

NOTE 14 - COMMITMENTS 

For the years ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 the Lottery Commission has not designated any 
unexpended administrative funds for the acquisition of capital assets. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
$5,321,574 and $5,986,994, respectively, are included in unrestricted net position and net investment in capital 
assets for this purpose. 

NOTE 15 - RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

All full-time Lottery employees are eligible to participate in the State of West Virginia Public Employees' 
Retirement System (PERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit public employee retirement 
system. The PERS is one of several plans administered by the West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement 
(CPRB) under the direction of its Board of Trustees, which consists of the Governor, State Auditor, State 
Treasurer, Secretary of the Department of Administration, and nine members appointed by the Governor. 
CPRB prepares separately issued financial statements covering all retirement systems it administers, which 
can be obtained from Consolidated Public Retirement Board, 4101 MacCorkle Ave. S.E., Charleston, West 
Virginia 25304-1636. 

Employees who retire at or after age sixty with five or more years of contributory service or who retire at or 
after age fifty-five and have completed twenty-five years of credited service with age and credited service 
equal to eighty or greater are eligible for retirement benefits as established by State statute. Retirement 
benefits are payable monthly for life, in the form of a straight-line annuity equal to two percent of the 
employee's average annual salary from the highest 36 consecutive months within the last 10 years of 
employment, multiplied by the number of years of the employee's credited service at the time ofretirement. 

Covered employees hired prior to July 1, 2015 are required to contribute 4.5% of their salary to the PERS. 
Covered employees hired on or after July 1, 2015 will contribute 6.0% of their salary to the PERS Tier II. 
The Lottery is required to contribute 10% of covered employees' salaries to the PERS. The required employee 
and employer contribution percentages have been established and changed from time to time by action of the 
State Legislature. The required contributions are not actuarially determined; however, actuarial valuations are 
performed to assist the Legislature in determining appropriate contributions. The Lottery and employee 
contributions, for the month ending November 30, 2024 and fiscal year-to-date are as follows (in 
thousands): 

Employee contributions 

Lottery contributions 

Total contributions 

November 30, 2024 

$ 

$ 

62 

110 

172 

$ 

$ 

Year-to-Date 

237 

416 

653 

22 
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NOTE 16 - RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Lottery is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, or damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Lottery participates in several risk 
management programs administered by the State of West Virginia. Each of these risk pools has issued 
separate audited financial reports on their operations. Those reports include the required supplementary 
information concerning the reconciliation of claims liabilities by type of contract and ten-year claim 
development information. Complete financial statements of the individual insurance enterprise funds can be 
obtained directly from their respective administrative offices. 

WORKERS' COMPENSATION INSURANCE 

The Lottery carries workers compensation insurance coverage through a commercial insurance carrier. The 
commercial insurance carrier is paid a monthly rated premium to provide compensation for injuries sustained 
in the course of employment. 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' INSURANCE AGENCY (PEIA) 

The Lottery participates in the Public Employees' Insurance Agency which provides an employee benefit 
insurance program to employees. PEIA was established by the State of West Virginia for State agencies, 
institutions of higher education, Boards of Education and component units of the State. In addition, local 
governmental entities and certain charitable and public service organizations may request to be covered by 
PEIA. PEIA provides a base employee benefit insurance program which includes hospital, surgical, major 
medical, prescription drug and basic life and accidental death. Underwriting and rate setting policies are 
established by PEIA. The cost of all coverage as determined by PEIA shall be paid by the participants. 
Premiums are established by PEIA and are paid monthly, and are dependent upon, among other things, 
coverage required, number of dependents, state vs. non state employees and active employees vs. retired 
employees and level of compensation. Coverage under these programs is limited to $1 million lifetime for 
health and $10,000 oflife insurance coverage. 

The PEIA risk pool retains all risks for the health and prescription features of its indemnity plan. PEIA has 
fully transferred the risks of coverage to the Managed Care Organization (MCO) Plan to the plan provider, and 
has transferred the risks of the life insurance coverage to a third party insurer. PEIA presently charges 
equivalent premiums for participants in either the indemnity plan or the MCO Plan. Altogether, PEIA insures 
approximately 205,000 individuals, including participants and dependents. 

BOARD OF RISK AND INSURANCE MANAGEMENT (BRIM) 

The Lottery participates in the West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management (BRIM), a common 
risk pool currently operating as a common risk management and insurance program for all State agencies, 
component units, and other local governmental agencies who wish to participate. The Lottery pays an annual 
premium to BRIM for its general insurance coverage. Fund underwriting and rate setting policies are 
established by BRIM. The cost of all coverage as determined by BRIM shall be paid by the participants. The 
BRIM risk pool retains the risk of the first $1 million per property event and purchases excess insurance on 
losses above that level. Excess coverage, through an outside insurer under this program is limited to $200 
million per event, subject to limits on certain property. BRIM has $1 million per occurrence coverage 
maximum on all third-party liability claims. 
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND NET REVENUES OF THE 

LOTTERY FUND AND EXCESS LOTTERY FUND 
FOR THE FIVE MONTH PERIOD ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2024 

(In Thousands) 

Gross Revenues 

Instant games 

On-line games 

E instants 

Racetrack video lottery 

Limited video lottery 

Racetrack table games 

Historic resort 

Sports wagering 

Interactive wagering 

Total gross revenues 

Net Revenues - Lottery Fund and Excess Lottery Fund 

Lottery Fund 
Instant games 

On-line games 

Racetrack Video Lottery 

Sports wagering 

Interactive wagering 

Total Lottery Fund net nevenues 

Excess Lottery Fund 

Racetrack Video Lottery 

Limited Video Lottery 

Limited Video Lottery Fees 

Racetrack table games 

Historic resort 

Total Excess Lottery Fund Net Revenues 

Total Net Revenues 

Current Month 

Actual Projected 

11,382 12,500 

5,641 5,833 

866 

39,567 34,415 

39,392 36,437 

2,875 2,045 

360 457 

768 351 

3,625 1,286 

104,476 93,324 

1,245 1,223 

1,777 1,674 

11,596 9,343 

659 253 

3,100 1,082 

18,377 13,575 

4,959 4,002 

18,825 17,140 

1 

1,426 1,003 

134 174 

25,345 22,319 

43,722 35,894 

FISCAL YEAR 

Actual Projected 

64,956 62,500 

28,546 29,166 

881 0 

199,018 185,590 

196,568 186,403 

13,266 10,449 

1,853 2,113 

2,684 1,633 

16,472 5,849 

524,244 483,703 

6,999 6,115 

8,664 8,371 

58,452 53,539 

2,314 1,265 

14,099 4,922 

90,528 74,212 

24,989 22,932 

94,047 87,684 

1,028 

6,595 5,126 

734 804 

127,393 116,546 

217,921 190,758 
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WEST VIRGINIA LEGISLATURE 
Office of the Legislative Auditor 

Budget Division

Building 1, Room 314-West Wing 304-347-4870

1900 Kanawha Blvd. East

Charleston, WV  25305-0590 

Memorandum 

To:     Honorable Chairmen and Members of the Joint Committee on  
 Government and Finance 

From:   William Spencer, C.P.A., Director, Budget Division 
 Legislative Auditor’s Office 

Date:   January 02, 2025 

Re:  Status of General Revenue Fund and State Road Fund as of 
  December 31, 2024 (FY 25) 

We have read the cash flow of the West Virginia general revenue fund as of December 31, 2024, which is 
the sixth month of the fiscal year. The status of the fund collections for the month is as follows: 

The net collections were 102% of the estimate for the fiscal year.  Total collections were $41.7 million 
above the estimate for the fiscal year. 

Personal Income Tax collections were $13.7 million below the estimate for the fiscal year.  

Consumer sales and use tax collections were $2.1 million above the estimate for the year. 

Severance Tax was $31.9 million below the estimate for the fiscal year. 

Corporate Income and Business Franchise Tax collections were $18.4 million above the estimate for the 
fiscal year.  

State Road Fund 

The state road fund collections were 100% of the estimate for the fiscal year. Total collections were 
$168 thousand below the estimate for the fiscal year. 
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Rainy Day and Personal Income Tax Reserve 

Revenue Shortfall Reserve Fund A (Rainy Day Fund) had a cash balance of $735,279,851.06 as of 
December 31, 2024. 

   Balance July 1, 2024  $ 706,059,828.24 

* Fiscal year 24 Surplus  $ 00.00 

**Loan to General Revenue Fund  $ (78,500,000.00) 

     Loan paid off 09-16-2024  $(78,500,000.00) 

  Earnings/(Loss)  $29,220,022.82 

  Balance December 31, 2024  $ 735,279,851.06 

*No transfer in accordance with SB 1015.

**$78.5 million loan to state General Revenue Fund 7/01/2024 for beginning of the year cash flow, to 
be repaid within 90 days.  Loan was paid off 09-16-2024. 

Revenue Shortfall Reserve Fund B (Tobacco Settlement Monies) had a cash balance of $579,765,834.02 
as of December 31, 2024. 

Balance July 1, 2024   $ 550,104,765.71 

Earnings  $29,661,068.31 

Balance December 31, 2024   $ 579,765,834.02 

The Personal Income Tax Reserve Fund had a $460,000,000.00 cash balance as of December 31, 2024. 

Balance July 1, 2024   $460,000,000.00 

**Loan to General Revenue Fund  $(12,903,957.81) 

  Loan paid off 09-18-2024  $12,903,957.81 

Balance December 31, 2024  $460,000,000.00 
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**Loan 7/01/2024 for beginning of year cash flow, to pay income tax refunds, and is expected to be 
repaid later this year in a similar manner to the funds borrowed from the Rainy Day Fund.  Loan paid 
off 9-18-2024. 
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Office of the Legislative Auditor 

Budget Division

Building 1, Room 314-West Wing 

1900 Kanawha Blvd. East

Charleston, WV  25305-0590 

304-347-4870

To: Honorable Chairmen and Members of the Joint Committee on

Government and Finance 

From:  William Spencer, C.P.A. 

Director Budget Division 

Legislative Auditor's Office 

Date:  December 26, 2024 

Re: West Virginia Unemployment Compensation Trust Fund 

We have reviewed the November 30, 2024, monthly report of the 

Unemployment Compensation Trust Fund we received from WorkForce 

West Virginia.  

As of November 30, 2024, of fiscal year 2024-2025, the trust fund 

cash flow was as follows: 

Trust Fund Beginning Cash Balance 7-1-2024 $  434,053,523.79 

Receipts July 1,2024 thru June 30, 2025 $    156,326,983.88 

Disbursements July 1,2024 thru June 30, 2025 $     166,860,225.32 

Balance November 30, 2024 $  423,520,282.35 
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ITEMS OF NOTE: 

Regular benefits paid for July-November 2024 were $ 9.5 million 

more than July-November 2024. 

Federal emergency benefits totaled $0 for July-November 2024. For 

July-November 2023, federal emergency benefits totaled $0.  

Total disbursements were $19.4 million more in July-November 2024 

than the preceding July-November 2023. 

Receipts as of July-November 2024, were $11.8 million more than in 

July-November 2023. Overall ending trust fund balance was $6.6 

million higher on November 30, 2024, than on November 30, 2023. 

Seasonally adjusted unemployment rates for November 2024 were 4.2 

percent for West Virginia and 4.2 percent nationally. 

Since November 2023, employment has increased by 2,900.  Employment 

increases included 5,700 in private education and health services, 

400 in government, 400 in government, 900 in leisure and 

hospitality, and 1,100 mining and logging. Employment declines 

included 2,500 in trade, transportation, and utilities, 1,000 in 

professional and business services, 100 in construction, 600 in 

financial activities, 100 in other services, 200 in information, 

and 700 in manufacturing. 
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112 California Avenue 
Charleston, WV 25305 

Benefits and Technical Support Section    Unemployment Compensation Division 
1900 Kanawha Blvd., East  Building 3, Room 300     Charleston, West Virginia 25305 

Telephone: (304) 558-3309    Fax: (304) 558-3252 
 

UC TRUST FUND – 2024 

Month Receipts Disbursements Trust Fund Balance 
2023 

Balance 1/1/2023  $               382,161,959 
January $          35,795,306   $             41,052,758 $                376,904,507 
February $          25,495,204 $             33,091,940 $         369,307,771 
March $          17,679,370 $             25,286,212 $                361,700,928 
April $          53,423,465 $         41,376,931 $                373,747,462 
May $         135,614,882 $             83,183,401 $                426,178,943 
June $          14,588,998 $             20,890,953 $                419,876,988 
July $          40,323,764 $             37,362,605 $                422,838,147 
August $          31,593,212 $             30,899,660 $                423,531,699 
September $          13,233,259 $             19,721,305 $                417,043,653 
October $          37,545,497 $             33,067,426 $                421,521,724 
November $          21,846,092 $             26,399,918 $                416,967,898 
December $          16,677,941 $             27,336,411 $                406,309,428 
Totals - 2023 $         443,816,990 $           419,669,520  $                406,309,428 

2024 
January $         41,041,993 $           47,064,592  $                400,286,829 
February $         28,824,885 $           37,422,044  $         389,689,670 
March $         17,566,730 $           29,810,943  $                377,424,125 
April $        127,728,175 $         83,769,711  $                421,382,589 
May $         74,642,045 $           57,199,763  $                438,824,871 
June $         27,730,470 $           32,501,817  $                434,053,524 
July $         48,159,607 $           44,378,281  $                437,834,850 
August $         31,371,798 $           33,149,694 $          436,056,954 
September $         15,204,501 $           23,971,988 $          427,289,467 
October $         35,676,337 $           36,368,037  $          426,597,767 
November $         $         $         
December $         $         $         
Totals - 2024 $         $         $         
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112 California Avenue 
Charleston, WV 25305 

FOR RELEASE: December 18, 2024 
Contact: Andy Malinoski 
Andy.E.Malinoski@wv.gov 
304-553-9305

State Unemployment Rate Unchanged at 4.2 Percent in November 

West Virginia’s seasonally adjusted unemployment rate remained at 4.2 percent in November 2024. The 
number of unemployed state residents was unchanged at 33,400. Total employment declined 1,400 
over the month. The national seasonally adjusted unemployment rate inched upward one-tenth of a 
percentage point to 4.2 percent in November 2024.  

Total nonfarm payroll employment rose 1,700 in November, with gains of 1,400 in the service-providing 
sector and 300 in the goods-producing sector. 

Within the goods-producing sector, a gain of 700 in mining and logging offset a decline of 400 in 
construction. Manufacturing employment was unchanged over the month. 

Within the service-providing sector, employment gains included 1,100 in private education and health 
services, 600 in government, solely in the local sector, 400 in leisure and hospitality, and 100 in 
information.  Employment declines included 400 in professional and business services, 200 in trade, 
transportation, and utilities, 100 in financial activities, and 100 in other services. 

Since November 2023, total nonfarm payroll employment has risen 2,900. Employment gains included 
5,700 in private education and health services, 1,100 in mining and logging, 900 in leisure and 
hospitality, and 400 in government. Employment declines included 2,500 in trade, transportation, and 
utilities, 1,000 in professional and business services, 700 in manufacturing, 600 in financial activities, 
200 in information, 100 in construction, and 100 in other services. 

West Virginia’s not seasonally adjusted unemployment rate inched upward one-tenth of a percentage 
point to 3.7 percent in November.  

The state’s seasonally adjusted labor force participation rate declined one-tenth of a percentage point 
to 54.9 percent in November 2024. 

        Research, Information and Analysis, 1900 Kanawha Blvd. East Building 3  
Suite 300, Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone (304) 558-2660 ~ Fax (304) 558-1343 
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Prelim. Revised Revised
Nov Oct Nov Oct Nov
2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Civilian Labor Force 786.3 787.6 790.5 -1.3 -4.2
 Total Employment 752.9 754.3 756.4 -1.4 -3.5
 Total Unemployment 33.4 33.4 34.1 0.0 -0.7
  Unemployment Rate 4.2 4.2 4.3 xx xx
Labor Force Participation Rate 54.9 55.0 55.2 xx xx

Total Nonfarm 720.0           718.3      717.1      1.7 2.9

Total Private 565.8           564.7 563.3 1.1 2.5

Goods Producing 101.4           101.1      101.1      0.3 0.3
 Mining and Logging 22.6             21.9        21.5        0.7 1.1
 Construction 33.5             33.9        33.6        -0.4 -0.1
 Manufacturing 45.3             45.3        46.0        0.0 -0.7
  Durable Goods 27.2             27.2        28.0        0.0 -0.8
  Non-Durable Goods 18.1             18.1        18.0        0.0 0.1

Service-Providing 618.6           617.2      616.0      1.4 2.6
Private Service-Providing 464.4           463.6      462.2      0.8 2.2
 Trade, Transportation, and Utilities 120.2           120.4      122.7      -0.2 -2.5
  Wholesale Trade 18.5             18.6        19.4        -0.1 -0.9
  Retail Trade 77.1             77.2        78.2        -0.1 -1.1
  Transportation, Warehousing, and Utilities 24.6             24.6        25.1        0.0 -0.5
 Information 7.7 7.6          7.9          0.1 -0.2
 Financial Activities 25.8             25.9        26.4        -0.1 -0.6
  Finance and Insurance 19.0             19.1        19.4        -0.1 -0.4
  Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 6.8 6.8          7.0          0.0 -0.2
 Professional and Business Services 72.4             72.8        73.4        -0.4 -1.0
  Professional, Scientific & Techical Services 30.2             30.4        29.5        -0.2 0.7
  Administrative and Support and Waste Mgmt 35.2             35.3        36.7        -0.1 -1.5
 Private Education and Health Services 141.4           140.3      135.7      1.1 5.7
  Private Educational Services 6.9 7.0          7.1          -0.1 -0.2
  Health Care and Social Assistance 134.5           133.3      128.6      1.2 5.9
 Leisure and Hospitality 72.8             72.4        71.9        0.4 0.9
  Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 9.1 9.0          8.7          0.1 0.4
  Accommodation and Food Service 63.7             63.4        63.2        0.3 0.5
 Other Services 24.1             24.2        24.2        -0.1 -0.1
 Government 154.2           153.6      153.8      0.6 0.4
  Federal Government 26.7             26.7        26.2        0.0 0.5
  State Government 47.2             47.2        48.2        0.0 -1.0
  Local Government 80.3             79.7        79.4        0.6 0.9

NONFARM PAYROLL EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY

WEST VIRGINIA

November 2024
    Change from:

(In Thousands - Seasonally Adjusted)
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2024 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 790,900 790,500 790,500 789,600 789,200 788,700 789,000 788,100 788,300 787,600 786,300
Employment 756,800 756,400 756,200 756,000 756,100 756,000 755,900 755,300 754,900 754,300 752,900
Unemployment 34,000 34,100 34,300 33,600 33,000 32,700 33,100 32,900 33,300 33,400 33,400
 Rate 4.3 4.3 4.3 4.3 4.2 4.1 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2 4.2
Particpation Rate 55.3 55.2 55.2 55.2 55.1 55.1 55.1 55.1 55.1 55.0 54.9

2023 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 779,400 780,100 780,800 781,900 783,300 785,100 786,900 788,600 789,900 790,600 790,500 790,200 785,600
Employment 751,500 752,800 753,800 754,500 754,800 755,200 755,500 755,900 756,200 756,400 756,400 756,300 755,000
Unemployment 27,900 27,200 27,000 27,400 28,500 29,900 31,400 32,700 33,700 34,200 34,100 33,900 30,700
 Rate 3.6 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.6 3.8 4.0 4.2 4.3 4.3 4.3 4.3 3.9
Particpation Rate 54.5 54.5 54.6 54.7 54.8 54.9 55.0 55.1 55.2 55.2 55.2 55.2 54.9

2022 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 777,400 778,700 779,500 779,700 779,400 778,800 778,300 778,000 777,800 777,900 778,300 778,800 778,700
Employment 747,000 748,900 750,000 750,200 749,500 748,400 747,300 746,500 746,400 747,000 748,300 750,000 748,300
Unemployment 30,400 29,700 29,400 29,500 29,900 30,400 31,000 31,400 31,400 30,900 30,000 28,900 30,400
 Rate 3.9 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.9 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 3.8 3.7 3.9
Particpation Rate 54.2 54.3 54.4 54.4 54.4 54.4 54.4 54.4 54.3 54.3 54.4 54.4 54.4

2021 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 771,500 771,600 772,600 773,800 774,800 775,400 774,900 774,300 773,800 774,000 774,800 775,900 788,800
Employment 724,400 725,600 727,400 729,600 731,900 733,800 735,200 736,600 738,200 740,100 742,300 744,600 749,100
Unemployment 47,100 46,100 45,300 44,300 43,000 41,600 39,700 37,600 35,600 33,800 32,400 31,300 39,700
 Rate 6.1 6.0 5.9 5.7 5.5 5.4 5.1 4.9 4.6 4.4 4.2 4.0 5.0
Particpation Rate 53.6 53.6 53.7 53.8 53.9 53.9 53.9 53.8 53.8 53.9 53.9 54.0 54.7

2020 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 797,900 795,900 792,900 759,100 772,900 769,700 772,800 771,500 773,700 772,500 772,300 772,400 792,200
Employment 755,800 753,300 750,400 639,200 676,900 689,000 700,200 708,800 715,400 719,400 721,900 723,300 726,000
Unemployment 42,100 42,500 42,500 119,900 96,000 80,700 72,600 62,700 58,300 53,100 50,500 49,000 66,100
 Rate 5.3 5.3 5.4 15.8 12.4 10.5 9.4 8.1 7.5 6.9 6.5 6.3 8.3
Particpation Rate 55.0 54.9 54.7 52.6 53.6 53.4 53.6 53.5 53.7 53.6 53.6 53.6 54.1

2019 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 793,400 792,500 791,700 791,700 792,300 793,600 795,100 796,500 797,600 798,500 798,900 798,800 798,300
Employment 753,700 753,400 753,400 753,800 754,700 755,800 756,600 757,100 757,700 758,100 758,200 757,500 759,000
Unemployment 39,700 39,100 38,400 37,800 37,600 37,800 38,500 39,300 39,900 40,300 40,800 41,400 39,300
 Rate 5.0 4.9 4.8 4.8 4.7 4.8 4.8 4.9 5.0 5.1 5.1 5.2 4.9
Particpation Rate 54.5 54.5 54.4 54.5 54.5 54.6 54.7 54.9 54.9 55.0 55.0 55.1 54.8

2018 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 788,500 789,900 791,700 793,400 794,500 795,000 794,900 794,600 794,500 794,600 794,700 794,500 793,400
Employment 746,000 747,400 749,400 751,500 753,100 754,200 754,700 754,900 754,800 754,700 754,500 754,300 752,200
Unemployment 42,500 42,500 42,300 41,900 41,400 40,800 40,200 39,800 39,700 39,900 40,200 40,200 41,200
 Rate 5.4 5.4 5.3 5.3 5.2 5.1 5.1 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.1 5.1 5.2
Particpation Rate 53.9 54.0 54.2 54.3 54.4 54.5 54.5 54.5 54.5 54.5 54.5 54.6 54.4

2017 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 782,300 781,900 781,700 781,900 782,800 783,900 785,300 786,400 787,200 787,400 787,400 787,500 783,800
Employment 739,900 741,000 741,800 742,500 743,400 744,300 745,000 745,500 745,700 745,500 745,100 745,000 742,700
Unemployment 42,300 40,900 39,900 39,400 39,400 39,700 40,200 40,900 41,500 41,900 42,300 42,500 41,000
 Rate 5.4 5.2 5.1 5.0 5.0 5.1 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.3 5.4 5.4 5.2
Particpation Rate 53.2 53.2 53.2 53.2 53.3 53.4 53.5 53.6 53.7 53.7 53.8 53.8 53.5

2016 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 789,400 789,400 788,800 787,500 785,900 784,600 783,600 783,000 782,600 782,300 782,000 781,700 785,100
Employment 739,200 739,300 739,000 738,300 737,300 736,300 735,600 735,300 735,400 735,800 736,700 737,800 737,200
Unemployment 50,200 50,100 49,700 49,200 48,700 48,300 48,000 47,700 47,200 46,400 45,300 44,000 47,900
 Rate 6.4 6.3 6.3 6.2 6.2 6.2 6.1 6.1 6.0 5.9 5.8 5.6 6.1
Particpation Rate 53.4 53.5 53.4 53.4 53.3 53.2 53.2 53.1 53.1 53.1 53.2 53.2 53.3

2015 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 793,800 793,600 793,800 794,000 794,000 793,300 792,000 790,400 789,000 788,300 788,300 788,800 791,500
Employment 742,900 741,800 740,900 740,200 739,800 739,300 738,700 738,200 737,900 737,900 738,200 738,700 739,500
Unemployment 50,900 51,800 52,900 53,800 54,200 54,000 53,200 52,200 51,200 50,500 50,200 50,100 52,100
 Rate 6.4 6.5 6.7 6.8 6.8 6.8 6.7 6.6 6.5 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.6
Particpation Rate 53.5 53.5 53.6 53.6 53.6 53.6 53.5 53.4 53.3 53.3 53.3 53.4 53.5

2014 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 797,600 797,900 797,800 797,100 796,000 795,000 794,400 794,300 794,500 794,700 794,600 794,200 795,700
Employment 743,700 744,300 744,600 744,400 743,900 743,400 743,200 743,300 743,700 744,100 744,200 743,800 744,000
Unemployment 53,800 53,700 53,200 52,700 52,100 51,500 51,100 50,900 50,800 50,600 50,400 50,500 51,800
 Rate 6.7 6.7 6.7 6.6 6.5 6.5 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3 6.4 6.5
Particpation Rate 53.7 53.7 53.7 53.7 53.6 53.5 53.5 53.5 53.5 53.5 53.5 53.5 53.6

2013 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 804,800 802,800 801,200 800,300 799,900 799,700 799,500 798,900 798,000 797,100 796,800 797,000 799,500
Employment 747,900 747,100 746,600 746,800 747,100 747,200 746,900 746,200 745,100 744,100 743,400 743,300 745,800
Unemployment 56,900 55,700 54,600 53,500 52,800 52,500 52,600 52,700 52,800 53,000 53,300 53,700 53,600
 Rate 7.1 6.9 6.8 6.7 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.7 6.7 6.7 6.7
Particpation Rate 54.1 54.0 53.9 53.8 53.8 53.8 53.8 53.7 53.7 53.6 53.6 53.6 53.8

2012 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 808,100 807,800 807,900 808,200 808,600 808,900 808,900 808,800 808,700 808,400 807,800 806,600 808,000
Employment 750,900 751,000 750,900 750,300 749,700 749,300 749,000 749,000 749,100 749,200 749,100 748,700 749,600
Unemployment 57,200 56,800 57,000 57,900 58,900 59,600 59,900 59,800 59,600 59,200 58,700 57,900 58,400
 Rate 7.1 7.0 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.3 7.3 7.2 7.2
Particpation Rate 54.3 54.3 54.3 54.3 54.3 54.4 54.4 54.3 54.3 54.3 54.3 54.2 54.3

West Virginia Labor Force Statistics by Calendar Year
Seasonally Adjusted
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2024 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 782,500 783,900 784,900 784,500 789,300 800,500 798,100 788,900 791,600 787,100 776,900
Employment 745,200 744,800 746,500 754,500 759,500 764,500 760,900 754,300 760,300 758,600 748,400
Unemployment 37,200 39,100 38,300 30,000 29,900 36,000 37,200 34,600 31,300 28,500 28,500
 Rate 4.8 5.0 4.9 3.8 3.8 4.5 4.7 4.4 4.0 3.6 3.7
Participation Rate 54.7 54.8 54.8 54.8 55.2 55.9 55.8 55.1 55.3 55.0 54.3

2023 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 770,000 776,400 775,400 781,100 783,600 797,900 793,000 794,400 793,400 793,100 787,100 782,300 785,600
Employment 738,700 744,300 744,500 753,600 755,600 765,000 761,600 759,200 763,900 763,700 758,300 751,500 755,000
Unemployment 31,300 32,100 30,900 27,500 28,000 32,900 31,400 35,300 29,500 29,400 28,800 30,800 30,700
 Rate 4.1 4.1 4.0 3.5 3.6 4.1 4.0 4.4 3.7 3.7 3.7 3.9 3.9
Participation Rate 53.8 54.3 54.2 54.6 54.8 55.8 55.4 55.5 55.4 55.4 55.0 54.7 54.9

2022 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 770,500 776,300 773,200 776,500 781,700 792,200 784,800 782,800 779,500 781,000 774,200 771,800 778,700
Employment 734,700 739,900 740,500 747,200 753,900 758,100 752,200 749,300 753,900 755,000 748,100 746,500 748,300
Unemployment 35,800 36,400 32,600 29,400 27,800 34,200 32,500 33,500 25,600 26,000 26,100 25,300 30,400
 Rate 4.6 4.7 4.2 3.8 3.6 4.3 4.1 4.3 3.3 3.3 3.4 3.3 3.9
Participation Rate 53.7 54.2 54.0 54.2 54.6 55.3 54.8 54.7 54.5 54.6 54.1 53.9 54.4

2021 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 760,700 767,900 765,700 773,800 775,200 787,900 783,700 779,000 776,100 775,300 770,100 768,000 788,800
Employment 708,700 715,500 716,900 728,300 733,400 742,800 743,600 740,500 745,600 747,000 742,600 741,200 749,100
Unemployment 52,000 52,400 48,800 45,500 41,800 45,100 40,200 38,500 30,600 28,300 27,500 26,800 39,700
 Rate 6.8 6.8 6.4 5.9 5.4 5.7 5.1 4.9 3.9 3.6 3.6 3.5 5.0
Participation Rate 52.8 53.4 53.2 53.8 53.9 54.8 54.5 54.2 54.0 54.0 53.6 53.5 54.7

2020 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 790,800 795,500 785,800 754,900 772,700 781,300 778,400 777,400 776,900 778,700 768,100 765,100 792,200
Employment 745,200 749,000 733,000 636,800 674,400 703,000 703,700 715,800 721,700 732,100 723,400 718,400 726,000
Unemployment 45,600 46,400 52,800 118,100 98,300 78,400 74,800 61,600 55,200 46,600 44,700 46,700 66,100
 Rate 5.8 5.8 6.7 15.6 12.7 10.0 9.6 7.9 7.1 6.0 5.8 6.1 8.3
Participation Rate 54.5 54.9 54.2 52.3 53.6 54.2 54.0 53.9 53.9 54.0 53.3 53.1 54.1

2019 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 786,600 789,900 783,000 786,800 791,400 807,000 804,200 800,400 800,200 803,000 793,900 792,000 798,300
Employment 739,400 743,300 740,400 751,000 755,700 766,400 764,500 761,200 766,300 767,000 757,200 753,600 759,000
Unemployment 47,200 46,600 42,600 35,800 35,600 40,600 39,700 39,200 33,900 35,900 36,700 38,400 39,300
 Rate 6.0 5.9 5.4 4.5 4.5 5.0 4.9 4.9 4.2 4.5 4.6 4.8 4.9
Participation Rate 54.0 54.3 53.8 54.1 54.5 55.6 55.4 55.1 55.1 55.3 54.7 54.6 54.8

2018 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 779,100 789,200 783,600 790,400 794,700 808,800 805,300 794,500 795,600 799,400 791,300 789,200 793,400
Employment 731,800 738,000 736,000 748,900 756,800 765,100 763,800 755,700 762,000 764,800 757,000 751,200 752,200
Unemployment 47,300 51,300 47,600 41,500 37,800 43,600 41,400 38,800 33,600 34,600 34,300 38,000 41,200
 Rate 6.1 6.5 6.1 5.3 4.8 5.4 5.1 4.9 4.2 4.3 4.3 4.8 5.2
Participation Rate 53.3 54.0 53.6 54.1 54.5 55.4 55.2 54.5 54.6 54.9 54.3 54.2 54.4

2017 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 775,600 779,900 775,100 781,500 780,000 795,200 792,500 790,400 792,900 789,400 784,100 780,400 783,800
Employment 726,200 730,700 731,100 743,000 744,500 753,600 751,500 747,700 757,600 754,300 745,400 739,900 742,700
Unemployment 49,300 49,200 44,000 38,500 35,500 41,600 41,100 42,700 35,300 35,100 38,700 40,400 41,000
 Rate 6.4 6.3 5.7 4.9 4.6 5.2 5.2 5.4 4.5 4.4 4.9 5.2 5.2
Participation Rate 52.7 53.0 52.7 53.2 53.1 54.2 54.0 53.9 54.1 53.9 53.5 53.3 53.5

2016 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 782,600 787,400 782,200 786,200 788,300 796,900 789,000 785,800 784,800 786,700 778,300 773,100 785,100
Employment 726,500 728,800 727,800 737,800 742,300 746,200 741,700 737,600 741,600 744,500 739,100 732,500 737,200
Unemployment 56,100 58,500 54,400 48,400 45,900 50,700 47,300 48,300 43,200 42,200 39,300 40,600 47,900
 Rate 7.2 7.4 7.0 6.2 5.8 6.4 6.0 6.1 5.5 5.4 5.0 5.2 6.1
Participation Rate 53.0 53.3 53.0 53.3 53.4 54.0 53.5 53.3 53.3 53.4 52.9 52.6 53.3

2015 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 787,000 789,700 784,900 793,800 797,700 806,900 799,800 793,900 788,100 790,200 783,900 782,400 791,500
Employment 730,400 730,400 727,800 741,200 744,400 750,700 744,400 741,500 743,100 745,900 738,400 735,300 739,500
Unemployment 56,600 59,300 57,100 52,600 53,300 56,200 55,400 52,400 45,000 44,400 45,500 47,100 52,100
 Rate 7.2 7.5 7.3 6.6 6.7 7.0 6.9 6.6 5.7 5.6 5.8 6.0 6.6
Participation Rate 53.1 53.3 53.0 53.6 53.9 54.5 54.0 53.6 53.3 53.4 53.0 52.9 53.5

2014 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 789,400 795,700 792,000 795,300 800,800 805,300 800,900 796,900 795,800 799,900 791,000 785,700 795,700
Employment 730,800 732,700 733,300 745,400 750,400 753,500 748,000 744,200 749,900 754,700 745,000 739,600 744,000
Unemployment 58,700 63,100 58,700 49,900 50,400 51,800 52,900 52,700 45,900 45,200 46,000 46,100 51,800
 Rate 7.4 7.9 7.4 6.3 6.3 6.4 6.6 6.6 5.8 5.7 5.8 5.9 6.5
Participation Rate 53.1 53.6 53.3 53.5 53.9 54.2 53.9 53.7 53.6 53.9 53.3 53.0 53.6

2013 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 798,800 798,000 790,900 799,200 802,400 814,200 807,700 802,100 800,700 798,100 792,900 788,800 799,500
Employment 734,500 734,900 733,800 747,400 752,100 758,400 754,200 749,400 752,500 749,100 744,500 739,200 745,800
Unemployment 64,300 63,100 57,100 51,800 50,300 55,800 53,500 52,700 48,100 49,000 48,400 49,600 53,600
 Rate 8.0 7.9 7.2 6.5 6.3 6.9 6.6 6.6 6.0 6.1 6.1 6.3 6.7
Participation Rate 53.7 53.6 53.2 53.7 54.0 54.8 54.3 53.9 53.8 53.7 53.3 53.1 53.8

2012 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec AVG
Labor Force 797,500 802,500 799,100 806,600 815,200 822,700 815,800 809,500 811,600 813,000 802,600 800,200 808,000
Employment 736,100 738,000 738,900 750,500 757,200 760,400 754,300 749,300 757,500 759,400 749,400 744,000 749,600
Unemployment 61,400 64,500 60,200 56,100 58,000 62,300 61,500 60,200 54,100 53,600 53,200 56,100 58,400
 Rate 7.7 8.0 7.5 7.0 7.1 7.6 7.5 7.4 6.7 6.6 6.6 7.0 7.2
Participation Rate 53.6 53.9 53.7 54.2 54.8 55.3 54.8 54.4 54.5 54.6 53.9 53.8 54.3

West Virginia Labor Force Statistics by Calendar Year
Not Seasonally Adjusted
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West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management 
UNAUDITED BALANCE SHEET AND INCOME STATEMENT 

For the Five Months Ending November 30, 2024 

Talking Points for Joint Committee on Government and Finance Meeting 
January 2025 

1. Premium Revenue for November reflects the premiums earned for the first five

months of the current fiscal year. BRIM premiums in FY'25 reflect an increase in premium

revenue including an increase in premium to fund the higher actuarially

estimated losses for the current year.

2. Claims Expense reflects net claims payments made through November plus estimated

accruals for the months of July through November. Claim payments through November were

lower than in November of last year.

3. Investments reflect a gain of $12.4 million year to date. Investment returns in November of

last year were lower than in November of this year. Interest rates fluctuated during FY'24 and

there was volatility in the equities markets. In FY'25 the outlook for investment income is

uncertain given the continued volatility of the equities markets and the interest rate

environment.

4. BRIM continues to pursue pro-active loss control initiatives.
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West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management 

Statements of Net Position 

For the Five Months Ended November 30th 

Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Advance deposits with insurance company and trustee 
Receivabales 
Prepaid insurance 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Premiums due from other entities 

Total current assets 

Noncurrent assets: 
Equity position in internal investments pools 
Restricted investments 

Total noncurrent assets 
Total assets 

Deferred Outflows of Resources 
Deferred Outflows of Resources - OPEB 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities: 
Estimated unpaid claims and claims adjustment expense 

Unearned premiums 
Agent commissions payable 

Claims Payable 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 

Total current liabilities 

Estimated unpaid claims and claims adjustment expense net of current portion 
Compensated absences 
Net pension liability 
Total noncurrent liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Deferred Inflows of Resources - OPEB 

Net position: 
Restricted by State code for mine subsidence coverage 

Unrestricted 
Net Assets (Deficiency) 

Net position 

Unaudited 

$ 

2024 

(In Thousands) 

15,926 $ 
263,958 
36,582 
10,365 
10,836 
1,543 

339,210 

61,157 
34,227 
95,384 

434,594 

243 
10 

91,641 
26,729 

1,223 
200 

25,067 
144,860 

197,602 
182 
(4) 

197,780 
342,640 

0 
64 

38,026 
37,826 
16,291 
92,143 $ 

2023 

12,619 
247,886 
32,803 
8,623 
7,293 
1,534 

310,759 

54,066 
30,263 
84,329 

395,088 

399 
59 

122,173 
25,725 

751 
0 

21,391 
170,040 

170,554 
192 
148 

170,893 
340,933 

0 
137 

32,363 
36,438 

(14,325) 
54,476 
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West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Five Months Ended November 30th 

2024 2023 

(In Thousands) 

Operating revenues 

Premiums 

Less coverage/reinsurance programs 

Net operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Claims and claims adjustment expense 

General and administrative 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Nonoperating revenues 

Investment income 

Legislative Appropriation 

OPEB Non Operating Income 

Net nonoperating revenues 

Changes in net position 

Total net position, beginning of year 

Total net position, end of period 

Unaudited 

$ 

52,533 $ 
(5,687) 

46,846 

40,402 
2,557 

42,959 

3,887 

12,404 
0 

0 

12,404 
16,291 

75,852 

92,143 $ 

49,439 
6,199) 

43,240 

58,386 

2,573 

60,958 

(17,718) 

3,393 

0 

0 

3,393 

(14,325) 

68,801 

54 476 
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PEIA 

January Interim Talking Points 

► PEIA and RHBT interim financial statements for
October 31, 2024, are available for your review.

► PEIA statements indicate PEIA is currently ahead
plan by $3 million. This is due to higher than
forecast investments.

► RHBT statements indicate RHBT is currently ahead
of plan by $7 million. This is due to higher than
forecast investment income.

► The 2025 year-end reserve for the State Fund, non­
State Fund and RHBT is projected to be $87, $1.4
and $125 million respectively.

► These reserve levels represent 10%, .07% and 62% of
the respective funds' expenses. The required reserve
for the State Fund is 12 % of expenses.
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Department of Administration Real Estate Division Leasing Report 
For the period of December 1-31, 2024 

There are 6 leasing changes for this period, and they are as follows: 

• 2 - Renewal with Increase in Rent
• 2 - Renewal with Decrease in Rent - DOA Owned
• 1 - Renewal with Decrease in Rent
• 1 - Renewal with Decrease in Rent and Decrease in Square Feet - DOA Owned

Page 1 of 1 
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Department of Administration Real Estate Division Leasing Report 
For the period of December 1 - 31, 2024 

RENEWAL WITH INCREASE IN RENT 

DIVISION OF CORRECTIONS AND REHABILITATION, BUREAU OF JUVENILE SERVICES 

BJS-022 Renewal for 5 years consisting of 2,961 square feet of office space with an increase in the 
annual per square foot rate from $12.77 to $13.41, annual cost $39,707.01, for years 1 - 3 then an 
increase in the annual per square foot rate from to $13.81, annual cost $40,891.41, for years 4-5, 
includes garbage removal, 385 Locust Avenue, in the City of Fairmont, Marion County, West Virginia. 

STATE FIRE MARSHAL 

SFM-003 Renewal for 3 years consisting of 4,000 square feet of warehouse space with an increase in 
the annual per square foot rate from $6.95 to $7.50, annual cost $30,000, includes garbage removal and 
snow/ice removal, 1998-H South Elk River Road, in the City of Elkview, Kanawha County, West Virginia. 

RENEWAL WITH DECREASE IN RENT - DOA Owned 

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES 

HUM-016 Renewal consisting of 37,791 square feet of office space with a decrease in the annual per 
square foot rate from $25.29 to $25.10, annual cost $948,554.16, starting January 1, 2025 and shall 
continue until updated, full service, Building #53, 153 West Main Street, in the City of Clarksburg, 
Harrison County, West Virginia. 

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES 

HUM-017 Renewal consisting of 21,014 square feet of office space with an decrease in the annual per 
square foot rate from $18.45 to $17.83, annual cost $374,679.60, starting July 1, 2025 and shall continue 
until updated, full service, Building #34, 100 Municipal Plaza, in the City of Weirton, Hancock County, 
West Virginia. 

RENEWAL WITH DECREASE IN RENT 

WEST VIRGINIA LOTTERY COMMISSION 

LOT-010 Renewal for 5 years consisting of 1,105 square feet of office space with a decrease in the 
annual per square foot rate from $12.00 to $0.00, in compliance with WV Code 29-22C-8, full service, 1 
Greyhound Drive, in the City of Cross Lanes, Kanawha County, West Virginia. 

RENEWAL WITH DECREASE IN RENT AND DECREASE IN SQUARE 
FEET- DOA Owned 

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES 

HUM-015 Renewal with a decrease of square feet from 40,068 square feet to 39,517 square feet of office 
space with a decrease in the annual per square foot rate from $17.23 to $15.91, annual cost $628,715.52 
for January 1, 2025 through June 30, 2025, then a decrease in the annual per square foot rate to $15.11, 
annual cost $597,101.88 beginning July 1, 2025 and shall continue until updated, full service, Building 
#25, Corner of 5th Street and Avery Street, in the City of Parkersburg, Wood County, West Virginia. 
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Real Estate Division 

Monthly Summary of Lease Activity 

December 1-31, 2024 

Term 

# of Square Rental Annual in Total 

Transactions Agency Lease# County Feet Rate Rent years Aggregate 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Bureau of Juvenile Services 

Bureau of Juvenile Services 

State Fire Marshal 

Department of Human Services 

Department of Human Services 

WV Lottery Commission 

Department of Human Services 

Department of Human Services 

BJS-022 Marion 2,961 

BJS-022 Marion 2,961 

SFM-003 Kanawha 4,000 

HUM-016 Harrison 37,791 

HUM-017 Hancock 21,014 

LOT-010 Kanawha 1,105 

HUM-015 Wood 39,517 

HUM-015 Wood 39,517 

Total Rentable ! 148,866 

Average Annual Rental Rate 

Total Annual Rent 

• Indicates the rental rate will exceed $1,000,000.00 within the term of the lease.

**Indicates the lease automatically renews at the rate listed until updated by RED. 

13.41 39,707 3.00 119,121 

13.81 40,891 2.00 81,782 

7.50 30,000 3.00 90,000 

25.10 948,554 1.00 948,554 

17.83 374,680 1.00 374,680 

0.00 0 5.00 0 

15.91 628,715 0.50 314,358 

15.11 597,102 1.00 597,102 

108.67 

15.52 

2,659,649 

•• 

•• 

•• 

••
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Joint Committee on Government and Finance and
Legislative Oversight Commission on Health and

Human Resources Accountability
January 2025

MEDICAID REPORT
November 2024
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Annual Budget Actual Actual
Budget 2025 Year-to-Date September 30, 2024 September 30, 2023 Variance Variance

$ % $ %

Beginning Operating Fund Balance $3,255,799 $5,382,999 ($2,127,200) -40%

Revenues
 Federal Grants $63,527,759 $15,881,940 $17,455,942 $14,739,606 $2,716,336 18% $1,574,002 10%
 State Appropriations $12,755,475 $3,188,869 $2,551,690 $2,212,919 $0 0% ($637,179) -20%
 Premium Revenues $83,500 $20,875 $158,474 $6,595 $151,879 2303% $137,599 659%
 Investment Earnings (Interest) $155,000 $38,750 $69,909 $33,889 $36,019 106% $31,159 80%
Total Operating Fund Revenues $76,521,734 $19,130,434 $20,236,014 $16,993,009 $3,243,005 19% $1,105,581 6%

Expenditures:
  Claims Expenses:

Managed Care Organizations $14,339,861 $11,050,984 $3,288,878 30%
Prescribed Drugs $3,703,382 $2,840,512 $862,870 30%
Physicians & Surgical $427,540 $1,034,867 ($607,326) -59%
Inpatient Hospital Services $265,239 $571,637 ($306,398) -54%
Medical Transportation $546,448 $426,090 $120,358 28%
Outpatient Services $287,338 $277,953 $9,385 3%
Dental $149,660 $166,525 ($16,865) -10%
Therapy $75,997 $85,745 ($9,748) -11%
Other Services $42,692 $49,162 ($6,471) -13%
Outpatient Mental Health $10,765 $21,570 ($10,805) -50%
Vision $10,855 $11,030 ($175) -2%
Durable & Disposable Med. Equip. $5,684 $8,365 ($2,681) -32%
Inpatient Mental Health $0 $6,896 ($6,896) -100%
Less: Other Collections** $0 ($3,718) $3,718 -100%

Drug Rebates $0 $0 ($1,059,543) $0 ($1,059,543) 0% $1,059,543 0%
     Total Claims Expenses $70,153,130 $17,538,283 $18,805,919 $16,547,618 $2,258,300 14% $1,267,636 7%

 Administrative Expenses:
Salaries and Benefits $557,031 $139,258 $85,966 $81,170 $4,795 6% ($53,292) -38%
Program Administration $5,222,107 $1,305,527 $507,806 $1,255,198 ($747,392) -60% ($797,721) -61%
Outreach & Health Promotion $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 0% $0 0%
Health Service Initiative $225,000 $56,250 $56,250 $56,250 $0 0% $0 0%
Current $413,409 $103,352 $9,841 $7,939 $1,902 24% ($93,511) -90%

  Total Administrative Expenses in Operating Fund $6,417,547 $1,604,387 $659,863 $1,400,558 ($740,695) -53% ($944,524) -59%

Total Operating Fund Expenditures $76,570,677 $19,142,669 $19,465,782 $17,948,176 $1,517,606 8% $323,112 2%

Adjustments $3,429 ($617)

Ending Operating Fund Balance $4,029,460.92 $4,427,215 ($397,754) -9%
Money Market $0 $0
Bond Pool $2,486,656 $3,770,698
Cash on Deposit $1,542,805 $656,516

Revenues Outside of Operating Funds:
Federal Grants $0 $0 $0 0%

Total WVCHIP Revenues $20,236,014 $16,993,009 $3,243,005 19%

Program Expenses outside of Operating Funds:
Eligibility $1,500,000 $1,500,000 $0 $114,895 ($114,895) -100% ($1,500,000) -100%

Total Administrative Expenses $7,917,547 $3,104,387 $659,863 $1,515,453 ($855,590) -56% ($2,444,524) -79%

Total WVCHIP Expenditures $78,070,677 $20,642,669 $19,465,782 $18,063,071 $1,402,711 8% ($1,176,888) -6%

Footnotes:
1) Statement is on cash basis.
2) Estimate of Incurred but Not Reported (IBNR) claims on September 30, 2024 is $998,704.  The September 30, 2023 estimate was $558,624. 
3) Administrative Accounts Payable balance on September 30, 2024 was $758,866.  The September 30, 2023 balance was $386,446.

6) Other Collections are primarily provider refunds and subrogation (amounts received from other insurers responsible for bills WVCHIP paid - primarily auto).
7) Physician & Surgical services include physicians, clinics, lab, Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHC), and vaccine payments.
8) Other Services includes home health, chiropractors, psychologists, podiatrists, and nurse practitioners.
9) Eligibility costs outside the fund represent the costs allocated to the WVCHIP for eligibility and enrollment processing (RAPIDS/WVPATH).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

4) 2024 and 2023 adjustments to fund balances represents timing issues between the payment of expense and the draw-down of federal revenues.

West Virginia Children's Health Insurance Program
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, Changes in Fund Balance, and Budget-to-Actual 

For the Years Ending September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023

Actual Budget

5) Revenues are primarily federal funds.  WVCHIP's Federal Matching Assistance Percentage (FMAP) during SFY25 is 81.87% and during SFY24 is 81.87% (1/1/24); 82.92% (10/1/23); 83.56% (7/1/23).

165

165



County Pop. Total CHIP Total Medicaid Total CHIP/Medicaid 2021 2021
2021 Est. BLUE GOLD PREM BLUE PREM Enrollment Enrollment CHIP/Medicaid Enrollment SAHIE SAHIE

County (0-18 Yrs) Nov-24 Nov-24 Nov-24 Nov-24 Nov-24 Nov-24 Nov-24 Enrollment % of Population Uninsured Est. % Uninsured

Barbour 3,204 101 45 82 1 3 232 1,581 1,813 56.6% 107 3.3%
Berkeley 30,213 1,386 373 736 20 23 2,538 12,309 14,847 49.1% 879 2.9%
Boone 4,539 138 57 85 4 2 286 2,445 2,731 60.2% 145 3.2%
Braxton 2,378 67 23 54 3 3 150 1,284 1,434 60.3% 98 4.1%
Brooke 4,043 0 0 0 0 11 11 0.3% 121 3.0%
Cabell 19,300 570 165 353 5 15 1,108 8,431 9,539 49.4% 562 2.9%
Calhoun 1,178 64 14 39 1 1 119 703 822 69.8% 47 4.0%
Clay 1,793 68 16 33 2 2 121 1,136 1,257 70.1% 76 4.2%
Doddridge 1,084 43 9 29 0 1 82 685 767 70.8% 39 3.6%
Fayette 8,467 349 103 188 3 10 653 4,379 5,032 59.4% 254 3.0%
Gilmer 1,140 33 19 35 1 0 88 497 585 51.3% 35 3.1%
Grant 2,230 77 25 70 5 1 178 1,158 1,336 59.9% 93 4.2%
Greenbrier 6,534 336 101 203 5 9 654 3,252 3,906 59.8% 246 3.8%
Hampshire 4,248 176 54 86 6 3 325 2,167 2,492 58.7% 159 3.7%
Hancock 5,604 269 106 167 4 9 555 3,615 4,170 74.4% 205 3.7%
Hardy 2,892 136 30 89 4 4 263 1,253 1,516 52.4% 139 4.8%
Harrison 14,585 492 153 323 4 11 983 5,760 6,743 46.2% 555 3.8%
Jackson 6,181 182 70 104 3 0 359 2,681 3,040 49.2% 196 3.2%
Jefferson 13,328 433 126 275 6 3 843 3,511 4,354 32.7% 473 3.5%
Kanawha 36,989 1,226 391 756 23 28 2,424 29,549 31,973 86.4% 1103 3.0%
Lewis 3,706 148 66 82 1 2 299 1,824 2,123 57.3% 133 3.6%
Lincoln 4,606 164 40 80 1 13 298 2,463 2,761 59.9% 169 3.7%
Logan 6,800 208 67 125 7 0 407 3,909 4,316 63.5% 225 3.3%
Marion 11,652 424 129 239 2 8 802 4,851 5,653 48.5% 380 3.3%
Marshall 5,954 156 68 93 1 1 319 2,443 2,762 46.4% 154 2.6%
Mason 5,368 186 61 97 2 4 350 3,910 4,260 79.4% 157 2.9%
McDowell 3,143 117 34 67 2 2 222 2,421 2,643 84.1% 128 4.1%
Mercer 3,802 605 186 269 6 12 1,078 7,160 8,238 216.7% 110 2.9%
Mineral 12,788 216 70 113 0 1 400 2,262 2,662 20.8% 433 3.4%
Mingo 5,538 174 50 76 3 3 306 3,483 3,789 68.4% 144 2.6%
Monongalia 5,227 482 167 348 11 11 1,019 5,320 6,339 121.3% 188 3.6%
Monroe 18,601 107 43 85 0 4 239 1,114 1,353 7.3% 540 2.9%
Morgan 2,520 143 57 87 2 0 289 1,331 1,620 64.3% 97 3.8%
Nicholas 5,074 178 71 119 3 5 376 2,338 2,714 53.5% 166 3.3%
Ohio 8,461 188 84 123 4 4 403 3,368 3,771 44.6% 257 3.0%
Pendleton 1,195 42 11 42 1 1 97 507 604 50.5% 60 5.0%
Pleasants 1,522 37 6 32 1 0 76 623 699 45.9% 37 2.4%
Pocahontas 1,417 64 19 26 0 1 110 634 744 52.5% 66 4.7%
Preston 6,770 258 73 153 4 5 493 2,799 3,292 48.6% 238 3.5%
Putnam 13,220 382 121 235 7 13 758 3,676 4,434 33.5% 392 3.0%
Raleigh 16,094 572 185 402 10 11 1,180 7,942 9,122 56.7% 481 3.0%
Randolph 5,312 254 68 143 5 5 475 2,385 2,860 53.8% 176 3.3%
Ritchie 1,750 64 16 26 1 0 168 919 1,087 62.1% 90 5.1%
Roane 2,946 129 43 87 0 4 224 1,291 1,515 51.4% 107 3.6%
Summers 1,967 90 32 48 3 2 189 1,314 1,503 76.4% 65 3.3%
Taylor 3,325 140 47 62 1 5 237 1,344 1,581 47.5% 112 3.4%
Tucker 920 49 29 44 1 2 116 472 588 63.9% 45 4.9%
Tyler 1,667 58 12 35 215 680 895 53.7% 55 3.3%
Upshur 4,995 179 67 145 2 3 385 2,474 2,859 57.2% 164 3.3%
Wayne 8,022 313 89 134 5 4 444 4,201 4,645 57.9% 300 3.7%
Webster 1,639 74 30 33 0 4 164 926 1,090 66.5% 60 3.7%
Wetzel 3,033 72 24 56 1 5 131 1,824 1,955 64.5% 106 3.5%
Wirt 1,108 37 4 29 1 0 367 543 910 82.1% 44 4.0%
Wood 18,255 577 149 325 8 6 885 7,852 8,737 47.9% 548 3.0%
Wyoming 4,418 113 45 145 4 4 311 2,042 2,353 53.3% 161 3.6%

Totals 372,745 13,146 4,143 7,912 200 273 25,674 179,052 204,726 54.9% 12,120 3.3%

WVCHIP Enrollment Report
NOVEMBER 2024

MATERNITY
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The above map shows the most recent 2021 county level data provided by the U.S. Census Bureau Small Area Health Insurance Estimates (SAHIE) for children
under 19 years.  While the statewide average for children under 19 is now about 3.3%, the SAHIE data reflects more accurately the variation from county to county
depending on the availability of employer-sponsored insurance and should be a more accurate way to target outreach than in previous years.
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CALENDAR NOTE 

Board Meeting 
January 30, 2025 

OPERATING REPORT 
NOVEMBER 2024 

Board of Treasury 
Investments 

315 70th Street, SE 
Charleston WV 

25304 
(304) 340-1564

www.wvbti.com

Board of Directors 
 Riley M. Moore, 
State Treasurer, 

Chairman 

James C. Justice II, 
Governor 

John B. McCuskey,  
State Auditor 

Patrick M. Smith, 
CPA 

Appointed by the 
Governor  

Mark A. Mangano, 
Esq. Attorney 

Appointed by the 
Governor 

Executive Staff 
Executive 
Director 

Kara K. Hughes, 
CPA, MBA, CFE, 

CGIP 

Chief Financial 
Officer  

Karl Shanholtzer,   
CFA, CPA, CIA 

 Total Net Assets Under 
Management 

$10,669,627,000 

Net Assets for the Past 
12 Months 

Last Month 
$10,870,891,000 

Beginning of Fiscal Year 
$10,866,862,000 

Total Net Income & Changes in 
Fair Value 

Fiscal Year  
$244,977,000  Monthly Net Income & 

Changes in Fair Value for 
the Past 12 Months 

Money Market Pools 
As of November 30, 2024 

Pool 
30-Day

Avg. Yield * W.A.M. ** Net Assets 

WV Money Market 4.9679% 41 Days $9.3 Billion 

WV Gov’t Money Market 4.8317% 37 Days $544.6 Million 

* Yields represent the simple money market yield net of fees.
**   W.A.M. is the weighted average maturity. 
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WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF TREASURY INVESTMENTS 
THE ECONOMIC STATE 

 NOVEMBER 2024 

Good Year for Financial Markets 

Markets were trumped up post the election and equities, in particular, greeted the news with positive results. 
Bond markets were a little more sanguine, amid skepticism on Federal debt, more rate cuts and inflation 
fears related to a new policy outlook.  

Equity Markets 

With one of the strongest months in recent history, the declines in October were erased, and then some, in 
November. The market breadth also broadened in the month and, according to S&P, the top 5 stocks 
contributed only 1.3% to the S&P 500’s return of 5.9% in November. This 22% of contribution in November 
is in contrast to, for example, the top 5 stocks in June, contributing 67% of the total index return. Small cap 
stocks had their best month of the year (10.9%), and are now are outperforming large cap stocks since June. 
Mid cap stocks followed suit (up 8.8%), whereas Non-U.S. stocks were all hurt post election. Both the 
stronger dollar and the potential outlook for tariffs hurt Developed Europe (EAFE -0.6%), and Emerging 
Markets ( -3.6%). 

Fixed Income 

Post election, interest rates rose with the 10-Year Treasury peaking at 4.36% and the 30-year Treasury bond 
at 4.61%, (before ending the month at 4.10% and 4.36% respectively). By the end of the month, prices rose, 
and yields declined enough to provide a slightly positive return of 1.1% for the Bloomberg Aggregate Index. 
Shorter maturity bonds held fairly steady during the month and ended up with a return of 0.3% for the 1–3-
Year Treasury Index. The Credit sector also eked out positive returns with high yield and investment grade 
bonds returning 1.2% and 0.4% respectively. 

Looking Ahead 

There is a lot we don’t know about how the policy programs that were laid out during an election process 
will or will not be put into effect. We do know that the markets are “optimistically” pricing in a lot of good 
news. That means if it does not come to pass, disappointment is the flip side of the coin. The good news is 
that with only one month left in 2024, it is shaping up to be a good year for financial markets, and for that, 
we say “Thanksgiving” to that. 
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WEST VIRGINIA BOARD OF TREASURY INVESTMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION – UNAUDITED 

NOVEMBER 30, 2024 
(IN THOUSANDS) 

WV Money 
Market Pool

WV Government 
Money Market 

Pool

WV Short 
Term Bond 

Pool Other Pools

Participant 
Directed 
Accounts Total

Assets
Investments:

At amortized cost 9,322,126$  553,100$             -$          42,443$      41,138$    9,958,807$   
At fair value -         -      701,588     - 1,004 702,592  

Other assets 17,069    442     6,078         225           152    23,966    
Total assets 9,339,195    553,542 707,666     42,668      42,294      10,685,365   

Liabilities
Accrued expenses, dividends payable &

payables for investments purchased 1,842      8,986  4,906         2 2        15,738    
Total liabilities 1,842      8,986  4,906         2 2        15,738    

Net Position
Held in trust for investment pool participants 9,337,353    544,556 702,760     -            -     10,584,669   
Held in trust for individual investment

account holders -         -      -            42,666      42,292      84,958    
Total net position 9,337,353$  544,556$             702,760$   42,666$      42,292$    10,669,627$ 

Additions
Investment income:

Interest and dividends 15,587$       1,232$   2,761$       115$           152$         19,847$        
Net (amortization) accretion 23,639    1,079  (14) - -     24,704    
Provision for uncollectible loans -         -      - - -     -          

Total investment income 39,226    2,311  2,747         115           152    44,551    

Investment expenses:
Investment advisor, custodian bank &

administrative fees 364         23       42  1 -     430         
Total investment expenses 364         23       42  1 -     430         

Net investment income 38,862    2,288  2,705         114           152    44,121    
Net realized gain (loss) from investments -         -      (54)            -            -     (54)          
Net increase (decrease) in fair value of

investments -         -      554            -            -     554         

Net increase (decrease) in net position
from operations 38,862    2,288  3,205         114           152    44,621    

Participant transaction additions:
Purchase of pool units by participants 991,521  39,145 159            -            -     1,030,825     
Reinvestment of pool distributions 38,862    2,288  2,964         -            -     44,114    
Contributions to individual investment

accounts -         -      -            2,820        147    2,967      
Total participant transaction additions 1,030,383    41,433 3,123         2,820        147    1,077,906     

Total additions 1,069,245    43,721 6,328         2,934        299    1,122,527     

Deductions
Distributions to pool participants:

Net investment income 38,862    2,288  2,705         -            -     43,855    
Net realized gain (loss) from investments -         -      (54)            -            -     (54)          

Total distributions to pool participants 38,862    2,288  2,651         -            -     43,801    

Participant transaction deductions:
Redemption of pool units by participants 1,219,205    60,528 -            -            -     1,279,733     
Withdrawals from individual investment

accounts -         -      -            110           147    257         
Total participant transaction deductions 1,219,205    60,528 - 110 147    1,279,990     

Total deductions 1,258,067    62,816 2,651         110           147    1,323,791     

Net increase (decrease) in net position from
operations (188,822)      (19,095) 3,677         2,824        152    (201,264)       

Inter-pool transfers in -         -      -            -            -     -          
Inter-pool transfers out -         -      -            -            -     -          
Net inter-pool transfers in (out) -         -      -            -            -     -          

Change in net position (188,822)      (19,095) 3,677         2,824        152    (201,264)       
Net position at beginning of period 9,526,175    563,651 699,083     39,842      42,140      10,870,891   
Net position at end of period 9,337,353$  544,556$             702,760$   42,666$      42,292$    10,669,627$ 
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A Report to the Joint Committee on Government and Finance by: 

The West Virginia Land Stewardship Corporation on behalf of the Land
Reuse Agencies, Land Reuse Authorities, and Land Banks of West Virginia
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Years of economic downturn have led to an overwhelming number of
vacant, abandoned, and dilapidated properties; which in turn pose
significant challenges to residents and communities across the state.
Property tax-delinquency often coincides with cycles of property decline.
In an effort to address this challenge, The WV Legislature authorized the
creation of Land Reuse Agencies (LRAs) and enabled LRAs to exercise
the right of first refusal, giving them increased access to severely
dilapidated properties. As a result, both the number of LRAs in operation
and the positive impact that LRAs are having on West Virginia’s
communities have skyrocketed. LRA’s are transforming dilapidated, tax-
delinquent properties from dangerous and costly, into the foundation
for thriving communities and economies.

Executive Summary

This report is submitted to satisfy a requirement for report in §31-18E of
the WV State Code. The report is submitted by the WV Land
Stewardship Corporation on behalf of all LRAs listed on p. 8 of this
report. 
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For decades, West Virginia has experienced a significant increase in
vacant, abandoned, dilapidated, and tax delinquent properties due to
population loss and economic downturn. These properties impose a
significant burden to residents, as well as municipalities and counties by
increasing the cost of fire and police protection, removal of overgrown
weeds and brush, and demolition of unsafe or dilapidated structures,
while simultaneously lowering property values. These properties also
undermine community cohesion and directly impede development and
community investment.

In 2014, to combat this growing challenge, the West Virginia Legislature
enacted W. Va. Code § 31-18E-1 et seq. authorizing the creation of Land
Reuse Agencies (LRAs) by individual public bodies - either municipal or
county - and Land Reuse Jurisdictions (LRJs) by combinations of
municipalities and/or counties. The purpose of these Land Reuse entities
is to provide a flexible tool for the purchase, rehabilitation, improvement,
and/or sale of vacant, abandoned, and tax delinquent real property
resulting in the elimination of blight and the return of these properties
to productive use.

Today, West Virginia’s growing number of LRAs embody this legislative
history by tackling abandonment and supporting productive
redevelopment in their jurisdictions. LRAs across the state have been
responsible for new and rehabilitated housing for WV’s workforce, new
business development, park expansion, and floodplain mitigation- all
contributing to more stable local and regional economies and stronger
communities.

History of Land Reuse
Legislation
Authorization of Land Reuse Agencies
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Properties that are tax-delinquent or tied up in the process West
Virginia uses to sell property tax debt pose significant challenges to
West Virginians.. Across the state, land reuse professionals note that
properties that are tax delinquent are far more likely to be vacant,
dilapidated, or abandoned. These properties cause significant, ongoing
challenges for everyone working to build local and regional economic
opportunities, meet the needs of West Virginians, and stabilize
communities.

Tax delinquent properties pose these challenges in part due to how easy
it is for them to become mired in the tax -sale process. In some cases, tax
liens on severely dilapidated properties are purchased by out-of-state
private entities uninterested in rehabilitating the properties so that they
could contribute to the local economy. These companies purchase liens
to collect the interest generated when the original property owner pays
their back taxes. However, because there is no interest in using the
property itself, these companies rarely execute the deed once the time
period to redeem has expired, leaving these properties to cycle back
through the tax sale process over and over, perpetuating dilapidation
and preventing West Virginians from putting these properties to good
use. 

Prior to updates to the statue, if a municipality or county identified that
a tax-delinquent property was in need of remediation or was necessary
for their economic development initiatives, they were faced with
bidding against these companies and private investors at the tax sale to
acquire the property. The enabling statue for LRAs did not allow them to
purchase tax-delinquent properties at a tax sale unless there were no
other bidders. This meant that the LRA could identify properties that fit
within the mission of the LRA, but could not reliably acquire those
properties through the tax sale process. Without the ability to intervene
in this cycle, tax-delinquent property continues to pose significant
threats to communities across the state.

Land Banks and Tax-Delinquent Properties
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In 2017, the Legislature passed HB 2109, introduced by Cabell County
delegates, which amended the enabling statute allowing LRAs to have
the Right of First Refusal. The right of first refusal allows LRAs to
purchase liens on certain tax-delinquent property within the jurisdiction
of the LRA prior to the tax sale. Originally, only liens for property with an
assessed value of $25,000 or less, or properties that had been
condemned qualified. In 2019, updates to the statute expanded the
criteria to include liens on tax-delinquent property in the LRAs
jurisdiction which:

Has an assessed value of $50,000 or less;
There are municipal liens on the property that exceed the amount of
back taxes owed;
Has been on the municipality’s vacant property registry for 24
consecutive months or longer;
Was sold at a tax sale within the previous three years, was not
redeemed, and no deed was secured by the lien purchaser; or 
Has been condemned. 

The statute requires that the State Auditor’s Office compile a list of
properties which qualify for the right of first refusal and send it to each
LRA prior to the tax sale. The LRA must pay the amount of back taxes
and fees in full to acquire the lien. The amended statute also requires
that LRAs provide notice to owners of properties adjoining any property
purchase in this manner and that those adjoining owners be allowed to
acquire the property from the LRA for an amount equal to the amount
the LRA paid for the property.
     A sunset provision was added to the Right of First Refusal and will go
into effect July 1, 2025. The amended code also required any LRA that
has exercised the right of first refusal to submit a report on its activities
related to the purchase of tax-delinquent properties to the Joint
Committee on Government and Finance prior to January 1, 2025. This
report shall serve to meet this requirement.

Amendment to the Legislation
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When §31-18E-9 was first amended in 2017, there was only one LRA in
West Virginia, the Huntington Land Reuse Agency. By 2019 when code
was amended again, LRAs had been established in four communities:
Huntington, Nitro, Morgantown, and Charleston. Now, in 2024 there are
16 LRAs in the state, operating in communities of all sizes with varying
levels of resources, capacity and funding.  At least six additional
communities in various stages of evaluation and planning. 

The Abandoned Properties Coalition (APC) continues to coordinate a
robust working group of LRA representatives, facilitating the exchange
of information and connecting members with national level resources.
This group has worked closely with the West Virginia State Auditor’s
Office to collaborate on updates to the tax sale process in 2021 and
streamline LRA participation in the tax sale process, especially in regards
to LRA compliance with statute as LRAs exercise the right of first refusal.

West Virginia’s growing number of LRAs continue to tackle the
challenge of vacant, abandoned, and dilapidated properties daily,
utilizing the right of first refusal and a variety of other tools to stabilize
the communities they are a part of, promote economic stability and
development, and put one of our greatest resources, our land, to work,
meeting the needs of West Virginians. 

Land Reuse Agency Activity Today 
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There are currently 16 active Land Reuse Agencies in the State of
West Virginia, doubling from 8 in the last 2 years. 

Huntington Urban Renewal Authority Land Bank, City of Huntington
(Class II municipality), established in 2009;
Morgantown Land Reuse and Preservation Agency, City of
Morgantown (Class II municipality), established in 2018;
Nitro Land Reuse Authority of Kanawha and Putnam Counties,
City of Nitro (Class III municipality), established in 2019*;
Charleston Land Reuse Agency, City of Charleston (Class I
municipality), established in 2019*;
South Charleston Land Reuse Agency, City of South Charleston (Class
II Municipality), established in 2019*;
Bluefield West Virginia Municipal Land Bank, City of Bluefield (Class
III Municipality), established in 2019*;
City of Dunbar Land Reuse Agency, City of Dunbar (Class III
Municipality), established in 2021*;
Princeton Land Reuse Agency, City of Princeton (Class III
Municipality), established in 2022*;
New Martinsville Land Reuse Agency, City of New Martinsville (Class
III Municipality), established in 2023;
Fayette County Land Reuse Agency, Fayette County, established in
2023*;
Beech Bottom Land Reuse Agency, Village of Beech Bottom
(Class IV Municipality); established in 2023*;
Smithers Land Reuse Agency, City of Smithers (Class IV Municipality);
established in 2023*;
Clarksburg Urban Renewal and Land Reuse Agency, City of
Clarksburg (Class II Municipality), established in 2023*;
Hinton Land Reuse Agency, City of Hinton (Class III Municipality),
established in 2023*;
Kenova Land Reuse Agency, City of Kenova (Class III Municipality),
established in 2023*;
Weston Land Reuse Agency, City on Weston (Class III Municipality),
established in 2024.

Land Reuse Agencies in WV

* indicates LRAs that have used the right of first refusal.
Bold indicates LRAs highlighted in this report.
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The Numbers at a Glance: 
12 of 16 land reuse agencies have utilized the
right of first refusal to acquire property in need
of demolition/ remediation. 

The right of first refusal has been exercised over
350 times and has resulted in the acquisition of
over 300 vacant, abandoned, and dilapidated
properties.

LRAs have put over 160 properties back into
productive reuse.

10 of 16 LRAs were created in the last 3 years.

Every LRA interviewed for this report
referenced the right of first refusal as key to the
LRA’s success in addressing vacant, abandoned,
and dilapidated properties. 

The Right of First Refusal: Overview
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Nitro Land Reuse Authority of Kanawha
and Putnam Counties
City of Nitro, WV | Class III Municipality | Established 2019

Properties taken into
inventory, all time: 77 (14
pending)
Properties using Right of First
Refusal, all time: 64 (14
pending)
Properties currently in
inventory: 55
Parcels prepared for re-use,
all time: 40
Properties put back into
productive use, all time: 10

The Stats:In Nitro, as in much of WV, there is a strong
correlation between properties that are tax
delinquent, and properties which are vacant,
abandoned, and dilapidated. Addressing
these properties has been the primary focus
of the Nitro Land Reuse Authority since it
was formed in October of 2019. 

The LRA has acquired 45 properties in
Kanawha and Putnam Counties through the
right of first refusal. The majority of these
properties posed significant health and
safety risks to residents in the community.
Because of this work, the City was able to
leverage $584,000 in DEP DLAP funding to
demolish these unsafe structures and
prepare properties for reuse. 

The LRA strategically combines groups of
properties and markets them to commercial
and residential developers. To date,  Three
new housing units have been developed and
four new businesses are now located in
Nitro. Additionally, a new program arranged
by the Nitro LRA has turned several acres of
flood plain which was otherwise unusable
into an apiary and outdoor educational
space.
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Nitro Land Reuse Authority of Kanawha and Putnam Counties
City of Nitro, WV | Class III Municipality | Established 2019

Land Reuse Agencies most often use the right of first refusal to address
properties that pose significant health and safety risk to the community. In
Nitro, a former storage unit business was abandoned and caught fire. The Nitro
LRA used the right of first refusal to acquire the property so that it could be
demolished, eliminating the safety threats to the community and opening up
commercial space for reuse along a major thoroughfare in town.

Success Story: Nitro Storage Units
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Hinton Land Reuse Agency
City of Hinton, WV | Class III Municipality | Established 2023

Properties using Right of First
Refusal, all time: 8
Properties currently in inventory:
approx. 40
Properties prepared for re-use,
all time: 12
Properties put back into
productive use, all time: 0

The Stats:The availability of quality, safe housing
for residents has been a primary focus of
the Hinton Land Reuse Agency since its
creation in 2023. Since then, Hinton has
used the right of first refusal to acquire
eight properties, all of them residential.

Prior to the work of the land bank,
Hinton was experiencing a problem with
individuals purchasing tax sale
properties, conducting minimal
renovation, and renting out unsafe units
to local residents. The right of first
refusal has allowed the LRA to
strategically identify properties that are
likely to be used this way and intervene
before unsafe living conditions are
created.

Like Nitro, Hinton has leveraged the
work of the LRA to receive $480,000 in
WV DEP DLAP funding, allowing the
City and the LRA to work in partnership
to demolish many of the unsafe
buildings in town, 12 of which are
currently in the LRA inventory and will
be transferred to developers and
residents for reuse (housing) in January
2025. 
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Charleston Land Reuse Agency
City of Charleston, WV | Class I Municipality | Established 2019

Properties taken into inventory,
all time: 132 (plus 62 pending)
Properties using Right of First
Refusal, all time: 162 (62 pending)
Properties currently in inventory:
130
Properties prepared for re-use, all
time: Over 100
Properties put back into
productive use, all time: Over 50

The Stats:Created in November of 2019, the
Charleston Land Reuse Agency (CLRA)
exercised its right of first refusal that
same month, purchasing 36 liens total.
Since then CLRA has acquired over 100
tax-delinquent and dilapidated properties
utilizing the right of first refusal.

This has allowed the City to demolish
many unsafe structures, curtail drug-
related and other criminal activity, pass
property along to adjacent property
owners, promote business development,
and provide housing for residents.

Staff report that the right of first refusal
has enabled the CLRA to : 

Donate a commercial building to a
non-profit grocery store.
By spring of 2025, 25 new housing
units and four rehabilitated housing
units will be in use. 
Approximately 25% of lots in inventory
have or are being transferred to the
City for public greenspace and
parkland/ floodplain mitigation.
Many lots transferred to adjacent
property owners for side yard
expansion.
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Charleston Land Reuse Agency
City of Charleston, WV | Class I Municipality | Established 2019

Success Story: Beatrice Street

The CLRA acquired this abandoned home utilizing the right of first
refusal. Once the property was acquired, the CLRA donated it to the
Appalachian Service Project for their home repair program.

 The nonprofit renovated the
entire home and gifted it in
2024 to a grandmother raising
her granddaughter who had lost
their home previously. Despite
her own struggles, the new
homeowner has been
organizing community events
for neighborhood children.
Through the work of CLRA, this
home which was once a center
of criminal activity in the
neighborhood, is now having a
positive impact for both the
homeowner and surrounding
residents. This impact is
especially important because
this home is immediately
adjacent to a new city
playground and sports courts. 

The Beatrice Street home is an
example of properties typically
acquired through the right of
first refusal: low value, posing
threats to the community, but
able to become a community
asset through LRA intervention. 
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Beech Bottom Land Reuse Agency
Village of Beach Bottom, WV | Class IV Municipality | Established 2023

Properties taken into inventory,
all time: 5 (Pending)
Properties using Right of First
Refusal, all time: 5
Properties currently in inventory: 5
(Pending)

The Stats:Beech Bottom is home to West Virginia’s
smallest LRA, the Beech Bottom Land
Reuse Agency. As a community with only
250 homes total, availability of housing
and populations retention are issues of
primary concern. In response, the LRA is
focused on creating pathways to home
ownership for residents, especially young
people as well as options to stay in the
community for aging residents.

The LRA exercised the right of first refusal
for the first time in July of 2024, acquiring
five liens.  Four of those properties will be
developed to house residents aged fifty-
five and older, with an eatery or small
corner store planned for the other.

Momentum generated through the use of
the right of first refusal has led to the
donation which have allowed the LRA to
sell an additional single family home at
the price of $1,500 to a young man in the
community on the condition that he
rehabilitate the property. Renovation on
this home have already begun.

“Without the right of first
refusal the five Beech Bottom
properties would have been
unattainable to our [LRA].

~ Joyce Painter, Beech
Bottom LRA Chair
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Bluefield Land Reuse Agency
Purchased 41 liens at the 2024 tax sale, 39 of which they are
currently waiting to take into inventory. 
These properties are being acquired for the purpose of building over
120 new workforce housing units in partnership with HUD and the
local housing authority.
 Bluefield LRA representatives say that this project would have been
significantly more complex without the right f first refusal.

Additional Land Bank Highlights

Dunbar Land Reuse Agency
Currently have approximately 15 properties in inventory. 
Utilized the right of first refusal on 9 properties during the 2023 tax
sale and acquired 5 of them. 
Have put approximately 7 properties back into productive use.

Clarksburg Land Reuse Agency
Have acquired or are pending acquisition on 53 properties through
the right of first refusal. 
Spent a total of $25,339 for those 53 properties, demonstrating how
the right of first refusal enables LRAs to use funding responsibly. 

Princeton Land Reuse Agency
Have exercised the right of first refusal 25 times, resulting in the
acquisition of 15 properties.
Two properties have been transferred to adjacent property owners. 
The remaining properties are being marketed for commercial or
residential redevelopment. 

Kenova Land Reuse Agency
Has exercised the right of first refusal approximately 20 times in
2023 and 2024.
LRA was created to support existing property reuse efforts
conducted by the City which has resulted in over 40 demolitions
and approximately 40 properties put back into productive use.
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Summary
Vacant, abandoned, and dilapidated properties cause significant negative
impact on West Virginians, our economy, and our communities. Residents
experience public health and safety concerns, decreased property values, and a
perpetuating cycle of disinvestment. Moreover, there is a strong correlation
between these properties that are tax-delinquent and properties that are
vacant, abandoned, and dilapidated. across the state, land reuse agencies/
authorities (LRAs) are tackling this problem head on by acquiring tax-
delinquent properties, addressing dilapidation and putting them back into
productive use.

Typically, decisions made by LRAs about property acquisition are aimed at
meeting the most pressing needs of the community as articulated by its
residents. In most cases, this requires a combination of demolition and
preparing them to be redeveloped as housing or commercial spaces. Because
property tax delinquency, particularly prolonged property tax delinquency,
creates cycles of dilapidation and abandonment, LRAs require a way to
intervene and prevent these cycles from continuing. The right of first refusal
offers LRAs a method for this type of intervention.

The right of first refusal is being used by nearly all LRAs in the state, and is
allowing LRAs to acquire property that requires immediate action to address
significant risks to the community. Once remediated, LRAs are developing
strategies for these properties to be used to meet the most pressing needs of
the community. Invariably, these needs include housing for residents and
commercial space for business to operate. Properties acquired through the
right of first refusal are also being used for floodplain mitigation, creation of
green space, and side yard expansion. Each of these use cases demonstrates a
contribution to the local economy and community cohesion that would not
have been possible without the right of first refusal.
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Despite the fact that many have been in existence for less than three years,
LRAs have become major players in statewide land reuse efforts, especially
efforts to address vacant, abandoned, and dilapidated properties. LRAs have
diverted hundreds of low value, unsafe properties out of cycles of decline and
back into productive use. Hundreds of dilapidated structures have been razed
or rehabilitated. In the last year alone, over 30 new housing units have been
created. This is the work that helps prevent crime, stops decline in property
values, opens up new spaces for homes and businesses, and makes
communities safer and more attractive to new residents and businesses. 

The role that the right of first refusal has played in the ability of LRAs to
accomplish this cannot be overstated. 
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We thank you for your
continued support of
the past, present, and
future of West Virginia’s
Land Reuse Agencies.

Special thanks to:
Cris Meadows of the Hinton Land Reuse Agency
Joyce Painter of the Beech Bottom Land Reuse Agency
Kim Reed of the Nitro Land Reuse Authority
John Butterworth of the Charleston Land Reuse Agency

The aggregation of this data, and
the success of West Virginia Land
Banks, would not be possible
without the Abandoned Properties
Coalition’s Land Reuse Team.
WVLSC is honored to work with a
team of such dedicated and
talented land reuse professionals
working toward brighter horizons
for our State. 
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January 2, 2025 
Report to Joint Committee on Government and Finance 

Senate Bill 354, passed during the 2024 Regular Legislative Session and signed into law by 
Governor Jim Justice, created the West Virginia Advanced Energy and Economic Corridor 
Authority (WVAEEC). Several members were appointed by Governor Justice on September 26, 
2024. The additional members were appointed by virtue of the positions outlined in the bill. 
However, two (2) at large members' appointments will be effective on January 8, 2025.
The Authority agreed to change its name to the Central Appalachian Highway Economic 
Development Corridor Authority (CAHEDA). Therefore, the West Virginia Advanced Energy 
and Economic Corridor Authority (WVAEEC) will be doing business as the Central Appalachian 
Highway Economic Development Authority (CAHEDA).  

The Authority filed papers with the West Virginia Secretary of State’s office (WVSOS) as a 501
(c)3, not-for-profit organization on November 18, 2024, by Nelson, Mullins, Riley and
Scarborough LLP. Nelson, Mullins, Riley and Scarborough LLP is acting on behalf of CAHEDA.
Nelson Mullins representatives also filed paperwork with the WVSOS to reflect the direction of
the Authority to do business as CAHEDA.

The organizational meeting was held in Huntington, West Virginia on December 4, 2024. The 
meeting minutes, agenda and list of members are included with this correspondence. Jim Spencer 
was selected as the Chair and Leasha Johnson as the Vice Chair.  

This information will serve as our report, and we look forward in working with you in the future. 

__________________________ ___________________________ 

Jim Spencer Leasha Johnson 
Chair Vice Chair 
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P. O. Box 5425 
Huntington, WV 25703-0425 

AGENDA 
CAHEDA Organizational Board Meeting 

Brad Smith School of Business and Innovation 

December 4, 2024 

I. Jim Spencer and Leasha Johnson - Brief remarks about CAHEDA

II. Special guest will be recognized

III. Introduction of the Nelson Mullins team members

III. Board members introductions

IV. Official Business for Board of Directors

(a) Call to Order
(b) Installation of Board Members
(c) Introduction of the Board of Directors
(d) Election of Officers
(e) New Business

(i) Approval of Bylaws
(ii) Approval of Policies
(iii) Approval to Apply for 501(c)(3) status with Internal Revenue Service
(iv) Committees & Committee Assignments

(f) Next Meeting (schedule)
(g) Adjournment
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P. O. Box 5425 
Huntington, WV 25703-0425 

Minutes of the Central Appalachian Highway Economic Development Authority 
(CAHEDA) Organizational Board Meeting 

Brad Smith School of Business and Innovation 
Huntington, West Virginia 

(Agenda Attached) 

Call to Order 
The Central Appalachian Highway Economic Development Authority (CAHEDA) held its 
organizational meeting on Wednesday, December 4, 2024, at the Brad Smith School of 
Business and Innovation in Huntington, West Virginia, with Chairman de facto, Jim 
Spencer, presiding.  Having established a quorum of board members present, Spencer 
called the meeting to order at 1:37 p.m. 

Introductory Remarks 
Spencer outlined the establishment of a regional economic development authority 
focused on identifying economic opportunities along the I-73, 74, and 75 corridors, with 
specific focus on the five-county region in Southern West Virginia, including Wayne, 
Mingo, McDowell, Wyoming and Mercer, where the new corridor will be constructed.  He 
stressed the necessity for collaboration among economic development agencies to tackle 
the challenges faced by Southern West Virginia, particularly due to the decline of the 
mining industry. Additionally, he noted the importance of workforce development and 
infrastructure in attracting new industries and supporting existing businesses, and finally, 
he explained that CAHEDA was created with the passage of Senate Bill 354 (SB 354) 
during the 2024 Regular Session of the West Virginia Legislature. Leasha Johnson, the 
Vice Chair de facto, echoed Spencer’s sentiments, emphasizing the collaborative efforts 
of economic development practitioners to leverage transportation infrastructure for future 
growth. Johnson also discussed the importance of fostering relationships with legislative 
and Congressional representatives to facilitate the initiative’s success. 

Special Guest Introductions 
Johnson introduced representatives from Senator Shelley Moore Capito’s office: Chuck 
Flannery (State Director), Jennifer Piercy (Economic Development Director), and Alex 
Vaughn (Field Representative). Cody Sanders, Field Representative and Veterans Affairs 
Liaison with Congresswoman Carol Miller's office joined the meeting a few minutes late. 
Bob Plymale introduced members of the Nelson Mullins law firm and expressed gratitude 
for their pro bono legal work, highlighting their commitment to community service. Randall 
Saunders with Nelson Mullins expressed his enthusiasm for the project, emphasizing its 
long-term benefits for the community.  Sara Payne Scarbro and Emily Brammer were 
introduced and recognized representing the Grant Resource Center at Marshall 
University. 
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Board Member Introductions 
All present members of the Authority introduced themselves and delivered brief remarks.  
Marvin Woodie shared his background and experience, emphasizing his commitment to 
economic development in West Virginia. The meeting addressed the concerning trend of 
youth migration from the state, with Nancy Ritter advocating for the development of 
aviation professionals, and Chris Chiles discussing his roles in transportation planning 
and grant management. David Lieving and James Owrey conveyed their optimism about 
working on this initiative.  Tim Burgess with Zim’s Bagging in Wayne County discussed 
the importance of hiring local talent, while Welch Mayor Harold McBride shared his 
experiences in community revitalization and the challenges posed by the pandemic. 
Christy Laxton participated remotely, highlighting that one of our greatest assets is the 
collaborative nature of the group and the collective experience the members bring to the 
Authority. Absent from the meeting were Jason Roberts, Heather Vanater, and Terry 
Sammons. 

Official Business for the Board of Directors 
Jim Spencer had been acting as the de facto Chairman and Leasha Johnson as the de 
facto Vice Chairwoman throughout the creation of the Authority and through the passage 
of SB 354. Spencer and Johnson assumed these roles for the purpose of conducting 
business for the organizational meeting. 

The meeting proceeded with the installation of board members. Randall Saunders read 
the list of members, as follows: 

• Harold McBride, McDowell County economic development official
• Jim Spencer, Mercer County economic development official
• Leasha Johnson, Mingo County economic development official
• David Lieving, Wayne County economic development official
• Christy Laxton, Wyoming County economic development official
• Jason Roberts, Region 1 Planning & Development Council
• Chris Chiles, Region 2 Planning & Development Council
• Tim Burgess, West Virginia business and industry representative
• Heather Vanater, utility company/economic development representative
• Marvin Woodie, private sector/manufacturing representative
• James Owrey, private sector/energy representative
• Nancy Ritter, private sector/aviation and air mobility representative
• Terry Sammons, private sector/energy, mining and law representative
• Chandler Swope, at large member (effective January 8, 2025)
• Bob Plymale, at large member (effective January 8, 2025)

Pursuant to SB 354, all CAHEDA board members are either appointed by the Governor 
or have been asked to serve in their respective capacities representing their counties, 
agencies, or industry sectors as outlined in SB 354. David Lieving moved to accept the 
board member installations, as presented.  The motion was seconded by Harold McBride, 
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unanimously approved, with Christy Laxton confirming her support for the installation via 
Teams Meeting. 

Election of Officers 
Nancy Ritter moved to propose a slate of Jim Spencer as Chair, Leasha Johnson as Vice-
Chair, and Robert Plymale as Secretary/Treasurer (when his appointment is complete in 
January of 2025). Plymale agreed to serve in the temporary role as Secretary/Treasurer 
until such time as his appointment is official. The motion by Ritter was seconded by Chris 
Chiles and passed unanimously, with Christy Laxton confirming her vote in favor. 

Bylaws and Policies Presentation 
Randy Saunders with Nelson Mullins presented the bylaws to be reviewed and approved. 
Saunders explained that the bylaws were designed to support the organization's growth 
and facilitate the application for 501(c)(3) status. The group discussed the need for 
policies on conflict of interest and liability limitations.  Board members also agreed that 
the bylaws could be revisited for further clarification as needed, even after they were 
approved. 

Approval of Bylaws and Policies 
The bylaws and policies were discussed by the Board members with several questions 
for the Nelson Mullins legal team. Following the discussion, a motion was made by 
Leasha Johnson to approve Resolution 2024-001 – 004 (adoption of bylaws, conflicts of 
interest, liability, and application for 501(c)(3) status).  The motion was seconded by 
Harold McBride and passed unanimously.  

The group discussed the process for appointing committees, highlighting the executive 
committee's role in establishing ad hoc committees. Members expressed the need for a 
structured approach to committee appointments and suggested that recommendations 
be brought to the board for approval at future board meetings. Additionally, the 
importance of maintaining communication with congressional representatives was noted. 

Annual Report to Joint Committee of Government and Finance 
The Board was informed that a report is due to this legislative committee prior to the 
regular Legislative Session on January 8, 2025. Jim Spencer acknowledged this duty and 
agreed to prepare the report prior to January 8, 2025. 

Action Items from the Meeting 

• The secretary will initiate the conflict of interest and liability insurance policy
process for a vote at the next board meeting.

• Board members will review the bylaws and policies and provide feedback if there
are any concerns or additions needed.

• Chairman Spencer will draft a report to the Joint Committee of Government and
Finance regarding the progress of the Central Appalachian Highway Economic
Development Authority.
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• The Authority voted to meet in Wayne County on January 8, in McDowell County
on March 12, and in Mingo County on May 14.

• The Chairman and the Executive Committee will prepare a proposed list of a
potential committee structures to be discussed at the next board meeting.

• Randy Saunders and Will Donovan of Nelson Mullins are submitting the
application for 501(c)(3) with the Internal Revenue Service.

On a motion by Tim Burgess and seconded by James Owrey, all members voted to 
adjourn the meeting at 2:43 p.m. 

Approved by: _____________________ Date:  January 8, 2025      
Bob Plymale, Secretary 

217

217



Larry Pack 
Secretary of Revenue 

STATE TAX DEPARTMENT 

December 27, 2024 

The Honorable Craig Blair 
Senate President and Co-Chairperson 
Joint Committee on Government and Finance 
Building 1, Room 229M 
State Capitol Complex 
1900 Kanawha Blvd, East 
Charleston, WV 25305 

The Honorable Roger Hanshaw 
Speaker of the House of Delegates and Co- Chairperson 
Joint Committee on Government and Finance 
Building 1, Room 228M 
State Capitol Complex 
1900 Kanawha Blvd, East 
Charleston, WV 25305 

Gentlemen: 

( 
'I fl 

\. 

Matthew Irby 
State Tax Commissioner 

RECEIVED 

DEC 2 7 : "24 

Legislative Manager 

In conformity with requirements of West Virginia Code §11-1-2b, attached is the housing 
index report to the Joint committee on Government and Finance. The report compares average 
and median costs of single dwelling residential property by county and includes various 
multipliers that are specified in the legislation. 

If after review of the attached information you should have questions, please feel free to 
contact me. 

State Tax Commissioner 

Attachment 
cc: Larry Pack, Cabinet Secretary, Department of Revenue 

Joint Committee on Government & Finance 
Legislative Librarian 

Tax Commissioner's Office. 1001 Lee Street East, P.O. Box 11771, Charleston, WV 25339-1771 
Telephone 304-558-0751 

Fax 304-558-8999 
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Comly 

19 JEFFERSON 

33 MORGAN 

D2 BERKELEY 

14 HAMPSHIRE 

40 PUTNAM 

31 MONONGALIA 

36 PENDLETON 

41 lUCKER 

49 UPSHUR 

13 CREENBRIER 

46 TAYLOR 

54 WOOD 

31 PLEASANTS 

35 OHIO 

24 MARION 

16 HARDY 

38 POCAHONTAS 

21 LEWIS 

20 KANAWHA 

11 HARRISON 

01 BARBOUR 

29 MftERAL 

39 PRESTON 

43 RITCHIE 

25 MARSHAU. 

STATE AVERAGE 

11 GLMER 

18 JACKSON 

42 RANDOLPH 

03 BOONE 

26 MASON 

04 BRAXTON 

32 MONROE 

44 ROANE 

12 GlANT 

52 WET2EL 

06 CABELL 

45 SUMIERS 

34 NICHOLAS 

28 M:RCER 

50 WAYNE 

05 BROOKE 

48 1YLER 

15 HANCOCK 

41 RALEIGH 

10 FAYETTE 

23 LOGAN 

09 DODDRIDGE 

53 WIRT 

22 LINCOLN 

08 a.AV 

01 CALHOUN 

30 MNGO 

55 WYOMNG 

51 WEBSTER 

21 MCDOWELL 

TAX YEAR 2024 

AVERAGE COST DATA 

AVGAPPRAISED VAUJE 

$373.559.70 

$325.459. 18 

$287.049 .41 

$255,939.55 

$245,975.67 

$245,912.86 

$228,037 .84 

$222,768.83 

$215,281 .02 

$209,923.37 

$200,547 .41 

$197,631 .86 

$195,599.07 

$188,821 .84 

$187,531 .47 

$171,253.09 

$169,023.07 

$168,783.46 

$165.588.97 

$165.077.63 

$164,643.96 

$162,620.54 

$161,742.98 

$159,398.71 

$156,431.15 

$155,340.23 

$147,873.84 

$147,517.60 

$146,771.02 

$146,296.35 

$144,373.63 

$143,339.96 

$140,489.62 

$138,769.28 

$138,737. 76 

$133.658.45 

$132.850.99 

$132,381 .12 

$124,217.06 

$113,857 .00 

$110,871 .24 

$109,254.34 

$106,035.10 

$105,831.72 

$102,326.61 

$102.065.99 

$99,807.82 

$96.166.74 

$94,720.51 

$82,553.90 

$75,412.18 

$73,423.10 

$72.91626 

$65,415.79 

$63,105.42 

$28,071.80 

MOST EXPENSIVE VS LEAST EXPENSIVE 

2of5 

MJLTIPUER 

2.40 

2.10 

1.85 

1.6S 

1.58 

1.58 

1.47 

1.43 

139 

135 

1.29 

1.27 

1.26 

1.22 

1.21 

1.10 

1.09 

1.09 

1.07 

1.06 

1D6 

1.05 

1.04 

1.03 

1.01 

1.00 

0.95 

0.95 

0.94 

0.94 

0.93 

0.92 

0.90 

0.89 

0.89 

0.86 

0.86 

0.85 

0.80 

0.73 

0.71 

0.70 

0.68 

0.68 

0.66 

0.66 

0.64 

0.62 

0.61 

0.53 

0.49 

0.47 

0.47 

0.42 

0.41 

0.18 

13.31 
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COUrty 

19 JEFFERSON 

02 BBl<EI..EV 

33 MORGAN 

40 PU1NAM 

31 MONONGALIA 
1t HAMPSHlRE 

47 TUO<ER 

49 UPSHlR 

46 TA\1..0R 

24 MARION 
36 PEN>LETON 

37 PLEASANTS 

54 WOOD 

20 KANAVUHA 

21 LBNiS 

39 PRESTON 
35 OHIO 

16 HARDV 

29 MINERAL 

13 GREENBRIER 

25 MARSHALL 

42 RANDOLPH 
17 HARRISON 

18JAO<SON 

32 MONROE 

43 RITCHIE 

12 GRANT 

26 MASON (MEDIAN) 

06 CA8IU. 

38 POCAHONTAS 

11 GILMER 

52 lNETZB. 

44 ROANE 

01 BARBOUR 

03 BOONE 

04 BRAXTON 
28MERcm 

45 SUMMERS 

34 NICHOLAS 

15 HANCOCK 

05 BROOKE 

48 nt.ER 
50WAVNE 

10 FAYETTE 

09 DODDRIDGE 
41 RALEIGH 

53 'WIRT 
23 LOGAN 

22 LINCOLN 

08 CLAY 

07 CALHOUN 

30 MINGO 
51 WEBSTER 
55WtOMJNG 

27 MCDOWELL 

TAX YEAR 2024 

MEDIAN COST DATA 

MEDIAN VALUE 

$314,800.00 

$230,510.00 

$226,400.00 

$196,230.00 

$191,445.00 
$174,420.00 

$164,715.00 

$147,170.00 

$140,950.00 

$140,495.00 

$139,530.00 
$138,915.00 

$137,580.00 

$121,990.00 

$121,530.00 

$120,110.00 
$119,900.00 

$117,205.00 

$116,840.00 

$116,760.00 

$112,120.00 

$111,165.00 
$110,870.00 

$107,770.00 

$103,430.00 

$103,275.00 

$103,205.00 

$100,475.00 

$98,970.00 

$96,850.00 

$95,750.00 
$95,700.00 

$94,250.00 

$110,580.00 

$91.450.00 

$87,930.00 
$87,480.00 

$87,055.00 

$85,465.00 

$85,085.00 

$78,830.00 

$77,680.00 
$77,035.00 

$72,225.00 

$69,800.00 
$69,700.00 

$67,240.00 
$65,140.00 

$61,050.00 

$53,280.00 

$52,100.00 

$50,240.00 
$42,335.00 
$40,030.00 
$17,540.00 

MOST EXPENSIVE VS LEAST EXPENSIVE 

3 ofS 

MULTIPLIER 

3.13 

229 

225 

1.95 

1.91 
1.74 

1.64 

1.46 

1.40 

1.40 

1.39 
1.38 

1.37 

1.21 

1.21 

1.20 
1.19 

1.17 

1.16 

1.16 

1.12 

1.11 
1.10 

1.07 

1.03 

1.03 

1.03 

1.00 

0.99 

0.96 
0.95 
0.95 

0.94 
II" 

0.89 

0.91 

0.88 
0.87 

0.87 

0.85 

0.85 

0.78 

0.77 
0.77 

0.72 

0.69 
0.69 

0.67 
0.65 

0.61 

0.53 

0.52 

0.50 
0.42 
0.40 
0.17 
17.95 
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A\IERAGE COST PER SQUARE FOOT 

County AVCYalue per SqR MUl.TIPllfR 

19 .EFFERSON 124.94 2.03 

021ERKELEY 109.82 1.78 

31 P«>NONGALIA 98.63 1.60 

33 fmRGAN 94.03 1.53 

47 lUCKER 91.53 1.49 

40 PUTNAM 90.69 1.47 

24 MARON 82.79 1.34 

54'-M>OD 80.99 1.32 

17 HARRISON 76.71 1.25 

13HENBRIER 75.83 1.23 

16 HARDY 75.38 1.22 

20 KANAVVHA 75.29 1.22 

36 PENDLETON 73.16 1.19 

42 RANDOLPH 72.29 1.17 

35 OHIO 71.89 1.17 

46 TAYLOR 71.58 1.16 

37 R.EASANTS 69.61 1.13 

14 HAMPSHIRE 69.11 1.12 

39 PRESTON 67.77 1.10 

49 IPSHUR 66.55 1.08 

29 MNERAL 65.03 1.06 

06 CABELL 62.43 1.01 

18 ACKSON 62.20 1.01 

STAlE AVERAGE 61.58 1.00 

25 MARSHALL 60.29 0.98 

28 M:RCER 60.22 0.98 

15 HANCOCK 59.99 0.97 

43 IITCHIE 59.77 0.97 

41 RALBGH 59.39 0.96 

211.fWJS 58.24 0.95 

12 mANT 57.49 0.93 

45 SUMMERS 57.30 0.93 

26 MASON 56.29 0.91 

01 BARBOUR 54.93 0.89 

32 mNROE 54.10 0.88 

52 VIETZEL 53.61 0.87 

44 R>ANE 52.97 0.86 

04 BRAXTON 52.89 I 0.86 

10 FAYETTE 52.65 0.86 

0511\00KE 51.46 0.84 

09 DODDRIDGE 50.59 0.82 

03 BOONE 50.40 0.82 

50WAVNE 50.17 0.81 

34 NCHOLAS 49.77 0.81 

481YLER 48.08 0.78 

38 POCAHONTAS 48.02 0.78 

53WRT 47.17 0.77 

11 Gt.MER 44.85 0.73 

22 LINCOLN 43.39 0.70 

23 LOGAN 40.29 0.65 

07 CALHOUN 39.38 0.64 

08 Q.AY 37.78 0.61 

30 MNGO 34.42 0.56 

51 V'IBSTER 30.33 0.49 

55VWOMfNG 26.03 0.42 

27 &W::DOMLL 16.47 0.27 

MOST EXP&fSIVE VS LEAST EXPENSIVE 7.59 
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TAX YEAR 2024 

MEDIAN COST PER SQUARE FOOT 

County MedianSR.A MULTtPLIER 

19 JEFFERSON 132.48 2.39 

02 BERKELEY 116.70 2.10 

33 MORGAN 108.98 1.82 

31 MONONGALIA 10D.63 1.81 

40 PUTNAM 93.79 1.69 

24 MARION 80.56 1.45 

54WOOD 79.34 1.43 

47 TUCKER 76.95 1.39 

14 HAMPSHIRE 75.15 1.35 

20 KANAVVHA 72.84 1.31 

36 PENDLETON 71.46 1.29 

16 HARDV 70.34 1.27 

42 RANDOLPH 68.69 1.23 

17 HARRISON 68.07 1.23 

35 OHIO 67.23 1.21 

37 PLEASANTS 67.0S 1.21 

46TAn.OR 66.98 1.21 

39 PRESTON 66.09 1.19 

49 UPSIWR 65.40 1.18 

29 MINERAL 64.22 1.16 

18 JACKSON 60.14 1.08 

15 HANCOCK 59.91 1.08 

12 GRANT 58.69 1.05 

25 MARSHALL 57.94 1.04 

06 CABELL 57.16 1.03 

32 MONROE 56.21 1.01 

21 LBMS 56.08 1.01 

! 21 MERCER(MEOfAN) 55.47 1.00 

43 RITCHJE 55.11 0.99 

26 MASON 54.83 0.99 

13 GREENBRIER 53.96 0.97 

45 SUMMERS 53.86 0.97 

52 VVETZEL 53.35 0.96 

01 BARBOUR 52.79 0.95 

44 ROANE 52.18 0.94 

05 BROOKE 49.32 0.89 

04 BRAXTON 49.11 0.89 

09 DODDRIDGE 48.16 0.87 

41 RALEIGH 48.14 0.87 

50WAYNE 47.63 0.86 

10 FAYETTE 47.30 0.85 

34 NICHOLAS 47.16 0.85 

53lMRT 46.35 0.84 

48 m.ER 45.22 0.82 

38 POCAHONTAS 42.88 0.77 

11 GD.MER 42.87 0.77 

03 BOONE 42.08 0.76 

22 LINCOLN 41.53 0.75 

07 CALHOUN 38.38 0.69 

23 LOGAN 36.63 0.66 

08 CLAY 35.04 0.63 

30 MINGO 30.53 0.55 

51 WEBSTER 29.50 0.53 

55\NVOMING 23.87 0.43 

27 MCOOVUELL 13.40 0.24 

MOST EXPENSIVE VS LEAST E>CPENSM 9.88 
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Larry Pack 
Secretary of Revenue 

STATE TAX DEPARTMENT 

December 27, 2024 

The Honorable Jim Justice 
Governor 
Building 1 
State Capitol Complex 
1900 Kanawha Blvd, East 
Charleston, WV 25305 

The Honorable Craig Blair 
Senate President and Co-Chairperson 
Joint Committee on Government and Finance 
Building 1, Room 229M 
State Capitol Complex 
1900 Kanawha Blvd, East 
Charleston, WV 25305 

The Honorable Roger Hanshaw 
Speaker of the House of Delegates and Co- Chairperson 
Joint Committee on Government and Finance 
Building 1, Room 228M 
State Capitol Complex 
1900 Kanawha Blvd, East 
Charleston, WV 25305 

Gentlemen: 

Matthew Irby 
Stale Tax Commissioner 

RECEIVED 

DEC 2 7 �,24 

Legislative Manager 

West Virginia Code §11-6F-4 requires the State Tax Commissioner to annually report to 
the Governor and the Joint Committee on Government and Finance the status of the special 
method for appraising, for ad valorem property tax purposes, qualified capital additions to 
manufacturing facilities. 

If after review of the attached information you should have any questions, please feel 

free to contact me. 

State Tax Commissioner 

Attachment 
cc: Larry Pack, Cabinet Secretary, Department of Revenue 

Joint Committee on Government and Finance 
Legislative Librarian 

Tax Commissioner's Office, 1001 Lee Strec1 East, P.O. Box 11771, Charleston, WV 25339-1771 
Telephone 304-558-0751 

Fax 304-558-8999 
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STATE TAX DEPARTMENT 
REPORT TO GOVERNOR AND JOINT COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT AND FINANCE 

FOR TAX YEAR 2025 
SEPTEMBER 2025 

This report is submitted to the Governor and the Joint Committee on Government and 
Finance in accordance with provisions of West Virginia Code§ 11-6F-4 on the status of the Special 
Method for Appraising Qualified Capital Additions to Manufacturing Facilities for ad valorem 
property tax purposes. 

Tax Year 2025 Status 

Number of Applications Filed: 14 
Number of Applications Certified: 14 
Number of Applications Denied: O 
Number of Applications Pending: O 
Number of Applications Expired: 3 

Structure of the Valuation Method 

The value of a certified capital addition which exceeds $50 million added to an existing 
manufacturing facility with an original cost valuation of $100 million or more first placed into 
operation for tax years beginning on or after July 1, 1997, shall be deemed to be appraised at five 
percent of its original cost. Beginning on and after July 1, 2011, when the new capital addition is 
a facility that is or will be classified under the North American Industry Classification System with 
a six digit code number 211112, or is a manufacturing facility that uses product produced at a 
facility with code number 211112, then wherever the term 11100 million" is used in this subsection, 
the term "20 million" shall be substituted and where the term 1150 million" is used, the term "10 
million" shall be substituted. For capital additions certified on or after July 1, 2011, the value of 
the land before any improvements shall be subtracted from the value of the capital addition and 
the unimproved land value shall not be given salvage value treatment. 

Legislative Rule Title 110, Series 6F, Property Tax Valu'ation of Certain Manufacturing 
Property, explains and clarifies the special tax valuation provisions set forth in West Virginia Code 
§ 11-6F et. seq.

Benefits and Costs of the Valuation Method 

Under this special method of valuation, qualified tangible personal property is assessed 
at 5% of its original cost for a period of 10 years, unless the property is an ethane cracker plant 
or other facility described in W. Va. Code§ 11-6F-2(e)(2), in which case the salvage value 
treatment of the property is for a period of25 years, as provided in W. Va. Code§ 11-6F-4. 

This special valuation method for certified capital addition property was first enacted in 
1997 to encourage manufacturing companies with large existing facilities within the State to 
undertake major expansions within the State. In 2011, the law amended to encourage the location 
in this State of one or more ethane cracker facilities costing more than $2 billion and to encourage 
the development of downstream manufacturing facilities. 

Page 2 of 3 
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The purpose of this program is to help preserve and expand the existing tax base and 
preserve and create jobs at manufacturing facilities in this State. 

There are currently 14 projects qualified to receive this special method of valuing certified 
capital addition property. For Tax Year 2025, property taxes foregone were $36 million. 

Page 3 of 3 
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Larry Pack 
Secretary of Revenue 

STATE TAX DEPARTMENT 

December 27, 2024 

The Honorable Craig Blair 
Senate President and Co-Chairperson 
Joint Committee on Government and Finance 
Building 1, Room 229M 
State Capitol Complex 
1900 Kanawha Blvd, East 
Charleston, WV 25305 

The Honorable Roger Hanshaw 
Speaker of the House of Delegates and Co- Chairperson 
Joint Committee on Government and Finance 
Building 1, Room 228M 
State Capitol Complex 
1900 Kanawha Blvd, East 
Charleston, WV 25305 

Gentlemen: 

,,--.., . 

Matthew Irby 
State Tax Commissioner 

RECEIVED 

Legislative Manager 

In conformity with requirements of West Virginia Code §11-1 C-11, attached is a report 
on managed timberland to the Joint Committee on Government and Finance. The report and its 
attachments contain a history of the managed timberland program and analysis of data 
reflecting the impact of the program on the State's property tax base. 

If after review of the attached information you should have any questions, please feel 
free to contact me. 

Attachment 
cc: Larry Pack, Cabinet Secretary, Department of Revenue 

Joint Committee on Government and Finance 

Tax Commissioner's Office, 100 I Lee Street East, P.O. Box 11771, Charleston, WV 25339-1771 
Telephone 304-558-0751 

Fax 304-558-8999 
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MANAGED TIMBERLAND PROGRAM 

REPORT TO THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT AND FINANCE 

DECEMBER 27, 2024 

Submitted by: 

West Virginia State Tax Department 
Matthew Irby 
State Tax Commissioner 

MANAGED TIMBERLAND PROGRAM 

Page 2 of 4 
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This report on the property tax aspects of the State's managed timberland program is submitted 
to the Joint Committee on Government and Finance pursuant to the provision of W. Va. Code § 
11-1C-11{c), which reads:

{c) To aid the Legislature in assessing the impact of the managed timberland program 
on the State of West Virginia, the Division of Forestry and the Tax Commissioner, on or 
before December 31, 2001, and on December 31, each year thereafter, shall report in 
writing to the Joint Committee on Government and Finance of the Legislature or its 
designated subcommittee. The Tax Commissioner shall include in his or her report a 
complete and accurate assessment of the impact of the managed timberland program 
on the tax collections of the state, including projected increases or decreases in tax 
collection. The Division of Forestry shall include in its report detailed information on the 
number of acres designated as managed timberland and any identified Impacts of the 
program on the state's timber industry. 

This report includes data, by county, indicating the effect the managed timberland program has 
on the State's property tax base for tax year 2024. Please see the Division of Forestry's annual 
report for information on the history of the managed timberland program, the number of acres 
designated as managed timberland, and the impacts the program has on this State's timber 
industry. 

The attached spreadsheets for tax year 2024 begin by showing for each county the appraised 
value of timberland In the managed timberland program and the appraised value of timberland 
not In the managed timberland program. The last column shows the tax savings to owners 
participating In the managed timberland program.* 

The appraised value of timberland not in the managed timberland program must always be 
more than the appraised value of equivalent grades of properties being classified as managed 
timberland In the county.** This means that the appraised value of: 

A & B grade woodland must be at least the amount of grade 1 managed timberland; 

C & D grade woodland must be at least the amount of grade 2 managed timberland; and 

E grade woodland must be at least the amount of grade 3 managed timberland. 

*To determine tax savings, appraised values are multiplied by 60 percent to determine the
assessed values of the properties. The assessed values are then multiplied by the applicable
class Ill levy rate. In a few cases, the particular managed timberland may also qualify for farm
use valuation, meaning that the lower Class II levy rate rather than the higher Class Ill levy rate
is applied.

**See CSR §110-1H-2.2. 

Grades of Managed Timberland Productivity 

Grade 1. Managed timberland productivity is excellent to very good. 

Grade 2. Managed timberland productivity is good to fair. 

Page 3 of 4 
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Grade 3. Managed timberland productivity is poor.* 

Timberland Classification Schedule 

Class "A" - This land is adaptable for use as forest property. It may be adaptable to other 
profitable uses. On it is a stand of trees of commercial species, the size being from fourteen ( 14) 
to twenty (20) inches d.b.h. ** and above. 

Class "811 

- This land is also adaptable for use as forest property. It may be adaptable for 
other profitable uses. There is a stand of trees of commercial species, the size being from ten 
(10) to fourteen (14) inches d.b.h.

Class 11C11 

- This land is adaptable for use as forest property. On it is a stand of trees of 
commercial species, the size being from six (6) to ten (10) inches d.b.h. 

Class "D11 

- This land is adaptable for use as forest property. On it is a stand of trees of 
commercial species, the size being from four (4) to six (6) inches d.b.h. 

Class 1

1E1

1 - This land is adaptable for use as forest property. On it is a stand of trees of 
commercial species less than four (4) Inches d.b.h. This class of timberland also includes clear 
cut property and property subjected to total harvest where the remaining commercial species 
are less than four (4) inches d.b.h.*** 

The attached spreadsheet for tax year 2024, shows that the counties of McDowell, and 
Wyoming each under appraised the value of timberland not in the managed timberland 
program. These counties need to take corrective action for the 2025 property tax year in order 
to comply with CSR §110-1 H-2.2. 

* To determine tax savings, appraised values are multiplied by 60 percent to determine the
assessed values of the properties. The assessed values are then multiplied by the applicable
class Ill levy rate. In a few cases, the particular managed timberland may also qualify for farm
use valuation, meaning that the lower class II levy rate applies rather than the higher class Ill
levy rate.
See CSR § 110-1 H-2.2.
See CSR § 110-1 H-3.12 and Appendix 4 of the managed timberland rule.

** 1

1dbh" means the diameter of trees at breast height, which is 4.5' above ground level. CRS 
§110-1 H-3.4.

*** See CSR § 110-1 H, Appendix 1. 

Page 4 of 4 
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Legislative Report WV Code 11-1C-11 Tax Year 2024 

County MT Acreage MT Appraisal MT Rate/Acre Cl 3 Levy Rates MT Taxu Tlmb Acreage Tlmb Appraisal Tlmb Rate/Acre RIA Dlff AppralHI Dlff Ta>t Dlff 

BARBOUR 25,563.03 $4,184,929 $164 0.013004 $32,652 63,835.97 83,950,030.00 $1,315 $1,151 $29,432,750 ($229,646) 

BERKELEY 9,624.94 $1,051,321 $109 0.025276 $15,944 18,288.69 $26,416,830 $1,444 $1,335 $12,851,282 ($194,897) 

BOONE 107,049.67 $21,420,827 $200 0.025104 $322,649 156,072.80 $35,831,720 $230 $29 $3,155,997 ($47,537) 

BRAXTON 40,489.30 $7,397,240 $183 0.015428 $68,475 128,143.28 $101,269,810 $790 $608 $24,600,877 ($227,725) 

BROOKE 46.44 $6,386 $138 0.026568 S102 19,448.72 S6,341,310 $326 $189 $8,756 ($140) 

CABELL 2,162.73 $448,075 $207 0.027472 $7,386 85,417.24 $48,457,140 $567 $360 $778,840 ($12,838) 

CALHOUN 13,256.33 $2,424,935 $183 0.016518 $24,032 82,545.91 $54,935,580 $666 $483 $6,397,358 ($63,401) 

CLAY 80,867.36 $15,380,288 $190 0.013956 $128,788 100,794.07 $49,779,980 $494 $304 $24,558,327 ($205,642) 

DODDRIDGE 16,154.48 $2,828,829 $175 0.023424 $39,757 71,117.05 $83,354,100 $1,172 $997 $16,105,339 ($226,351) 

FAYETTE 132,363.91 $25,891,224 $196 0.025620 $398,000 165,076.11 $71,163,320 $431 $235 $31,170,063 ($479,146) 

GILMER 34,349.48 $6,361,403 $185 0.018584 $70,932 99,933.52 $62,307,390 $623 $438 $15,055,099 ($167,870) 

GRANT 39,403.42 $6,211,254 $158 0.016052 $59,822 43,465.57 $21,799,580 $502 $344 $13,551,009 ($130,512) 

GREENBRIER 175,569.46 $28,581,493 $163 0.019094 $327,441 116,958.56 $73,282,930 $627 $464 $81,425,371 ($932,842) 

HAMPSHIRE 87,011.47 $7,883,067 $91 0.017428 $82,432 56,304.46 $75,997,300 $1,350 $1,259 S109,561,213 ($1,145,660) 

HANCOCK 0.00 so $0 0.025492 so 14,528.49 S6,419,870 $442 $442 $0 $0 

HARDY 41,744.44 S3,835,457 $92 0.015448 S35,550 52,830.61 $36,465,160 $690 $598 $24,977,719 ($231,513) 

HARRISON 9,458.48 $1,853,830 $196 0.023280 $25,894 73,490.13 $52,486,920 $714 $518 $4,901,451 ($68,463) 

JACKSON 5,916.78 $663,062 $112 0.024924 $9,916 90,842.50 $46,891,430 $516 $404 $2,391,084 {$35,757) 

JEFFERSON 1,128.80 $165,386 $147 0.023360 S2,318 5,447.81 $15,588,790 $2,861 $2,715 $3,064,651 ($42,954) 
' 

KANAWHA 73,383.58 $11,417,666 $156 0.025196 $172,608 489,334.55 $129,824,250 $265 $110 $8,051,567 ($121,720) 

LEWIS 42,250.24 $7,508,975 $178 0.017708 $79,781 76,633.15 $85,168,450 $1,111 $934 $39,447,041 ($419,117) 

LINCOLN 11,649.43 $1,995,927 $171 0.024872 $29,786 201,154.74 $85,354,100 $424 $253 $2,947,166 {$43,981) 

LOGAN 138,685.80 $21,965,485 $158 0.025124 $331,117 93,489.63 $21,415,930 $229 $71 $9,803,658 ($147,784) 

MARION 22,043.84 $4,488,815 $204 0.024708 $66,546 76,977.76 $94,767,270 $1,231 $1,027 $22,649,342 {$335,772) 

MARSHALL 5,239.30 $1,082,520 $207 0.020160 $13,094 45,444.60 $10,566,310 $233 $26 $135,668 ($1,641) 

MASON 6,589.68 $930,478 $141 0.023660 $13,209 61,396.59 $49,146,190 $800 $659 $4,344,370 {$61,673) 

MCDOWELL 65,720.82 $10,920,936 $166 0.022748 $149,058 312,120.78 $33,703,170 $108 ($58) ($3,824,324) $52,197 

MERCER 4,532.71 $857,172 $189 0.022740 $11,695 161,292.71 $85,041,400 $527 $338 $1,532,694 {$20,912) 

MINERAL 38,236.80 $4,939,689 $129 0.023876 $70,764 37,678.87 $17,659,430 $469 $339 $12,981,233 ($185,964) 

MINGO 48,329.02 $7,951,699 $165 0.022760 $108,588 176,957.89 $52,718,470 $298 $133 $6,446,257 {$88,030) 

MONONGALIA 9,488.80 $1,757,112 $185 0.021392 $22,553 86,053.50 $57,822,820 $672 $487 $4,618,796 ($59,283) 

MONROE 33,936.43 $3,627,385 $107 0.021156 $46,045 45,759.76 $64,744,390 $1,415 $1,308 $44,388,458 {$563,449) 

MORGAN 25,530.17 $2,173,338 $85 0.020012 $26,096 24,351.14 $29,847,160 $1,226 $1,141 $29,118,958 ($349,637) 

NICHOLAS 166,514.54 $33,732,163 $203 0.019636 $397,419 114,747.25 $80,155,300 $699 $496 $82,584,550 ($972,978) 

OHIO 83.06 $17,122 $206 0.023100 $237 15,290.66 $4,646,880 $304 $98 $8,120 ($113) 

PENDLETON 37,874.12 $4,360,738 $115 0.013580 $35,531 60,740.00 $105,525,060 S1,737 $1,622 $61,438,880 ($500,6041 

PLEASANTS 3,678.44 $642,427 $175 0.023832 $9,186 36,708.62 $32,576,740 $887 $713 $2,621,972 ($37,492) 

POCAHONTAS 46,341.18 $6,916,480 $149 0.012936 $53,683 42,575.15 $81,147,240 $1,906 $1,757 $81,408,725 {$631,862) 

PRESTON 79,745.65 $12,434,371 $156 0.021204 $158,195 196,040.53 $112,781,440 $575 $419 $33,443,026 {$425,476) 

PUTNAM 15,551.49 $3,122,895 $201 0.024304 $45,539 87,958.18 $98,014,670 S1,114 $914 $14,206,638 1$207,167) 

RALEIGH 158,662.14 $29,341,641 $185 0.024028 $423,013 115,180.97 S64,120,970 $557 $372 $58,985,192 ($850,378) 

RANDOLPH 212,992.56 $40,027,383 $188 0.013488 $323,934 86,013.99 $113,572,980 $1,320 $1,132 $241,208,260 ($1,952,0501 

RITCHIE 36,961.86 $6,853,314 $185 0.021780 S89,559 102,218.48 $119,735,770 $1,171 $986 $36,442,739 ($476,234) 

ROANE 17,887.34 $3,225,413 $180 0.017796 $34,440 140,876.62 $128,028,660 $909 $728 $13,030,600 ($139,136) 

SUMMERS 14,348.40 $2,369,928 $165 0.013580 $19,310 87,864.80 $96,304,480 $1,096 $931 $13,356,679 (S108,830) 

TAYLOR 7,764.71 $1,559,270 $201 0.019782 $18,507 38,945.99 $39,534,910 $1,015 $814 $6,322,854 ($75,047) 

TUCKER 47,425.43 $6,675,431 $141 0.013244 $53,046 82,683.92 $35,682,320 $432 $291 $13,791,056 ($109,589) 

TYLER 8,839.39 $1,554,151 $176 0.021732 S20,265 75,207.24 $52,321,570 $696 $520 $4,595,400 1$59,920) 

UPSHUR 57,815.82 $11,470,191 $198 0.017512 $120,520 75,280.23 $83,715,580 $1,112 $914 $52,824,045 1$555,033) 

WAYNE 12,131.67 $2,115,975 $174 0.024564 $31,186 179,030.43 $51,914,850 $290 $116 $1,401,940 ($20,662) 

WEBSTER 177,205.35 $30,690,278 $173 0.013580 $250,064 70,497.83 $41,046,760 $582 $409 $72,486,025 ($590,616) 

WETZEL 28,086.99 $5,054,761 $180 0.022864 $69,343 120,540.09 $100,493,440 $834 $654 $18,361,168 ($251,886) 

WIRT 30,425.75 $3,538,136 $116 0.024104 $51,170 44,120.34 $31,816,610 $721 $605 $18,402,860 ($266,150) 

WOOD 5,055.54 $650,221 $129 0.022048 $8,602 74,207.76 $71,405,140 $962 $834 $4,214,385 ($55,751) 

WYOMING 110,637.05 $21,134,477 $191 0.022760 $288,612 283,380.35 $41,666,370 $147 ($44) ($4,867,138) $66,466 

TOTAL 2,623,805.62 $445,692,969 $170 $5,294,391 5,463,296.59 $3,356,726,270 $614 $445 $1,186,410,110 ($15 ,010,170) 
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Legislative Report WV Code 11-1C-11 Tax Year 2024 

County MT Acreage MT Appraisal MT Rate/Acre Cl 3 Levy Rntes MT Taxes Tlmb Acreage Tlmb Appraisal Tlmb Rate/Acre RIA Dlff Appraisal Dlff Ta>< Dlff 

BARBOUR 25,563.03 $4,184,929 $164 0.013004 $32,652 63,835.97 83,950,030.00 $1,315 $1,151 $29,432,750 ($229,646) 

BERKELEY 9,624.94 $1,051,321 $109 0.025276 $15,944 18,288.69 $26,416,830 $1,444 $1,335 $12,851,282 ($194,897) 

BOONE 107,049.67 $21,420,827 $200 0.025104 $322,649 156,072.80 $35,831,720 S230 $29 S3,155,997 ($47,537) 

BRAXTON 40,489.30 $7,397,240 $183 0.015428 $68,475 128,143.28 $101,269,810 $790 $608 $24,600,877 ($227,725) 

BROOKE 46.44 $6,386 $138 0.026568 $102 19,448.72 $6,341,310 $326 $189 $8,756 ($1'0) 

CABELL 2,162.73 $448,075 S207 0.027472 S7,386 85,417.24 $48,457,140 $567 $360 $778,840 ($12,838) 

CALHOUN 13,256.33 $2,424,935 $183 0.016518 $24,032 82,545.91 $54,935,580 $666 $483 $6,397,358 ($63,401) 

CLAY 80,867.36 $15,380,288 $190 0.013956 $128,788 100,794.07 $49,779,980 $494 $304 $24,558,327 ($205,642) 

DODDRIDGE 16,154.48 $2,828,829 $175 0.023424 $39,757 71,117.05 $83,354,100 $1,172 $997 $16,105,339 ($226,351) 

FAYETTE 132,363.91 $25,891,224 $196 0.025620 $398,000 165,076.11 $71,163,320 $431 $235 $31,170,063 ($479,146) 

GILMER 34,349.48 $6,361,403 $185 0.018584 $70,932 99,933.52 $62,307,390 $623 $438 $15,055,099 ($167,870) 

GRANT 39,403.42 $6,211,254 $158 0.016052 $59,822 43,465.57 S21,799,580 $502 $344 S13,551,009 ($130,512) 

GREENBRIER 175,569.46 S28,581,493 S163 0.019094 $327,441 116,958.56 $73,282,930 $627 $464 $81,425,371 ($932,842) 

HAMPSHIRE 87,011.47 S7.883,067 S91 0.017428 S82,432 56,304.46 S75,997,300 S1,350 $1,259 $109,561,213 1$1, 145,660) 

HANCOCK o.oo $0 so 0.025492 $0 14,528.49 S6,419,870 $442 $442 so so 

HARDY 41,744.44 $3,835,457 $92 0.015448 $35,550 52,830.61 $36,465,160 $690 $598 S24,977,719 1$231,513) 

HARRISON 9,458.48 $1,853,830 $196 0.023280 $25,894 73,490.13 $52,486,920 $714 $518 $4,901,451 ($68,4631 

JACKSON 5,916.78 $663,062 $112 0.024924 $9,916 90,842.50 $46,891,430 $516 $404 $2,391,084 ($35,757) 

JEFFERSON 1,128.80 $165,386 S147 0.023360 $2,318 5,447.81 $15,588,790 $2,861 $2,715 $3,064,651 1$42,9541 

KANAWHA 73,383.58 $11,417,666 $156 0.025196 $172,608 489,334.55 $129,824,250 S265 $110 $8,051,567 15121,720) 

LEWIS 42,250.24 $7,508,975 $178 0.017708 $79,781 76,633.15 $85,168,450 $1,111 $934 $39,447,041 1$419,117) 

LINCOLN 11,649.43 $1,995,927 $171 0.024872 $29,786 201,154.74 $85,354,100 $424 $253 S2,947,166 ($43,981) 

LOGAN 138,685.80 $21,965,485 $158 0.025124 S331,117 93,489.63 $21,415,930 $229 S71 $9,803,658 1$147,784) 

MARION 22,043.84 $4,488,815 $204 0.024708 $66,546 76,977.76 $94,767,270 S1,231 $1,027 $22,649,342 15335,772) 

MARSHALL 5,239.30 $1,082,520 $207 0.020160 $13,094 45,444.60 Sl0,566,310 $233 $26 $135,668 1$1,641) 

MASON 6,589.68 $930,478 $141 0.023660 $13,209 61,396.59 $49,146,190 $800 $659 $4,344,370 1561,673) 

MCDOWELL 65,720.82 $10,920,936 $166 0.022748 $149,058 312,120.78 $33,703,170 $108 ($58) 1$3,824,324) $52,197 

MERCER 4,532.71 $857,172 $189 0.022740 $11,695 161,292.71 $85,041,400 $527 $338 $1,532,694 1520.912) 

MINERAL 38,236.80 $4,939,689 $129 0.023876 $70,764 37,678.87 $17,659,430 $469 S339 $12,981,233 1$185,964) 

MINGO 48,329.02 $7,951,699 $165 0.022760 $108,588 176,957.89 $52,718,470 $298 $133 $6,446,257 ($88,030) 

MONONGALIA 9,488.80 $1,757,112 $185 0.021392 $22,553 86,053.50 $57,822,820 $672 $487 $4,618,796 ($59,283) 

MONROE 33,936.43 $3,627,385 $107 0.021156 $46,045 45,759.76 $64,744,390 $1,415 $1,308 $44,388,458 1$563,4491 

MORGAN 25,530.17 $2,173,338 $85 0.020012 $26,096 24,351.14 $29,847,160 $1,226 $1,141 $29,118,958 ($349,637) 

NICHOLAS 166,514.54 $33,732,163 $203 0.019636 $397,419 114,747.25 $80,155,300 $699 $496 $82,584,550 1$972,9781 

OHIO 83.06 $17,122 $206 0.023100 $237 15,290.66 $4,646,880 $304 $98 $8,120 1$113) 

PENDLETON 37,874.12 $4,360,738 $115 0.013580 $35,531 60,740.00 $105,525,060 $1,737 $1,622 $61,438,880 1$500,6041 
PLEASANTS 3,678.44 $642,427 S175 0.023832 $9,186 36,708.62 $32,576,740 $887 $713 $2,621,972 ($37,492) 

POCAHONTAS 46,341.18 $6,916,480 $149 0.012936 $53,683 42,575.15 $81,147,240 $1,906 $1,757 $81,408,725 15631,8621 

PRESTON 79,745.65 $12,434,371 $156 0.021204 $158,195 196,040.53 $112,781,440 $575 $419 $33,443,026 ($425,476) 

PUTNAM 15,551.49 $3,122,895 $201 0.024304 $45,539 87,958.18 $98,014,670 $1,114 $914 $14,206,638 1$207, 1671 

RALEIGH 158,662.14 $29,341,641 $185 0.024028 $423,013 115,180.97 $64,120,970 $557 $372 $58,985,192 ($850,378) 

RANDOLPH 212,992.56 $40,027,383 $188 0.013488 $323,934 86,013.99 $113,572,980 $1,320 $1,132 $241,208,260 1$1,952,050) 

RITCHIE 36,961.86 $6,853,314 $185 0.021780 $89,559 102,218.48 $119,735,770 $1,171 $986 $36,442,739 ($476,234) 

ROANE 17,887.34 $3,225,413 $180 0.017796 $34,440 140,876.62 $128,028,660 $909 $728 $13,030,600 ($139,136) 

SUMMERS 14,348.40 $2,369,928 $165 0.013580 $19,310 87,864.80 $96,304,480 $1,096 $931 $13,356,679 1$108.8301 

TAYLOR 7,764.71 $1,559,270 $201 0.019782 $18,507 38,945.99 $39,534,910 $1,015 $814 $6,322,854 1575.047) 

TUCKER 47,425.43 $6,675,431 $141 0.013244 $53,046 82,683.92 $35,682,320 $432 $291 $13,791,056 1$109,5891 

TYLER 8,839.39 $1,554,151 S176 0.021732 $20,265 75,207.24 $52,321,570 $696 $520 $4,595,400 ($59,920) 

UPSHUR 57,815.82 $11,470,191 $198 0.017512 $120,520 75,280.23 $83,715,580 $1,112 $914 $52,824,045 1$555,033) 

WAYNE 12,131.67 $2,115,975 $174 0.024564 $31,186 179,030.43 $51,914,850 $290 $116 $1,401,940 1$20,6621 

WEBSTER 177,205.35 S30,690,278 S173 0.013580 $250,064 70,497.83 $41,046,760 $582 $409 $72,486,025 1$590,616) 

WETZEL 28,086.99 $5,054,761 $180 0.022864 $69,343 120,540.09 $100,493,440 $834 $654 $18,361,168 1$251.886) 

WIRT 30,425.75 $3,538,136 $116 0.024104 $51,170 44,120.34 $31,816,610 $721 $605 $18,402,860 ($266,150) 

WOOD 5,055.54 $650,221 $129 0.022048 $8,602 74,207.76 $71,405,140 $962 $834 $4,214,385 ($55.751) 

WYOMING 110,637.05 $21,134,477 S191 0.022760 $288,612 283,380.35 $41,666,370 $147 ($44) ($4,867,138) $66,466 

TOTAL 2,623,805.62 $445,692,969 $170 $5,294,391 5,463,296.59 S3,356,726,270 $614 $445 $1,166,410,110 1$15,010, 170) 
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Legislative Report WV Code 11-1C-11 Tax Year 2024 

County MT Acreage MT Appraisal MT Rate/Acre Cl 3 Levy Rates MT TDH Tlmb Acreage Tlmb Appraisal Tlmb Rate/Acre RIA Dlff Appraisal Dlff T■>< Dlff 

BARBOUR 25,563.03 $4,184,929 $164 0.013004 $32,652 63,835.97 83,950,030.00 $1,315 $1,151 $29,432,750 ($229,646) 

BERKELEY 9,624.94 $1,051,321 $109 0.025276 $15,944 18,288.69 $26,416,830 $1,444 $1,335 $12,851,282 ($194,897) 

BOONE 107,049.67 $21,420,827 $200 0.025104 $322,649 156,072.80 $35,831,720 $230 $29 $3,155,997 ($47,537) 

BRAXTON 40,489.30 $7,397,240 $183 0.015428 $68,475 128,143.28 $101,269,810 $790 $608 $24,600,877 ($227,725) 
-

BROOKE 46.44 $6,386 $138 0.026568 $102 19,448.72 $6,341,310 $326 $189 $8,756 ($140) 

CABELL 2,162.73 $448,075 $207 0.027472 $7,386 85,417.24 $48,457,140 $567 $360 $778,840 ($12,838) 

CALHOUN 13,256.33 $2,424,935 $183 0.016518 $24,032 82,545.91 $54,935,580 $666 $483 $6,397,358 ($63,401) 

CLAY 80,867.36 $15,380,288 $190 0.013956 $128,788 100,794.07 $49,779,980 $494 $304 $24,558,327 ($205,642) 

DODDRIDGE 16,154.48 $2,828,829 $175 0.023424 $39,757 71,117.05 $83,354,100 $1,172 $997 $16,105,339 ($226,351) 

FAYETTE 132,363.91 $25,891,224 $196 0.025620 $398,000 165,076.11 $71,163,320 $431 $235 $31,170,063 ($479,146) 

GILMER 34,349.48 $6,361,403 $185 0.018584 $70,932 99,933.52 S62,307,390 $623 $438 $15,055,099 ($167,870) 

GRANT 39,403.42 $6,211,254 $158 0.016052 $59,822 43,465.57 $21,799,580 $502 $344 $13,551,009 ($130,512) 

GREENBRIER 175,569.46 $28,581,493 S163 0.019094 S327,441 116,958.56 $73,282,930 $627 $464 $81,425,371 1$932,842) 

HAMPSHIRE 87,011.47 $7,883,067 $91 0.017428 $82,432 56,304.46 $75,997,300 $1,350 $1,259 $109,561,213 ($1,145,660) I 

HANCOCK 0.00 $0 so 0.025492 $0 14,528.49 $6,419,870 $442 $442 so $0 

HARDY 41,744.44 $3,835,457 $92 0.015448 $35,550 52,830.61 $36,465,160 $690 S598 $24,977,719 ($231,513) 

HARRISON 9,458.48 $1,853,830 $196 0.023280 $25,894 73,490.13 $52,486,920 $714 $518 $4,901,451 ($68,463) 

JACKSON 5,916.78 $663,062 $112 0.024924 $9,916 90,842.50 $46,891,430 $516 $404 $2,391,084 ($35,757) 

JEFFERSON 1,128.80 $165,386 $147 0.023360 $2,318 5,447.81 $15,588,790 $2,861 $2,715 $3,064,651 ($42,954) 
KANAWHA 73,383.58 $11,417,666 $156 0.025196 S172,608 489,334.55 $129,824,250 $265 $110 $8,051,567 ($121,720) 

LEWIS 42,250.24 $7,508,975 S178 0.017708 $79,781 76,633.15 $85,168,450 $1,111 $934 $39,447,041 1$419, 1171 

LINCOLN 11,649.43 $1,995,927 $171 0.024872 $29,786 201,154.74 $85,354,100 $424 $253 $2,947,166 ($43,981) 

LOGAN 138,685.80 $21,965,485 $158 0.025124 $331,117 93,489.63 $21,415,930 $229 $71 $9,803,658 ($147,784) 

MARION 22,043.84 $4,488,815 $204 0.024708 $66,546 76,977.76 $94,767,270 $1,231 $1,027 $22,649,342 1$335,7721 

MARSHALL 5,239.30 $1,082,520 $207 0.020160 $13,094 45,444.60 $10,566,310 $233 $26 $135,668 1$1,6411 

MASON 6,589.68 $930,478 $141 0.023660 $13,209 61,396.59 $49,146,190 $800 $659 $4,344,370 1$61,673) 

MCDOWELL 65,720.82 $10,920,936 5166 0.022748 $149,058 312,120.78 533,703,170 $108 ($58) ($3,824,3241 $52,197 

MERCER 4,532.71 $857,172 5189 0.022740 $11,695 161,292.71 $85,041,400 $527 5338 $1,532,694 1$20,912) 

MINERAL 38,236.80 $4,939,689 $129 0.023876 570,764 37,678.87 $17,659,430 $469 $339 $12,981,233 1$185,9641 

MINGO 48,329.02 $7,951,699 $165 0.022760 $108,588 176,957.89 $52,718,470 $298 $133 $6,446,257 1$88,0301 

MONONGALIA 9,488.80 $1,757,112 $185 0.021392 $22,553 86,053.50 $57,822,820 $672 $487 $4,618,796 1$59,283) 

MONROE 33,936.43 $3,627,385 5107 0.021156 $46,045 45,759.76 $64,744,390 51,415 $1,308 $44,388,458 1$563,4491 

MORGAN 25,530.17 $2,173,338 $85 0.020012 $26,096 24,351.14 $29,847,160 $1,226 $1,141 $29,118,958 1$349,6371 

NICHOLAS 166,514.54 $33,732,163 S203 0.019636 $397,419 114,747.25 $80,155,300 $699 $496 $82,584,550 1$972,9781 

OHIO 83.06 $17,122 $206 0.023100 5237 15,290.66 $4,646,880 $304 $98 58,120 ($113) 

PENDLETON 37,874.12 $4,360,738 5115 0.013580 535,531 60,740.00 $105,525,060 $1,737 $1,622 $61,438,880 1$500,6041 

PLEASANTS 3,678.44 $642,427 $175 0.023832 $9,186 36,708.62 $32,576,740 5887 $713 $2,621,972 1$37,4921 

POCAHONTAS 46,341.18 $6,916,480 $149' 0.012936 $53,683 42,575.15 $81,147,240 $1,906 $1,757 $81,408,725 1$631,8621 

PRESTON 79,745.65 $12,434,371 5156 0.021204 $158,195 196,040.53 $112,781,440 $575 $419 $33,443,026 1$425,4761 

PUTNAM 15,551.49 $3,122,895 5201 0.024304 $45,539 87,958.18 $98,014,670 $1,114 $914 $14,206,638 1$207,1671 

RALEIGH 158,662.14 529,341,641 $185 0.024028 $423,013 115,180.97 $64,120,970 $557 $372 $58,985,192 1$850,3781 

RANDOLPH 212,992.56 $40,027,383 $188 0.013488 $323,934 86,013.99 $113,572,980 $1,320 $1,132 $241,208,260 1$1,952,0501 

RITCHIE 36,961.86 $6,853,314 $185 0.021780 $89,559 102,218.48 $119,735,770 $1,171 $986 $36,442,739 1$476,2341 

ROANE 17,887.34 $3,225,413 $180 0.017796 $34,440 140,876.62 $128,028,660 $909 $728 $13,030,600 1$139, 136) 

SUMMERS 14,348.40 $2,369,928 $165 0.013580 $19,310 87,864.80 $96,304,480 $1,096 $931 $13,356,679 IS108,8301 

TAYLOR 7,764.71 $1,559,270 $201 0.019782 $18,507 38,945.99 $39,534,910 $1,015 $814 $6,322,854 1$75,0471 

TUCKER 47,425.43 $6,675,431 $141 0.013244 $53,046 82,683.92 $35,682,320 $432 $291 $13,791,056 ($109,5891 

TYLER 8,839.39 $1,554,151 S176 0.021732 S20,265 75,207.24 $52,321,570 S696 $520 $4,595,400 ($59,920) 

UPSHUR 57,815.82 $11,470,191 $198 0.017512 $120,520 75,280.23 S83,715,580 $1,112 $914 $52,824,045 1$555,0331 

WAYNE 12,131.67 $2,115,975 $174 0.024564 $31,186 179,030.43 $51,914,850 $290 $116 $1,401,940 1$20,6621 

WEBSTER 177,205.35 $30,690,278 $173 0.013580 $250,064 70,497.83 $41,046,760 $582 $409 $72,486,025 ($590,6161 

WETZEL 28,086.99 $5,054,761 $180 0.022864 $69,343 120,540.09 $100,493,440 $834 $654 $18,361,168 ($251,886) 

WIRT 30,425.75 $3,538,136 5116 0.024104 551,170 44,120.34 $31,816,610 $721 5605 $18,402,860 ($266, 1501 

WOOD 5,055.54 $650,221 $129 0.022048 $8,602 74,207.76 $71,405,140 $962 $834 $4,214,385 1$55,7511 

WYOMING 110,637.05 $21,134,477 $191 0.022760 $288,612 283,380.35 541,666,370 $147 ($44) ($4,867,1381 $66,466 

TOTAL 2,623,805.62 $445,692,969 $170 $5,294,391 5,463,296.59 $3,356,726,270 $614 $445 $1,166,410,110 ($15,010,170) 
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. . 

County 

BARBOUR 

BERKELEY 

BOONE 

BRAXTON 

BROOKE 

CABELL 

CALHOUN 

CLAY 

DODDRIDGE 

FAYETTE 

GILMER 

GRANT 

GREENBRIER 

HAMPSHIRE 

HANCOCK 

HARDY 

HARRISON 

JACKSON 

JEFFERSON 

KANAWHA 

LEWIS 

LINCOLN 

LOGAN 

MARION 

MARSHALL 

MASON 

MCDOWELL 

MERCER 

MINERAL 

MINGO 

MONONGALIA 

MONROE 

MORGAN 

NICHOLAS 

OHIO 

PENDLETON 

PLEASANTS 

POCAHONTAS 

PRESTON 

PUTNAM 

RALEIGH 

RANDOLPH 

RITCHIE 

ROANE 

SUMMERS 

TAYLOR 

TUCKER 

TYLER 

UPSHUR 

WAYNE 

WEBSTER 

WETZEL 

WIRT 

WOOD 

WYOMING 

TOTAL 

MT Acreage 

25,563.03 

9,624.94 

107,049.67 

40,489.30 

46.44 

2,162.73 

13,256.33 

80,867.36 

16,154.48 

132,363.91 

34,349.48 

39,403.42 

175,569.46 

87,011.47 

0.00 

41,744.44 

9,458.48 

5,916.78 

1,128.80 

73,383.58 

42,250.24 

11,649.43 

138,685.80 

22,043.84 

5,239.30 

6,589.68 

65,720.82 

4,532.71 

38,236.80 

48,329.02 

9,488.80 

33,936.43 

25,530.17 

166,514.54 

83.06 

37,874.12 

3,678.44 

46,341.18 

79,745.65 

15,551.49 

158,662.14 

212,992.56 

36,961.86 

17,887.34 

14,348.40 

7,764.71 

47,425.43 

8,839.39 

57,815.82 

12,131.67 

177,205.35 

28,086.99 

30,425.75 

5,055.54 

110,637.05 

2,623,805.62 

12/23/2024 

MT Appraisal 

$4,184,929 

$1,051,321 

$21,420,827 

$7,397,240 

$6,386 

$448,075 

$2,424,935 

$15,380,288 

$2,828,829 

$25,891,224 

$6,361,403 

$6,211,254 

$28,581,493 

$7,883,067 

$0 

$3,835,457 

$1,853,830 

$663,062 

$165,386 

$11,417,666 

$7,508,975 

$1,995,927 

$21,965,485 

$4,488,815 

$1,082,520 

$930,478 

$10,920,936 

$857,172 

$4,939,689 

S7,951,699 

$1,757,112 

$3,627,385 

$2,173,338 

$33,732,163 

$17,122 

$4,360,738 

$642,427 

$6,916,480 

$12,434,371 

$3,122,895 

$29,341,641 

$40,027,383 

$6,853,314 

$3,225,413 

$2,369,928 

$1,559,270 

$6,675,431 

$1,554,151 

$11,470,191 

$2,115,975 

$30,690,278 

$5,054,761 

$3,538,136 

$650,221 

$21,134,477 

$445,692,969 

Legislative Report WV Code 11-1C-11 Tax Year 2024 

MT Rate/Acre Cl 3 Le-vy Ratos MT Taxes Tlmb Acreage Tlmb Appraisal Tlmb Rate/Acre RIA Dlff Apprelsal Dlff Tax Dlff 

$164 0.013004 $32,652 63,835.97 83,950,030.00 $1,315 $1,151 $29,432,750 ($229,646) 

$109 0.025276 $15,944 18,288.69 $26,416,830 $1,444 $1,335 $12,851,282 ($194,897) 

$200 0.025104 $322,649 156,072.80 $35,831,720 $230 $29 $3,155,997 ($47,537) 

$183 0.015428 $68,475 128,143.28 $101,269,810 $790 $608 $24,600,877 ($227,725) 

$138 0.026568 $102 19,448.72 $6,341,310 $326 $189 $8,756 ($140) 

$207 0.027472 $7,386 85,417.24 $48,457,140 $567 $360 $778,840 ($12,838) 

$183 0.016518 $24,032 82,545.91 $54,935,580 $666 $483 $6,397,358 ($63,401) 

$190 0.013956 $128,788 100,794.07 $49,779,980 $494 $304 $24,558,327 ($205,642) 

$175 0.023424 $39,757 71,117.05 $83,354,100 $1,172 $997 $16,105,339 ($226,351) 

$196 0.025620 $398,000 165,076.11 $71,163,320 $431 $235 $31,170,063 ($479,146) 

$185 0.018584 $70,932 99,933.52 $62,307,390 $623 $438 $15,055,099 ($167,870) 

$158 0.016052 $59,822 43,465.57 $21,799,580 $502 $344 $13,551,009 ($130,512) 

$163 0.019094 $327,441 116,958.56 $73,282,930 $627 $464 $81,425,371 ($932,842) 

$91 0.017428 $82,432 56,304.46 $75,997,300 $1,350 $1,259 $109,561,213 ($1,145,660) 

$0 0.025492 $0 14,528.49 $6,419,870 $442 $442 $0 so 

$92 0.015448 $35,550 52,830.61 $36,465,160 $690 $598 $24,977,719 ($231,513) 

$196 0.023280 $25,894 73,490.13 $52,486,920 $714 $518 $4,901,451 ($68,463) 

$112 0.024924 $9,916 90,842.50 $46,891,430 $516 $404 $2,391,084 ($35,757) 

S147 0.023360 $2,318 5,447.81 $15,588,790 $2,861 $2,715 $3,064,651 ($42,954) 

$156 0.025196 $172,608 489,334.55 $129,824,250 $265 $110 $8,051,567 ($121,720) 

S178 0.017708 $79,781 76,633.15 $85,168,450 $1,111 $934 $39,447,041 ($419,117) 

$171 0.024872 $29,786 201,154.74 $85,354,100 $424 $253 $2,947,166 ($43,981) 

$158 0.025124 $331,117 93,489.63 $21,415,930 $229 $71 $9,803,658 ($147,784) 

$204 0.024708 $66,546 76,977.76 $94,767,270 $1,231 $1,027 $22,649,342 ($335,772) 

$207 0.020160 $13,094 45,444.60 $10,566,310 $233 S26 $135,668 ($1,641) 

$141 0.023660 $13,209 61,396.59 $49,146,190 $800 $659 $4,344,370 ($61,673) 

S166 0.022748 $149,058 312,120.78 $33,703,170 $108 1$58) 1$3,824,3241 $52,197 

$189 0.022740 $11,695 161,292.71 $85,041,400 $527 $338 $1,532,694 ($20,912) 

$129 0.023876 $70,764 37,678.87 $17,659,430 $469 $339 $12,981,233 ($185,964) 

S165 0.022760 $108,588 176,957.89 $52,718,470 $298 $133 $6,446,257 ($88,030) 

$185 0.021392 $22,553 86,053.50 $57,822,820 $672 $487 $4,618,796 ($59,283) 

S107 0.021156 $46,045 45,759.76 $64,744,390 $1,415 $1,308 $44,388,458 ($563,449) 

$85 0.020012 $26,096 24,351.14 $29,847,160 $1,226 $1,141 $29,118,958 ($349,637) 

$203 0.019636 $397,419 114,747.25 $80,155,300 $699 $496 $82,584,550 ($972,978) 

$206 0.023100 $237 15,290.66 $4,646,880 $304 $98 $8,120 ($1131 

$115 0.013580 $35,531 60,740.00 $105,525,060 $1,737 $1,622 $61,438,880 ($500,604) 

$175 0.023832 $9,186 36,708.62 $32,576,740 $887 $713 $2,621,972 ($37,492) 

$149 0.012936 $53,683 42,575.15 $81,147,240 $1,906 $1,757 $81,408,725 ($631,862) 

$156 0.021204 $158,195 196,040.53 $112,781,440 $575 $419 $33,443,026 ($425,476) 

$201 0.024304 $45,539 87,958.18 $98,014,670 $1,114 $914 $14,206,638 ($207,167) 

$185 0.024028 $423,013 115,180.97 $64,120,970 $557 $372 $58,985,192 ($850,378) 

$188 0.013488 $323,934 86,013.99 $113,572,980 $1,320 $1,132 $241,208,260 ($1,952,050) 

$185 0.021780 $89,559 102,218.48 $119,735,770 $1,171 $986 $36,442,739 ($476,234) 

$180 0.017796 $34,440 140,876.62 $128,028,660 $909 $728 $13,030,600 ($139,136) 

$165 0.013580 $19,310 87,864.80 $96,304,480 $1,096 $931 $13,356,679 ($108,830) 

$201 0.019782 $18,507 38,945.99 $39,534,910 $1,015 $814 $6,322,854 ($75,047) 

$141 0.013244 $53,046 82,683.92 $35,682,320 $432 $291 $13,791,056 ($109,589) 

$176 0.021732 $20,265 75,207.24 $52,321,570 $696 $520 $4,595,400 1$59,920) 

$198 0.017512 $120,520 75,280.23 $83,715,580 $1,112 $914 $52,824,045 ($555,033) 

$174 0.024564 $31,186 179,030.43 $51,914,850 $290 $116 $1,401,940 ($20,662) 

$173 0.013580 $250,064 70,497.83 $41,046,760 $582 $409 $72,486,025 ($590,616) 

$180 0.022864 $69,343 120,540.09 $100,493,440 $834 $654 $18,361,168 ($251,886) 

$116 0.024104 $51,170 44,120.34 $31,816,610 $721 $605 $18,402,860 ($266,150) 

$129 0.022048 $8,602 74,207.76 $71,405,140 $962 $834 $4,214,385 ($55,751) 

$191 0.022760 $288,612 283,380.35 $41,666,370 $147 ($44) ($4,867,138) $66,466 

$170 $5,294,391 5,463,296.59 $3,356,726,270 S614 $445 S1, 166,41 o, 110 ($15,010,170) 
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